The Pricing of Earnings

The Pricing of Earnings

Essays on the Post-Earnings Announcement Drift and Earnings Quality Risk

Hanna Setterberg





Dissertation for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Ph.D. Stockholm School of Economics 2011

Keywords: accounting quality asset pricing earnings quality implied cost of capital information risk information uncertainty post-earnings announcement drift stock market efficiency trading strategies

The Pricing of Earnings © SSE and Hanna Setterberg, 2011 ISBN 978-91-7258-861-5

Printed in Sweden by: Ineko, Göteborg 2011

Distributed by: The SSE Research Secretariat Stockholm School of Economics Box 6501, SE-113 83 Stockholm, Sweden www.hhs.se

To my family

Preface

This report is a result of a research project carried out at the Department of Accounting at the Stockholm School of Economics (SSE).

This volume is submitted as a doctor's thesis at SSE. The author has been entirely free to conduct and present her research in her own ways as an expression of her own ideas.

SSE is grateful for the financial support provided by Försäkringsbolaget FPG Pensionsgaranti and the Torsten and Ragnar Söderberg Foundations.

Filip Wijkström Associate Professor SSE Director of Research

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deepest and sincere gratitude to all the people who have supported me during my PhD studies and in the completion of this dissertation. However, first I wish to thank the Torsten and Ragnar Söderberg Foundations and Försäkringsbolaget FPG Pensionsgaranti for providing generous financial support.

I am very grateful to my advisory committee Kenth Skogsvik, Peter Jennergren and Jim Ohlson for their guidance over the years.

My main advisor Kenth – thank you for persuading me to start this journey in the first place. Even though I refused at first, you had me convinced that doing research is a thrill. I have not regretted it. Your belief in me and your commitment to me as your PhD student has been admirable. You have over the years always been available for talks on research and encouraged me at times when I thought everything was hard. Thank you! Your integrity as a researcher is impressing, and your will to understand and learn more is an inspiration to me. I hope our, sometimes vivid, discussions is a sign of me becoming more like you, in this respect. But, however much I appreciate you as a researcher, I first of all consider you my friend. Your honest interest in my well-being is heart-warming.

Peter – thank you for always thoroughly reading my manuscripts and for giving concrete advice on how to improve my texts. Even after retirement you have continued to help me, which is more than anyone could ask for. I am most grateful.

Jim – thank you for giving helpful advice on academic writing. Thank you also for your very inspiring PhD seminars on earnings quality!

Even though not a formal supervisor, Per Olsson has been enormously supportive. Thank you Per for all creative discussions and for always being available to answer my many questions on anything from SAS programming to the concept of earnings quality. Your positive attitude, your passion for research and your great knowledge of the field is inspiring to anyone who has the privilege to work with you.

I am also grateful to Stephen Penman and the Accounting Faculty at Columbia Business School for giving me such a warm welcome when I was a visiting PhD student. It was truly an inspiring experience.

I wish to express my appreciation to all current and former colleagues at the Department of Accounting. You have made the daily work more fun. I have enjoyed

all our nice lunches and "fikas" over the years. I am in particular thankful to Karin, Mari, Kia, Christina and Anne for providing guidance in all administrative matters.

Thanks also to my colleagues within the BfaC research group: Stina, Henrik A, Håkan, Katerina, Kenth, Peter, Tomas, Henrik N, and Erik J who have all read and commented on my work over the years. Your input and suggestions have undoubtedly improved the manuscripts! Especially thanks to Erik J for proof-reading the dissertation (I *owe* you one!). And thanks Håkan, once a fellow PhD student, for lots of interesting discussions over the years and for encouraging me when I doubted my abilities. I am also grateful to Tomas for excellent discussions on accounting and valuation issues. I look forward to joint research projects in the future!

During this last year I have had the privilege to enjoy the stimulating research environment at the Institute for Financial Research (SIFR). Thank you Pehr, Pelle, Magnus and Anders for giving me this fantastic opportunity. And thank you all SIFR colleagues, and especially Anki, for making it such a pleasure to go to work.

Over the years I have enjoyed fruitful and constructive discussions on academic life with Margareta Damberg. Thank you Margareta for all your encouragement! Many thanks also to Torbjörn Sällström for all the good fun when teaching together at IFL. You are an accountant at heart.

Thank you all fellow PhD students for sharing good and bad times! A special thanks to Malin for being such a good friend, helping me to see more clearly when times have been rough. Linda – once a fellow PhD-student and now a good friend, neighbor and fellow "Söder-mamma" – thanks for being there to discuss anything from child birth to the title of this dissertation. Thanks also to my friends Niklas Modig (Department of Management) and Per Sonnerby (Department of Economics) for being supportive during this process. Without our lunches and fikas, all this time would have been so much harder.

I am blessed with so many amazing friends who make my life enjoyable. Thank you "Skåne-friends": Tanja, Maria-Pia, Agnes, Peter, Marie, Mårten, Meriam, Cecilia, Svenne, Fia, Jonte, Anna, Fredrik, Erik, Jens H, Harry, Fia F and all the kids! And thank you Louise, Magdalena, Karin, Johanna, Terese and Linda B for being a part of my life.

The support of the members of the Breakfast Club has been immensely valuable. Thank you Erik, Svenne and Maria-Pia for all the discussions on research and academic life over the years. I am so glad that we could share this experience. Especially thanks to you Maria-Pia, dear sister, karate partner and SAS-queen. I am so grateful to have you as a friend. I cannot thank you enough for your support.

There are no words to express the gratitude I feel towards my family. Without your support I doubt that I would have finished this thesis. Thank you all the Setterbergs – and especially my fantastic mother-in-law Elisabeth for all your help with our children. Thanks also to Mormor Violet for sending encouraging thoughts whenever I needed it. I am also grateful to my beloved sister Stina and my favorite brother-in-law Tobbe. Thank you for all your support and interest in my work. I love you both!

I also wish to thank my parents, Inger and Leif, for their endless support and love. Your own experiences as PhD students and knowledge about academic life have been invaluable to me during this process. Thank you dad for being such a wise man and always encouraging me to learn more. Thank you mom for always being there, any time of the day, every day. You are the hotline in my life. We can chat about anything – endlessly; from recipes, gardening, to research issues and how to best format a table. I am so grateful for this.

Finally, I want to thank Jens – my dear husband and partner in life. I have never doubted your love and support. Even though you hardly know what my research is about, you have unselfishly given me all the time I have needed to finish this dissertation. Your patience is beyond description. You and our daughters, Majken and Lisen, have helped me focusing on what is really important in life. Thank you.

Table of Contents

PREFACEi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
PART I: Introduction and Summary of Dissertation1
PART II: Papers
1 Swedish post-earnings announcement drift and momentum return
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Sample and data
1.3 Overall test design
1.4 Measure of earnings surprise
1.5 Measures of return
1.5.1 Buy-and-hold return
1.5.2 Calendar-time regressions
1.6 Results
1.7 Conclusions
Appendix 1.A - International findings on PEAD67
Appendix 1.B - Robustness tests
2 Information uncertainty in unexpected earnings signals
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Theoretical background
2.2.1 Value creation and stock return
2.2.2 Unexpected earnings – a signal of value creation
2.2.3 Information uncertainty in the unexpected earnings signal
2.2.4 Information uncertainty as a priced risk factor
2.3 Research question and motivation

2.4 D	Definitions, sample, data and descriptive statistics	100
2.4.1	Definition of earnings signals	100
2.4.2	Sample	102
2.4.3	Data	102
2.4.4	Descriptive statistics	104
2.5 T	lest design	106
2.5.1	Earnings response coefficients	106
2.5.2	Post-earnings announcement drift	107
2.6 E	Empirical results	110
2.6.1	Main empirical results	110
2.6.2	Various robustness tests	113
2.6.3	Varying holding periods	114
2.6.4	Results using a within-firm design	115
2.6.5	Buy-and-hold returns in event-time	118
2.6.6	Long and short positions	
2.6.7	Exclusions from GAAP earnings	
2.7 C	Critical assumptions of the theoretical framework	122
2.8 A	Alternative interpretations	124
2.8.1	Market frictions	125
2.8.2	Structural uncertainty and rational learning	126
2.8.3	Mispricing due to behavioral biases	127
2.9 C	Concluding remarks	129
Earni	ings quality and the implied cost of equity capital – the Swedish	case137
3.1 In	ntroduction	139
3.2 P	Previous research	142
3.2.1	Information uncertainty and the cost of equity capital	142
3.2.2	Measuring information uncertainty	144
3.2.3	Measuring the cost of equity capital	145
3.3 T	The fundamental RIV approach	151
3.4 S	ample and data	154
	2.4 I 2.4.1 2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.5 T 2.5.2 2.6 F 2.6.1 2.6.2 2.6.3 2.6.4 2.6.5 2.6.4 2.6.5 2.6.6 2.6.7 2.7 C 2.8 A 2.8.1 2.8.2 2.8.3 2.9 C Earm 3.2 F 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.3 T 3.4 S	 2.4 Definitions, sample, data and descriptive statistics

3.5 Estimation of variables and test design	156
3.5.1 Validating the implied cost of capital estimates	156
3.5.2 Earnings quality and cost of capital regressions	161
3.6 Descriptive statistics	164
3.7 Empirical results	167
3.7.1 Implied cost of capital estimates	167
3.7.2 Earnings quality and cost of capital regressions	170
3.7.3 Additional tests	173
3.8 Concluding remarks	

4	List of abbreviations	.18	7
---	-----------------------	-----	---

Part I

Introduction and Summary of Dissertation

Introduction

The stock market provides an important mechanism for resource allocation in society. It is thus important that this market functions in an efficient way. According to Fama (1970) a market is efficient (in the semi-strong sense) if stock prices incorporate all public information. Consequently, in such a market there should be a prompt and complete price reaction when new accounting information is announced to the market. There is nevertheless ample empirical evidence from many stock markets that the pricing process is not in line with this description.¹ At times, stock prices tend to drift upwards after the announcement of good news and downwards after the announcement of bad news, making it possible for an investor to earn abnormal returns when trading on the information. In particular, earnings announcements seem to be followed by such a drift, which has given rise to the term post-earnings announcement drift (PEAD). The drift is a central theme of this dissertation.

The dissertation consists of the following papers:

Paper 1: Swedish post-earnings announcement drift and momentum return Paper 2: Information uncertainty in unexpected earnings signals Paper 3: Earnings quality and the implied cost of equity capital – the Swedish case

The three papers, which all use a sample of firms listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange (1990-2008), are interlinked in the following way. The first paper documents the existence of PEAD in the Swedish stock market. Two interesting empirical observations from this study are that the drift is only significant for longer holding periods and that the drift on the short position, i.e. after bad earnings news, is negligible. The lack of downward drift on the short position is interpreted as an indication of PEAD, at least partly, being explained by investors demanding a compensation for a risk factor that is omitted in the test design.

This is the theme of Paper 2. Here a framework is outlined to illustrate under what conditions information risk in the earnings signal might explain a low announcement reaction and a price drift in the post-announcement period. In the empirical sections, I investigate two earnings signals - GAAP earnings and core earnings - which are hypothesized to have different levels of information uncertainty.² It is concluded that the low immediate announcement reaction and high post-announcement drift for the GAAP earnings signal is due to this signal being perceived

¹ This does not necessarily mean that markets are inefficient as discussed in this introductory chapter. In addition, the question of whether markets are inefficient or not is unfortunately impossible to answer due to the problem of joint hypotheses as pointed out in Fama (1970). The two hypotheses jointly tested are about market efficiency and the expected returns model.

² GAAP stands for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

by investors as containing more uncertainty than the core earnings signal. Faced with this uncertainty, investors demand risk compensation in terms of a higher expected return.

The positive relation between information risk and expected return is further investigated in Paper 3, where information risk is proxied by two earnings quality metrics; *value relevance* and *timeliness*. Using a new approach to estimate the implied cost of capital, it is found that investors demand a higher expected return for firms with poor earnings quality, i.e. firms associated with higher information risk.

The purpose of this introductory chapter is to discuss some common themes in the three papers. First, the relation between accounting earnings and stock prices is discussed. Then, prior research on the post-earnings announcement drift is reported, in terms of results, methodological considerations and potential explanations for the drift. Further, I highlight some sample and data issues in the dissertation, summarize the findings, discuss the contributions and the limitations of the dissertation, and finally propose some topics for future research.

The role of accounting earnings information in the stock market

In the stock market investors presumably buy and sell shares based on their assessment of the shares' expected future pay-offs and investment risks. In making these assessments they use a broad set of information, of which accounting information constitutes an important subset. Of all accounting numbers made public in the financial statements, accounting earnings seem to be especially important. This is not surprising considering that earnings summarize what is available to shareholders for the financial period, after other stakeholders have received their parts. If positive, reported earnings either increase the book value of equity (through retained earnings) or are distributed to shareholders as dividends. Under ideal mark-to-market accounting, reported earnings are equal to the investors' return for the period (change in market value of equity plus dividends).³ This is the concept of "economic earnings".⁴ Under these assumptions the reported economic earnings are *all* of the return. Whenever ideal mark-to-market accounting is not available, reported earnings can be considered a *signal* of the underlying economic earnings and the value creation

³ In addition one has to assume that the clean surplus relation (CSR) holds so that all changes in owners' equity emanate from earnings and net dividends.

⁴ Economic earnings are also referred to as "Hicksian income" following Hicks (1939). The concept of economic earnings is developed more extensively in Paper 2.

of the period. As such, a high empirical association between earnings and stock returns is expected.⁵

Ball and Brown (1968) reported empirical evidence of this association. They studied how stock prices change when new earnings information is released to the stock market and report that announcement returns on average are positive for firms reporting good news and negative for firms reporting bad news. This is interpreted as if the stock market *does* find earnings news to be important for share value. As referred to above, in order for the stock market to be efficient, prices should change rapidly to incorporate fully the new earnings information. Market efficiency is not under investigation in Ball and Brown (1968), but there are in their study some indications of a price drift in the post-announcement period (see Figure 1, p 169), potentially contradicting the market efficiency hypothesis.

The post-earnings announcement drift

Since the first empirical indications, many researchers have analyzed PEAD (e.g., Jones and Litzenberger, 1970; Foster *et al.*, 1984; Bernard and Thomas, 1989 and 1990; Bernard *et al.*, 1997). The study by Bernard and Thomas (1989) is considered to be of high methodological quality. Since it is a reference study for the first two papers of the dissertation, it is described in some detail below.

Bernard and Thomas (1989) studied the drift after quarterly earnings announcements for a sample of US firms over the period 1974-1986. They find that an investment strategy which involves taking a long position in firms with the highest earnings surprises (good news) and a short position in firms with the lowest earnings surprises (bad news), and holding these positions for 60 trading days, generates a sizecontrolled return of 4.2% (or 18% on an annualized basis).⁶ They also find that the drift lasts up to 240 trading days (approximately 12 months), but that most of the return on the combined portfolio (long position minus short position) is generated during the first couple of months. The long and the short positions contribute about the same to the return of the combined portfolio. In addition they find that the drift is more pronounced for smaller firms, but still significant for large firms.

An essential variable in PEAD studies is the *earnings surprise* variable. In order to capture the "news" content of the announcement, the market's expectation of

⁵ Prices in the stock market can change also for other reasons, such as market liquidity changes or personal tax issues, which are not linked to fundamental earnings information. Consequently, the observed stock prices and returns can only be considered to be a noisy indicator of investors' usage of earnings information.

⁶ A short position, or "selling short", is a way for investors to gain profits when stock prices go down. The shortselling investor borrows shares from another investor or broker (putting up collateral and paying an interest rate) and then sells the shares in the stock market. After some time the investor buys back the shares and returns them to the lender. If the price of the share has gone down the short-seller makes a profit, and if the price of the share has gone up the short-seller makes a loss.

earnings prior to the announcement has to be controlled for. Bernard and Thomas (1989) calculated the *unexpected* earnings (the earnings surprise) as the difference between the reported earnings and the earnings forecasted by a time-series model.⁷ They further scaled the unexpected earnings with the standard deviation of the forecast error and refer to this measure of earnings surprise as SUE (Standardized Unexpected Earnings).⁸

Subsequent to each firm's announcement, the firms are assigned to one out of ten portfolios, ranging from high SUE to low SUE. To avoid hindsight bias in determining the ranking of firms, it is the distribution of SUEs from the prior quarter that determines the cut-offs points for the ten portfolios.⁹ The return to each portfolio is subsequently evaluated. As a first step Bernard and Thomas (1989) calculated the "abnormal" return by taking the raw stock return minus the equally-weighted mean return to the size portfolio that the firm belonged to in the beginning of the calendar year. This procedure aims to control for the size effect on returns, i.e. that small stocks tend to have higher returns (Banz, 1981). In a second step, they accumulated this abnormal return by summing the daily abnormal returns over different holding periods.¹⁰ Values of cumulative abnormal return (CAR) are their main metric to evaluate the profitability of the ten SUE portfolios. This evaluation is partly done graphically and has given rise to the classic PEAD graph where the drifts upwards and downwards for the two extreme portfolios are evident. In Figure 1 the CARs for the long and short position are presented in a stylized fashion. Note that if there is a drift in prices after the announcement, there will also be a drift in accumulated returns. PEAD has in prior research therefore been referred to as both a drift in prices and a drift in returns.¹¹

⁷ Reported earnings are here "earnings before extraordinary items and discontinued operations".

⁸ The post-earnings announcement drift is sometimes therefore referred to as the SUE effect (e.g., Bernard *et al.* 1997).

⁹ Earlier work on the drift ranked the firm's SUE relative to the distribution of SUEs for the same quarter. Since not all earnings had been announced at that point in time, this methodology introduced a hindsight bias. This was noted by Holthausen (1983).

¹⁰ They also compound the returns and find no difference in results (Bernard and Thomas, 1989, p 7).

¹¹ In the dissertation I use both "price drift" and "return drift", as well as "price reaction" and "return reaction".

Figure 1. Stylized graph of the post-earnings announcement drift



Bernard and Thomas (1989) furthermore explore possible methodological issues that might explain the drift. However, they do not find sufficient evidence that leads them to think that these issues can explain the drift. What they find though, is that the returns to the PEAD strategy are concentrated around subsequent earnings announcements. They propose that the drift might be due to investors irrationally failing to update their expectations after an earnings announcement, and thus experience a surprise effect at subsequent announcement dates. As such, their findings are a challenge to the efficient market hypothesis.

Many studies of the PEAD phenomenon have followed since Bernard and Thomas (1989), in the main confirming their results for the US stock market. The drift is accordingly argued to be persistent over time.¹² In addition, PEAD has been studied in "out-of-sample" tests, where the US market is referred to as the "main sample". The results are mixed. In several stock markets there are indications of a drift, but there are also markets in which the drift has not been possible to document (international evidence on PEAD is described in detail in Appendix 1.A of Paper 1).

In Table 1 I present an overview of previous PEAD studies. This presentation is however not exhaustive. For each study the stock market, time period, holding period, measurement of key variables, and some results on the drift are highlighted. The table reveals that the main variables can be measured in various ways. Methodological considerations are discussed in the next section.

¹² It is in these studies common that new time periods are just added to the previously evaluated time-series. This approach is not very powerful in detecting if the drift in later time periods is less persistent than in earlier time periods. Consequently, it is not clear that the drift is as persistent as argued by many (cf. Jacob *et al.*, 2000). Skogsvik and Skogsvik (2010) is an exception. They evaluate the profitability of an accounting based trading strategy for different subsamples in their overall sample. Using hold-out samples, they find that the profitability of the strategy has decreased over time, indicating that investors have become more sophisticated.

Authors	Market	Time period	Portfolio formation	Holding period	Earnings Metric	Expected Earnings	Return Metric	Risk control	PEAD Return	Long position	Short position
Jones and Litzenberger (1970)	US	1962-1967	calendar- time	2 years	reported earnings	time-series model		market- adjusted		positive	not reported
Bernard and Thomas (1989)	US	1974-1986	event-time	240 days	reported earnings	time-series model	CAR	size- adjusted	18% a year	positive	negative
Booth <i>et al</i> . (1996)	Finland	1989-1993	event-time	10 days	aggregated reported earnings		CAR	CAPM		positive	negative
Hew <i>et al</i> . (1996)	UK	1989-1992	event-time	180 days		time-series model	CAR	size- adjusted	7.3%	positive	negative
van Huffel <i>et</i> <i>al</i> . (1996)	Belgium	1990-1993	event-time	90 days		time-series model	CAR	market- adjusted or size- adjusted		no drift	no drift
Kallunki (1996)	Finland	1990-1993	event-time	10 days	reported earnings	time-series model	CAR	CAPM and/or accounting based risk adjustment	0.02-0.05% over ten days	no drift	negative
Bernard <i>et al</i> . (1997)	US	1973-1992	event-time	8 quarters	reported earnings	time-series model	CAR	market- adjusted	Yes	not reported	not reported
Dische (2002)	Germany	1987-2000	calendar- time	12 months	forecast revisions	analyst forecasts	CAR	market- adjusted	1.0% a month	positive	negative (barely significant)
Liu <i>et al</i> . (2003)	UK	1988-1998	calendar- time	3,6,9,12 months	reported earnings	time-series model or analyst forecasts	BHAR or monthly alpha	three-factor model	BHAR: 10.8% monthly alpha: 0.706%	mixed results	mixed results
Vieru <i>et al</i> . (2005)	Finland	1996-2000	event-time	10 days	returns based		CAR			no drift	negative
Livnat and Mendenhall (2006)	US	1987-2003		4 quarters	reported earnings	time-series model or analyst forecasts	CAR	size and B/M- adjusted	5.21% per quarter	not reported	not reported
Booth <i>et al</i> . (2006)	Finland	1995-2003	event-time	30 days	returns based		CAR			positive (small)	negative
Francis <i>et al</i> . (2007)	US	1982-2001	calendar- time	6 months	reported earnings	analyst forecasts	monthly aplha	three-factor and/or four- factor model	monthly alpha: 0.68%	not reported	not reported
Forner <i>et al</i> . (2009)	Spain	1994-2003	calendar- time	12 months	reported earnings or forecast revisions or returns based	time-series model	BHAR or monthly alpha	three-factor model	monthly alpha: 0.45%	positive	positive (not significant)

Table 1. Overview of empirical PEAD studies

* A monthly alpha is estimated in regressions with hedge portfolio return as the dependent variable and risk factors as independent variables. CAR is the Cumulative Abnormal Return and BHAR is the Buy-and-hold Abnormal Returns. Note that "abnormal return" is defined differently in the studies, where the column "Risk control" gives information about how expected return is measured.

Methodological considerations in PEAD studies

The field of research studying PEAD has a long history and consequently the methodologies used have developed much over time. Some problems in the earlier studies have been alleviated. Below I will highlight some of the methodological considerations that any PEAD study faces. These issues are important to consider before discussing the potential explanations for the drift.

Portfolio formation

Similar to Bernard and Thomas (1989) the most common way to evaluate the PEAD is to form trading strategies based on unexpected earnings. In earlier studies two problems related to trading strategies were the use of assumed - rather than actual - announcement dates (e.g., Jones and Litzenberger, 1970) and the use of strategies that involve a look-ahead bias when sorting the stocks on their unexpected earnings (e.g., Holthausen, 1983). In later studies, these problems have been avoided. The most common approach in later studies is to sort all stocks at the first day of a calendar quarter, based on the unexpected earnings announced during the previous calendar quarter.¹³ As a consequence, any price drift between the announcement date and the first day of the subsequent calendar quarter is not measured. As such, this "calendar-time" approach avoids look-ahead bias but loses some power.

Measuring portfolio return, expected return and "abnormal" return

In early studies of PEAD, the most common way to evaluate the returns subsequent to the announcement was to measure so-called buy-and-hold returns (BHAR).¹⁴ In this measure a return is defined as "abnormal" if it exceeds the return of a benchmark firm or the market index. The abnormal return is then compounded over the holding period. One advantage of the BHAR measure is that it mimics investor experience, noted by Barber and Lyon (1997). It does not require monthly rebalancing of the portfolio as is assumed when using a CAR measure where the monthly abnormal returns are summed. However, the BHARs can give a false impression of the adjustment speed.¹⁵ Even though there is no additional difference between the returns

¹³ One could distinguish between PEAD studies in "event-time" and "calendar-time". With studies in event-time, I refer to studies that take the positions just after each firm's earnings announcement date. In calendar-time studies, which are nowadays more common, the positions are taken at the first day of the quarter (or month) subsequent to the quarter (or month) in which earnings are announced.

¹⁴ Bernard and Thomas (1989) use both CAR and BHAR in their tests.

¹⁵ Another problem, pointed out by Fama (1998), arises if one deducts the measure of expected returns after compounding over time. As Fama discusses, for longer time horizons it is not possible to use asset-pricing models to measure expected returns, which is a limitation. Expected returns must be modeled by return on a benchmark firm or portfolio.

of the event firm and the benchmark firm in a specific time period, the method might give an impression of additional abnormal return being generated in that period. Fama (1998) gives an example: after the first year subsequent to the event, the return to the event firm is 10% and 0% for the benchmark firm, i.e. the value of the event firm is now 1.1 compared to the benchmark firm, which still has a value of 1.0. BHAR is thus 10% after the first year. Now suppose that for the second year the value of both the event firm and the benchmark firm increases by 300%, that is, they increase exactly the same. The value of the event firm is thus after two years 3.3 (1.1*300%) and for the benchmark firm it is 3.0 (1.0*300%). After two years, the return of the event firm is then 330% (3.3/1.0), whereas it is 300% for the benchmark firm (3.0/1.0). BHAR will thus be 30% after two years (330%-300%), compared to 10% after one year. Consequently, even though there was no increase in the difference between the event firm and the benchmark firm during the second year, the BHAR measure might give a false impression that additional abnormal return was earned during the second year. Consequently, making inferences from the BHARs about *when* the abnormal return is generated, might lead to erroneous conclusions.

In addition to the problem mentioned above, the measure of BHAR does not lend itself easily to statistical inference. For example Mitchell and Stafford (2000) have shown that the distribution of firm-specific BHARs are skewed and generally not centered on zero. In addition the series of BHARs might suffer from overlapping observations which introduces the problem of autocorrelation. One solution, used by for example Ikenberry *et al.* (1995), is to use a bootstrapping procedure which provides an empirical distribution under the null hypothesis of no abnormal return. This distribution can then be used for statistical testing.

An alternative to using the BHARs is to evaluate the drift after the announcement of earnings through calendar-time regressions (e.g., Chan *et al.*, 1996). This method was also proposed by Fama (1998) to control for the problems referred to above, and is now widely used in the PEAD literature. In the calendar-time regressions, average monthly portfolio excess returns are regressed on risk factors and the intercept (alpha) is the measure of abnormal return. The drawback of this method is that it implicitly assumes that portfolios are rebalanced every month, introducing higher trading costs.¹⁶

The measurement of the expected return is crucial when defining the abnormal return. Earlier PEAD studies controlled for the size effect, where small firms were assumed to have a higher expected return (e.g., Banz, 1981). Nowadays, the most common procedure is to control for expected return by the so-called three-factor model (Fama and French, 1993). In addition to controlling for the co-variation with the excess market return according to the capital asset pricing model – CAPM (Sharpe,

¹⁶ In Paper 1 and Paper 2 I use both calendar-time regressions and BHARs to evaluate the drift.

1964; Lintner, 1965) – Fama and French propose that *size* and *book-to-market* are additional risk factors. However, the three-factor model is not a theoretical model of expected returns, but rather a model fitted to the empirical returns pattern (during a specific sample period). In fact, the returns to the *size* and *book-to-market* portfolios (referred to as SMB and HML) were initially thought of as anomalies.¹⁷ Considering these problems, it is uncertain whether the alpha in the calendar-time regressions really is a measure of abnormal returns. Currently there are really no competing models to the three-factor model.¹⁸ The question of whether an omitted risk factor can explain the existence of the drift is discussed below.

Feasibility to investors

Before interpreting the abnormal returns generated by a trading strategy as a sign of market inefficiency, two things have to be considered; 1) can investors implement such a strategy and 2) *if* the strategy can be implemented, is *all* the return possible to access for an investor?

In general, a PEAD strategy is considered to be fairly easy to implement since information about reported earnings are accessible to all investors. The largest restrictions might be on the short position, making the return on this position harder for investors to access. In many countries short-selling has certain legal restrictions (for example the up-tick rule in the US) and/or has not been allowed at all during some time periods.¹⁹ Many times these market restrictions are not considered in the research design of PEAD studies.

Most PEAD studies do not consider the transaction costs that an investor would face when implementing the PEAD strategy, but there are some exceptions (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1989 and 1990; Bhushan, 1994; Mendenhall, 2004). In general they find that transaction costs would make the PEAD strategy less profitable to investors but that the magnitude of these costs is not large enough to motivate the whole drift. Some recent empirical studies have tried to use a more comprehensive estimate of transaction costs, also taking into consideration more indirect costs such as

¹⁷ The estimation procedure for SMB (Small minus Big) and HML (High minus Low) are described in Paper 1.

¹⁸ A factor controlling for momentum in returns (the momentum effect) is sometimes considered to be a fourth factor (e.g., Carhart, 1997; Chan *et al.*, 1996). Also, returns to a factor-mimicking portfolio based on *accruals quality* have been proposed to be a fifth factor (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005). This result is however debated.

¹⁹ The up-tick rule in the US stock market was implemented in 1938 and removed in 2007. It restricts short-selling by only allowing short sales to a price that is higher than the last traded price of the share, or to the last traded price if this price was above the price in the previous trade. During the financial crisis in 2008, further short-selling restrictions were temporarily introduced, banning short-selling of securities of financial firms. In Sweden, short-selling has been formally allowed since 1992 and it is generally less restricted than in many other markets. For example, Sweden was one of the few markets that during 2008 did not introduce restrictions in short-selling. However, besides legal restrictions, the supply of shares possible to borrow might be a restriction facing an investor who wishes to sell short.

price impact and opportunity costs (Chordia *et al.*, 2007; Ng *et al.*, 2008). They indicate that the costs associated with the PEAD strategy might be high enough to render it unprofitable. In addition, Ng *et al.* (2008) suggest that transaction costs provide an explanation for the *existence* of PEAD, which is described in the section about market frictions below.

Skogsvik and Skogsvik (2010) point to the importance of distinguishing between *statistical* and *realistic* return metrics when evaluating the profitability of trading strategies. A statistical return metric might be biased upwards, since it might require foreknowledge of, for example, stocks that will be delisted during a holding period. As such, this is not really the return available to an investor who implements the trading strategy. The realistic return metric on the other hand is solely based on information that is available at the time of portfolio formation. It is common in PEAD studies not to consider these issues.

Potential explanations for the post-earnings announcement drift

The discussion of methodological considerations in PEAD studies highlights that the observed returns pattern should be interpreted with caution. However, many of these problems have explicitly been considered in research and none of them seems to be able to fully explain PEAD. It thus seems like we are left with explanations that do not hinge upon methodological problems in the test design.

There is to date no consensus on what can explain PEAD. In fact, Fama (1998) call the drift the "granddaddy of underreaction events". Over the years, the following factors have been proposed to fully or partially explain the drift: underestimation of earnings persistence (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1989 and 1990; Abarbanell and Bernard, 1992), underweighted forecasts due to the integral approach of quarterly reporting²⁰ (Rangan and Sloan, 1998) or to accounting conservatism (Narayanamoorthy, 2006), inflation illusion (Chordia and Shivakumar, 2005), surprise risk (Kim and Kim, 2003), opinion divergence (Garfinkel and Sokobin, 2006), trading activity by unsophisticated investors (Bartov *et al.*, 2000), information processing biases (Liang, 2003), structural uncertainty and rational learning (Francis *et al.*, 2007), liquidity risk (Sadka, 2006), and transaction costs (e.g., Ng *et al.*, 2008).

Below, I consider in more detail some of these potential explanations: mispricing due to behavioral biases, structural uncertainty and rational learning, market frictions, and compensation for risk.

²⁰ The integral approach refers to each interim period being viewed as an *integral* part of an annual period. Certain accounting items are allowed to be smoothed across quarters in the same financial year, whereas similar smoothing is not allowed across quarters in different financial years.

Mispricing due to behavioral biases

The observed drift pattern after the earnings announcement date has by many been interpreted as a sign of mispricing, i.e. that the market is not efficient in the semistrong sense (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1990; Abarbanell and Bernard, 1992; Ball and Bartov, 1996). The mispricing is often considered to be attributable to investors underestimating the persistence in unexpected earnings. As a consequence the subsequent earnings announcements generate a surprise in the market, which is reflected in the price drift.

Lately, the field of behavioral finance also proposes some explanations based on human psychological limitations. First, Barberis *et al.* (1998) propose that investors suffer both from a *conservative bias* and a *representativeness bias*, where the first causes investors to underreact and the second, which comes into play after a while, leads investors to overreact in the longer term.²¹ Second, Daniel *et al.* (1998) present a model where the initial underreaction and price drift is due to investors suffering from biases such as *overconfidence* and *self-attribution* which lead them to weight private information too high and public information too low. A third behavioral explanation is proposed in Hong and Stein (1999). According to their model, which distinguishes between informed traders and momentum traders, the initial underreaction is due to a slow diffusion of firm-specific information. As momentum traders can gain profits on this slow price adaption, more and more of these traders will enter the market, eventually leading to a long-term overreaction.

It is important to note that all the behavioral explanations rely on two important building blocks; that investors on average are irrational (suffering from biases) and that there exist limitations in the stock market that refrain rational investors from trading away the observed returns (Barberis and Thaler, 2003).

A criticism raised against the behavioral models is that they potentially can explain *both* underreaction and overreaction. In addition, it is often argued that these behavioral predictions are "fitted" to explain a certain empirical pattern and might thus be sample specific (Fama, 1998). In line with this criticism, Forner and Sanabria (2010), in an out-of-sample test using data from the Spanish stock market, find no support for these behavioral explanations in relation to PEAD.

Structural uncertainty and rational learning

Recent research relates *structural uncertainty* and *rational learning* to the returns pattern of underreaction and drift. Brav and Heaton (2002) show in their "rational structural uncertainty model" that a returns pattern such as PEAD can arise even if investors are

²¹ Conservatism refers to the underweighting of recent information and *representativeness* refers to the overweighting of recent information.

fully Bayesian rational, assuming that they do not have full information. If investors face uncertainty about structural shifts in the value relevant parameter (for example earnings), they will appear to underweight a new signal that is announced just after a structural shift. This underweighting is due to investors mistakenly, but rationally, placing too much weight on old information because they are uncertain whether there has been a shift or not. As time passes and investors learn that there has been a structural shift, investors place more weight on the original signal, leading to a drift in security prices in the same direction as the signal. Note, however, that this return prediction relies on the assumption that investors think the value relevant parameter is stable, when in fact there is a structural shift.²²

This model is thus not consistent with the characteristics of an efficient market, where it is assumed that investors both have full information and are rational in their processing of this information. However, as Brav and Heaton (2002) point out, it differs from the behavioral models where it is assumed that investors have full information but that this information is not processed in a rational manner. The behavioral and the rational structural uncertainty models give rise to similar return predictions, making them hard to distinguish empirically.

Francis *et al.* (2007) also propose that information uncertainty and learning by rational investors is related to the drift in security prices.²³ They show that stocks in the extreme unexpected earnings portfolios also exhibit higher information uncertainty. Information uncertainty is here defined as the extent to which the reported earnings map into cash flows, and is operationalized using the model specified in Dechow and Dichev (2002). Consistent with their predictions, Francis *et al.* (2007) find that the stocks with the highest information uncertainty are followed by a muted announcement reaction and a drift in stock prices. They interpret these findings as support for structural uncertainty and rational learning, at least partially, driving the drift.²⁴

There are two potential problems with this PEAD explanation. First, the framework proposed by Brav and Heaton (2002) is contingent on there being a shift in the underlying value relevant parameter, and it can be argued that this is typically not

²² Brav and Heaton (2002) also illustrate the opposite case where investors mistakenly incorporate a probability of a shift in their estimates; even though the parameter is stable (there is no shift). In that case, investors will mistakenly place too much weight on recent information and appear to overreact.

²³ Francis *et al.* (2007) are silent upon how PEAD is related to the opposite returns prediction in Brav and Heaton (2002).

²⁴ Since the price drift following the announcement of high uncertainty signals in this sense is predictable, there has to be market limitations that can explain why rational investors with this information do not trade away the drift. An alternative interpretation is that mispricing arises for some reason (for example behavioral biases) at the release of new information and that rational learning describes the mechanism through which prices adjust towards a new equilibrium (see Francis *et al.*, 2007, p. 409). Note that Francis *et al.* (2007) do not aim to provide a full explanation to PEAD.

descriptive of real-world earnings announcements. Second, the prediction in Francis *et al.* (2007), that rational learning drives the drift, builds on the assumption that the initial uncertainty resolves over time. It is thus implicitly assumed that information in the post-announcement period *on average confirms* (and not contradicts) the original earnings signals. There is no theoretical motivation for this assumption.

Market frictions

In the section on methodological considerations it was discussed that transaction costs might render the PEAD strategy unprofitable to investors. This could potentially explain why investors avoid these positions and we still observe PEAD. Some argue that, in addition to explaining the *persistence* of the drift, these costs can also be an explanation to the *existence* of it. Ng *et al.* (2008) find that transaction costs are higher for firms that drive the returns to the PEAD strategy, i.e. firms in the extreme portfolios. They propose that the higher costs associated with these stocks explain why there is not a "full" reaction at the earnings announcement.

It has also been argued that other market frictions - often referred to as "limits to arbitrage" - impede investors from implementing the PEAD strategy, explaining the persistence and even the existence of the drift (e.g., Barberis and Thaler, 2003; Shleifer and Vishny, 1997).²⁵ If an arbitrageur attempts to take advantage of the drift pattern (which exists for any reason) but is hindered to do this, the drift would not be traded away.²⁶ An example is that investors face the risk that prices in the short-run drift against his/her predictions. If the investor has a limited investment horizon, this might force him/her to liquidate the position at a loss. Shleifer and Vishny (1997) show that this risk is higher in an agency setting where the principal (who owns the invested funds) evaluates the agent (the portfolio manager) on returns. Seeing that returns in the short-run are negative, the principal might force an early liquidation. This risk might thus refrain rational agents from pursuing these investment strategies.²⁷

It has been shown empirically that stocks in the extreme portfolios of the PEAD strategy have very high idiosyncratic risk (measured as the volatility of the residual from a three-factor model) and that arbitrageurs, not being able to diversify it away, thus avoid these positions (e.g., Mendenhall, 2004; Francis *et al.*, 2007).

²⁵ Barberis and Thaler (2003) identify three sources of limits to arbitrage: idiosyncratic risk, noise trader momentum risk, and implementation costs.

²⁶ Arbitrageurs are assumed to play an important role in capital markets, chasing "risk-free" returns by trading on observed returns patterns, such as PEAD. The PEAD strategy is not really a risk-free arbitrage opportunity. However, if the drift is indeed a sign of mispricing in publicly listed stocks, it is considered to be a low-risk opportunity for a rational investor to make a profit on this mispricing. The profit is generated through the tool of arbitrage, buying stocks considered to be undervalued and shorting stocks considered to be overvalued.

²⁷ Premature liquidation might also be triggered by creditors.

It is fairly easy to see how market frictions, such as transaction costs, could lead to a muted announcement reaction and that investors might be hindered in various ways to trade on what they perceive to be an underreaction. However, in order to fully explain the post-announcement drift, these costs or market frictions must resolve gradually over time. This mechanism is not described in the literature.

Compensation for risk

As previously noted, the measurement of expected return is crucial in any study concerning stock market efficiency. In fact, any such study is a joint test of market efficiency and the expected returns model in use (Fama, 1970). If the measurement of expected return is biased downwards, the measure of abnormal return will be exaggerated, leading to erroneous conclusions. In relation to PEAD studies, it can be questioned whether the common practice of using the three-factor model when estimating the expected return, really takes into consideration *all* risk factors that investors care about. If not, an omitted risk factor might explain the observed muted announcement reaction and drift in the post-announcement period.

To dismiss the PEAD phenomenon as a result of an omitted risk factor is however not trivial. In addition to assuming that investors in general are risk averse, one has to assume that the risk factor in question is non-diversifiable (systematic) *and* that it resolves over time. More importantly, the implication of an omitted risk factor is that returns on *both* the long and the short position will drift upwards. This is not in line with the empirical findings of for example Bernard and Thomas (1989 and 1990). In fact, this might be the reason why potential risk factors, as explanations for PEAD, have not received a lot of attention in the literature. However, the empirical findings of this dissertation, with hardly any drift on the short position, illustrate that PEAD might, at least partly, be explained by an omitted risk factor.²⁸ There are also indications in some previous studies (e.g., Forner *et al.* 2009; Dische, 2002) that the drift on the short position does not follow the "classic" PEAD graph presented in Figure 1, suggesting that the observations in the dissertation are not sample-specific.²⁹

In the dissertation, I examine *information uncertainty* as a potential omitted risk factor. The aim is not to provide an explanation for PEAD, but rather to highlight under what conditions it might be compatible with markets being efficient. Information risk has in prior literature, both theoretical and empirical, been suggested to affect expected returns (e.g., Diamond and Verrecchia, 1991; Easley and O'Hara,

²⁸ Kallunki (1996) also suggests that the drift might be an effect of abnormal returns not being correctly measured. When using an accounting based risk-adjustment, he finds no significant return to the hedge portfolio.

²⁹ Implementing a trading strategy, based on an accounting based indicator variable, for a Swedish sample of firms, Skogsvik and Skogsvik (2010) also find small positive returns to the short position.

2004; Lambert *et al.*, 2011; Francis *et al.*, 2004 and 2005). This is also the finding of Paper 3 in the dissertation.

Prior research on PEAD has dismissed the risk explanation due to the empirical finding that the drift is concentrated around subsequent earnings announcements. It is here argued that it is unlikely that any systematic risk factor would change that much around announcements (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1989; Bernard *et al.*, 1997). In this dissertation I argue that information risk indeed might resolve around subsequent earnings announcements. When new earnings information is announced to the market, investors can learn more also about prior earnings signals which they originally found to be uncertain. This risk revelation is in line with prices drifting.

A potential problem with *explaining* PEAD with information risk (besides that it cannot by itself explain a downward drift on the short position)³⁰ is whether the compensation to this factor is large enough to be able to explain the return to a PEAD strategy. Empirical studies on a US sample have found that a hedge portfolio strategy, taking a long position in stocks of high information uncertainty (low accruals quality) and a short position in stocks of low information uncertainty, generates on average 0.9-2.25% per year, after controlling for *beta, book-to-market* and *size* (e.g., Francis *et al.,* 2005). Assuming that these results capture returns to information risk, as defined in this study, and are possible to translate to the Swedish institutional setting, they indicate that the risk compensation investors get for bearing this risk is not high enough to *fully* explain the observed PEAD return of about 10% per year.³¹

To conclude, the PEAD literature is still struggling with the driving forces behind the drift. In recent years, the proposed explanations tend to assume that the drift is a sign of mispricing. The purpose of the above discussion is to highlight a number of arguments for why more research on PEAD and potential risk factors is warranted.

³⁰ In Paper 2 I discuss how different risk exposure and potential clientele effects might alter the predictions for the short position.

³¹ Note though that the study by Francis *et al.* (2005) reports realized returns, which is albeit a noisy estimate of expected returns (e.g., Elton, 1999).

Empirical data

The three papers of the dissertation intend to study a population of larger nonfinancial firms listed in Sweden. The findings are not possible to generalize to other populations of firms.

In general, the sample used to make inferences to the population, is a sample of non-financial firms listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange during the time period 1990-2008.³² The sample includes firms listed on the so-called "A-list" (after 2005, firms listed on the "Large Cap"-list). Firms with a fiscal year different from the calendar year (5 firms) have been excluded as a matter of convenience in the test design. Presumably this does not lead to sampling biases.³³

Due to data requirements, the specific time period under study differs between the three projects. The time period for each project is:

- Paper 1: 1990-2005,
- Paper 2: 2004-2008,
- Paper 3: 1994-2008.

The time periods under study in Paper 1 and Paper 3 encompass both good and bad times in the stock market, and are thus considered to be representative for the population. The sample period in Paper 2 is, however, potentially biased since it mostly involves years with a booming stock market. Overall, I do not intend to make inferences to time periods that differ to a great extent from the sample period with respect to accounting regime, overall functioning of the stock market etc.³⁴

In this section some facts about the Swedish stock market, as well as the overall Swedish economy is presented for the sample period. The Swedish stock market was in June 2005 the largest equity market in the Nordic countries and the fifth largest in Europe, with a total market capitalization of approximately 3 000 billion SEK (approximately 410 billion USD). The average daily turnover was 15 160 million SEK (approximately 2 100 million USD), with about 35 000 trades per day and 253 trading days per year (OMX, 2005).

³² Towards the end of the sample period there is really no such thing as a "Stockholm Stock Exchange". In 2006 a Nordic stock market was launched (OMX Nordic) and has since evolved, as of 2011 encompassing the stock markets in Copenhagen, Helsinki, Stockholm, Reykjavik, Tallinn, Riga and Vilnius. In 2007 NASDAQ acquired the whole group and formed NASDAQ OMX. In the dissertation the sample is referred to as the "Swedish stock market" since this description fits most of the sample period. Statistics about the stock market is collected from 2005, before the creation of the Nordic market.

³³ The overall majority of firms are Swedish, but there are a few exceptions. These are primarily Nordic firms listed at the Stockholm Stock Exchange. Nevertheless I sometimes refer to the sample as "Swedish".

³⁴ During the whole sample period the Stockholm Stock Exchange has used an electronic open-book limit-order trading system. The electronic trading system, called SAX, was introduced in 1989 and fully in place by June 1, 1990.

In June 2010, the direct stock ownership in Sweden was about 17%. The other ownership groups are: foreign investors (37%), financial companies (29%), public sector (7%), non-financial companies (9%) and non-profit organizations (4%) (Sweden Statistics, 2010).

Between 1990 and 2005 the daily turnover and the number of trades per day tripled and foreign ownership increased from 10% to 35% (OMX, 2005; Sweden Statistics, 2005), indicating that the stock market over the sample period has gained in size as well as in international attention.

Regarding the macroeconomic development, the Swedish economy experienced in the beginning of the 1990's the deepest crisis since the 1930's, following a bubble in the banking and financial sector.³⁵ With high unemployment and a large public sector, the public finances deteriorated rapidly and by 1994 the government budget deficit exceeded 15% of the gross domestic product (GDP). Following the crisis, a large number of reforms took place; a tax reform in 1991, a floating exchange rate in 1992, a restructured economic policy focusing on primarily low inflation, and other measures in order to improve the public finances of Sweden. When Sweden joined the European Union in 1995, the Swedish economy was again in good shape. By the end of the 1990's there was a new bubble in the economy, this time driven by the overvaluation of IT stocks. The bubble burst in 2001 and led to a downturn in the economy, with high unemployment especially in the IT sector. After 2003 the stock market experienced good times with increasing returns up until the financial crisis of 2008-2009. During this financial crisis, the Swedish economy experienced negative growth, but seems to have recovered faster than other European countries.

In Table 2 the development of the GDP growth rate, nominal interest rate, inflation rate and stock market return is reported for the years 1990-2008. The table illustrates that the sample period consists of both "good" and "bad" time periods.

³⁵ The economic crises also involved a crash in real estate prices.

	GDP growth	Nominal interest rate	Inflation	Stock market return
1990	3.72%	14.18%	10.50%	36.58%
1991	2.13%	11.68%	9.30%	-29.43%
1992	0.40%	12.29%	2.30%	10.29%
1993	-1.19%	7.80%	4.70%	6.43%
1994	5.43%	8.16%	2.20%	62.51%
1995	6.27%	9.30%	2.50%	3.70%
1996	2.34%	5.89%	0.50%	16.63%
1997	3.52%	4.51%	0.50%	39.47%
1998	3.91%	4.35%	-0.20%	29.70%
1999	4.84%	3.55%	0.50%	15.04%
2000	5.90%	4.50%	1.00%	90.42%
2001	2.60%	4.13%	2.40%	-15.17%
2002	3.03%	4.33%	2.20%	-20.11%
2003	3.80%	3.07%	1.90%	-43.07%
2004	6.33%	2.32%	0.40%	32.91%
2005	7.50%	1.89%	0.50%	24.80%
2006	7.61%	2.74%	1.40%	28.73%
2007	7.16%	3.78%	2.20%	20.45%
2008	2.77%	3.78%	3.40%	-6.83%

Table 2. Development of GDP growth, inflation, nominal interest rate and stock market return over
the sample period 1990 - 2008

(i) GDP growth is the yearly growth in inflation adjusted GDP, collected from Penn World Tables (http://pwt.econ.upenn.edu). Nominal interest rate is the return on a 1-year T-bill, collected from Sveriges Riksbank. Inflation rate is the yearly change in Consumer Price Index, collected from Sverden Statistics. Market return is the yearly return to the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index, measured at the first trading day of each year. This data is collected from Datastream.

The data used in the dissertation comes from three main sources; I/B/E/S (Institutional Broker's Estimates System), SIX (Scandinavian Information Exchange) and Datastream. Analyst forecasts have been collected from I/B/E/S and all market data (stock prices, stock returns, market return, etc.) have been collected from Datastream. The accounting data has been acquired from SIX for the purpose of obtaining quarterly accounting data. The acquired data was in the form of 3-, 6-, 9- and 12-months reports, but has been converted to quarterly numbers. In addition, data on the number of shares has been collected from the periodical Börsguiden and nominal interest rates from the database EcoWIN.³⁶

³⁶ EcoWIN, I/B/E/S and Datastream are all provided by Thomson Reuters, see <u>www.thomsonreuters.com</u>. More information on SIX can be found at <u>www.six-telekurs.se</u>. The periodical Börsguiden can be found in the library of Stockholm School of Economics.
The papers – short summaries

Swedish post-earnings announcement drift and momentum return

The first paper of the dissertation documents a drift in returns after earnings announcements in the Swedish stock market during the sample period (1990-2005). The empirical results reveal that a trading strategy, taking a long position in the decile of stocks with the highest quarterly earnings surprises and a short position in the decile of stocks with the lowest quarterly earnings surprises, generates an average risk-adjusted monthly return of 0.9% (11.4% per year).^{37, 38} The results are statistically significant and robust to conventional risk factors, according to CAPM (Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965) or the three-factor model (Fama and French, 1993). Out of the 28 quarters where the trading strategy is tested, it generates a positive return in 20 quarters and a negative return in 8 quarters.

Finding indications of the post-earnings announcement drift is a bit surprising since previous research (e.g., Rouwenhorst, 1998; Griffin *et al.*, 2003; Doukas and McKnight, 2005; Söderström, 2007; Novak, 2008) has not been able to find the momentum effect in the Swedish stock market and these drift phenomena have been shown to be highly correlated (e.g., Chan *et al.*, 1996; Chordia and Shivakumar, 2006). However, contrary to previous studies I find a momentum effect. When the holding period in the trading strategy is extended from six months (as in previous studies) to 12 months, the average monthly return to a momentum strategy is over 1%, adjusted for risk factors in the three-factor model. In line with previous research by Chan *et al.* (1996) and Chordia and Shivakumar (2006), I find that the two return drifts are not identical. This is in line with what we know about the relation between earnings and returns.

To conclude, this study provides evidence of both PEAD and the momentum effect in the Swedish stock market. In addition, there are two interesting observations. First, it seems like the drift effects are more prolonged in Sweden than in many other markets. Neither of the drifts is significant for a holding period of six months after portfolio formation. However, if the holding period is extended to twelve months, both are significant. Second, both for PEAD and the momentum effect, the drift is

³⁷ The strategy involves taking positions in the two extreme portfolios of the distribution of unexpected earnings. Depending on the distribution of unexpected earnings, the long position thus contains stocks with the highest (most positive) unexpected earnings or the least negative unexpected earnings (if all announced earnings are below expectations). Similarly, the short position contains stocks with the lowest (least positive) unexpected earnings (if all announced earnings are above expectations) or the most negative unexpected earnings. For simplicity, the extreme portfolios are described as the ones with the highest and lowest unexpected earnings.

³⁸ The return to a zero-investment hedge portfolio is not easy to interpret. Note that the return is relative to the funds allocated to the long position.

significantly larger after positive news. Almost all of the return to the trading strategies is generated by the long position.

The paper does not provide any explanation for these observations. However, I speculate that the lack of return to the short position might be an important observation in the pursuit of finding the drivers of the drift. In fact, this observation opens up for an omitted risk factor as a potential explanation for the drift. Exposed to such a risk factor, stocks in the short position will be priced so that they render a positive expected return as a compensation for taking on this risk. Consequently, this explanation is in line with an upward drift also after the announcement of bad news, and as such the empirical observations of this paper are interesting. Hence more research on the short position and potential risk factors explaining PEAD is warranted.

Information uncertainty in unexpected earnings signals

Using a Swedish sample of firms for the period 2004-2008, the second paper investigates whether GAAP earnings and core earnings (measured as I/B/E/S earnings) introduce different levels of information uncertainty to stock market investors. Information uncertainty can be viewed as to what extent the earnings signal is informative about the firm's "true" value creation for the period, so-called economic earnings. It is proposed that an uncertain good news signal that is perceived to be risky will give rise to a muted announcement reaction and a price drift in the postannouncement period. The predictions for bad news signals are less straight forward. The price reaction at the announcement of such a signal will be influenced by two effects. First, the price reaction will be muted due to the expected mean being less negative when the signal is perceived to be uncertain. Second, the reaction can be more pronounced (more negative) since investors perceive the uncertain signal to be more risky and want compensation for taking on that risk. Stocks exposed to information uncertainty risk would then have a more pronounced negative announcement reaction and then, as the risk resolves over time, an upward price drift that generates positive average returns (Brown et al., 1988).

The empirical investigation reveals that the announcement reaction to the GAAP earnings signal is more muted than that of the core earnings signal. In addition, it is only the GAAP signal that gives rise to a significant post-announcement drift. On average a trading strategy based on this signal generates an excess return of about 1% per month (after controlling for risk factors according to the three-factor model in Fama and French, 1993). The empirical results also reveal that it is the difference in earnings levels, and not the different forecasting models, that drive the difference in returns between the GAAP and the core earnings signals. Additional tests show that the empirical results are robust to a number of specification issues (length of announcement window, portfolio size, inclusion of a momentum factor, etc.). There

are also indications of the drift being generated mostly on the long position, i.e. following good news signals. The lack of a negative drift on the short position might be interpreted as support for the theoretical framework where information uncertainty is proposed to be a risk factor.

It is also shown that one-year buy-and-hold returns (BHARs) are relatively similar for the two earnings measures. They are however unevenly distributed over the year. When a trading strategy is based on the core earnings signal, 40% of the total BHAR is attributed to the announcement period, whereas only 20% of the BHAR is attributed to this period when the strategy is based on the GAAP signal.

Conclusively, the results are interpreted as if the GAAP earnings signal introduces more uncertainty to investors. It is argued that this uncertainty might be due to this measure encompassing items, such as special items, that prior research has shown to be more likely to be manipulated and/or affected by larger estimation error (e.g., Elliott and Hanna, 1996; McVay, 2006).

Earnings quality and the implied cost of equity capital – the Swedish case

The third paper is related to the issue of whether investors perceive information uncertainty, proxied by earnings quality, as a risk factor or not. Theory predicts a positive relationship between the cost of equity capital and information uncertainty (e.g., Easley and O'Hara, 2004; Lambert *et al.*, 2011). However, the empirical evidence is less clear-cut (e.g., Core *et al.*, 2008; Ogneva, 2010). The studies are typically limited to samples of US firms, and there is hence a need for out-of-sample studies on this relationship.

The main objective of the paper is to examine the association between the *implied cost of capital* and *earnings quality* for a sample of firms listed in Sweden over the period 1994-2008. In the main, it is found that poor earnings quality – measured as either low *value relevance* or low *timeliness* – is associated with a higher cost of equity capital. Going from the group with the highest earnings quality to the group with the lowest earnings quality, the implied cost of capital increases by about 1.2 percentage points after controlling for conventional risk factors (i.e. the three-factor model). This confirms prior empirical research that has found that earnings quality is a priced risk factor.

A new approach for estimating the implied cost of equity capital is proposed in the paper. In order to estimate the implied cost of capital, one has to solve for the internal rate of return that equates the stock price to the equity value in an accountingbased valuation model. The proposed estimation procedure is based on the residual income valuation (RIV) model and uses firm-specific historical mean ROE (return on owners' equity) as forecasts for the first three years. In addition, firm-specific steady state ROE is modeled, assuming it is a function of accounting conservatism, steady state growth and the cost of equity capital.³⁹ My approach seems to generate cost of capital estimates that are reasonable in the sense that mean values and adjusted R²s in risk factor regressions are similar those generated by established implied cost of capital approaches.

The proposed cost of capital approach is a methodological contribution to the implied cost of capital literature. Unlike established approaches, my approach can be implemented on a sample that is not restricted to firms with positive earnings, positive earnings growth, analyst following and/or a long time-series of accounting data. The benefits are twofold. First, it increases the number of observations. This can be crucial in empirical tests where both the cross-section and the time-series are limited. Second, it enables a study of the full cross-sectional variation of the variables of interest. For example, non-profitable firms and firms without analyst following are likely to be more risky and potentially also to have higher information risk. A sample excluding these types of firms is hardly representative for the population of firms.

Contribution of the dissertation

There are six main contributions of my dissertation. First, it is the first extensive study of the post-earnings announcement drift in a Swedish stock market context. As such, it contributes to our knowledge of how investors react to accounting information in this market. In addition, it is to the best of my knowledge the first study to investigate how quarterly accounting information is perceived by Swedish investors.

Second, Paper 2 contributes to prior research on how market participants use different earnings levels from the income statement. This research is typically focused on short-term price reactions to different earnings signals, to infer which of the signals that investors find to be most important (e.g., Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2003; Brown and Sivakumar, 2003). The results in Paper 2 imply that it is crucial to also study the long-term price reaction and consider the dimension of information uncertainty, when evaluating earnings signals.

Third, the dissertation contributes to prior research by using different earnings signals, from different levels in the income statement, as a source of information uncertainty. Prior research relating information uncertainty to PEAD has focused on earnings quality of one earnings metric and more specifically how current accruals map into operating cash flows. Studying the different price reactions to GAAP and core earnings, the dissertation thus contributes to our knowledge of what kind of items investors might perceive as uncertain when evaluating a firm's value creation.

³⁹ Industry-specific estimates of the permanent measurement bias (*PMB*) collected from Runsten (1998), are used as proxies for firm-specific accounting conservatism.

Fourth, the results of the dissertation shed additional light on previous empirical results indicating that earnings quality is a priced risk factor. The results in Paper 3 show that Swedish investors appear to demand a higher cost of equity capital for firms with poor earnings quality, supporting the idea that earnings quality *is* a priced risk factor.

Fifth, the implied cost of capital approach developed in Paper 3 is - to the best of my knowledge - the first approach that can be implemented on a dataset which is not restricted to firms with positive earnings, positive earnings growth, analyst following and/or long time-series of accounting data. The approach might be useful in future research, focusing on the cost of capital and characteristics of firms usually excluded from this kind of studies. As such, it is a methodological contribution to the implied cost of capital literature.

Sixth, the dissertation contributes to the PEAD literature by illustrating under what conditions information uncertainty might be driving the drift. To my knowledge, there is no prior discussion on how high information uncertainty in a bad news signal might lead *both* to a muted and a pronounced announcement reaction. Overall, the discussion highlights that under certain assumptions, PEAD is compatible with markets being efficient. The empirical observation that the drift on the short position is negligible (both in Paper 1 and Paper 2) might be interpreted as supporting these assumptions.

Limitations of the dissertation

Any study concerning market efficiency suffers from the problem of joint hypotheses, and so does this dissertation. Another limitation is that information risk is not controlled for in the estimation of expected returns. If indeed the drift is a compensation for information risk, a verifying test could be to see whether the drift is dampened when this risk factor is added in the assessment of expected returns (see for example Francis *et al.*, 2007). Not adding a fourth factor to the expected returns model can be considered a limitation of the dissertation.

Yet another limitation is the hedge portfolio design in Paper 2. If indeed the drift is an effect of information risk, the prediction is that the long and short positions both will drift upwards. A hedge portfolio, subtracting the return of the short position from the long position, might therefore seem somewhat ill-fitted to capture whether the empirical observations are in line with the predictions.

In addition, this dissertation does not consider the impact of transaction costs that might be associated with a trading strategy based on quarterly earnings announcements. If real-world transaction costs are high enough, it cannot be ruled out that the profitability of the PEAD strategy can be totally subsumed.

A related issue is that the return metrics used to evaluate the profitability of trading strategies are of a statistical character. It can therefore not be ruled out that

these metrics are upward biased estimates of the realistic return, available to a realworld investor. In addition, the statistical tests in the dissertation do not consider the possibility of statistical overfitting due to autocorrelation between portfolio returns.

A limitation in Paper 2 concerns the use of I/B/E/S earnings as a measure of core earnings. Since this measure is specified by financial analysts, I cannot distinguish whether any alleged uncertainties of the core earnings signal are generated by the earnings level or by analysts making biased exclusions to derive core earnings.

Suggestions for future research

This dissertation identifies a number of questions suitable for future research. As mentioned above, future research on the short position is warranted. In many previous PEAD studies, only the return to the combined portfolio (long minus short) is reported, making it impossible to get a clear picture of the drift on the short position. This pattern is crucial for how we think about the return drift in terms of risk compensation. More research on how the returns to PEAD strategies are distributed between the long and the short position is therefore warranted.

Related is the issue of clientele effects. In order to understand how a risk factor might drive the drift, it is important to understand both the risk exposure of each position, as well as the risk appetite of investors. If there are systematic differences in terms of risk appetite between investors holding the long and the short positions, the returns prediction for these portfolios will change. For example, if investors holding the short position are risk loving, an omitted risk factor will lead to a downward drift on this position. To my knowledge, there is no existing research relating PEAD to these issues.

An observation in the dissertation is that the drift period seems to be longer in Sweden than in many previously studied stock markets. In Paper 1, I briefly discuss what this longer drift might implicate for existing PEAD explanations, such as behavioral biases or information uncertainty. I argue that studies of the cross-sectional variations of the drift, in different stock markets, might be fruitful in future research to see which theoretical framework has the ability to explain any systematic differences between stock markets.

A topic for future research is to use the implied cost of capital approach, suggested in Paper 3, in new settings. Using a Swedish sample, the approach could be implemented to study in more detail firms previously neglected in the earnings quality literature, i.e. non-profitable firms, firms in default, etc. to see whether the association between earnings quality and cost of capital is more pronounced in this subset of firms.

Paper 3 also identifies a need for more research on empirical measures of accounting conservatism, since this is an important input variable in the proposed cost of capital approach. The empirical measures used in this study were estimated for

Swedish industries with data from the period 1966-1993 in Runsten (1998). Research on the development of new estimates, which also can be calculated for firms in other markets, is warranted.

A question that remains unanswered in the dissertation is how specific accounting items introduce uncertainty to investors. There are some indications of income-increasing non-recurring items being one source, but due to data limitations this is not been studied in depth. Studies involving more detailed data on such earnings items, and perhaps using other types of methodologies, are warranted in order to get a better understanding of how investors perceive earnings signals in terms of information uncertainty.

The dissertation identifies that more research is needed on how information risk in earnings signals resolves over time. In the theoretical framework of Paper 2, it is assumed that the information risk resolves over time in a manner consistent with the price drift. It was also argued that the previously documented drift concentration around subsequent earnings announcements could be interpreted as if the information risk is resolved at these points in time, and that as much as three subsequent announcements might be needed in order for the information risk in the original signal to fully resolve. Earnings announcements are thus assumed to be informative on prior earnings signals in a "feed-back loop" manner. In addition, an earnings number depicting value creation for a short time period might be perceived as more uncertain than an earnings number depicting longer time periods.⁴⁰ However, these ideas need to be further investigated.

Finally, I find that there is a lack of empirical research studying market frictions in the Swedish stock market. To my knowledge, there are no studies on the transaction costs and potential limits to arbitrage that an investor would face if trying to implement a trading strategy such as PEAD in this stock market. All research on the information efficiency of this market would benefit from knowing more about such market frictions.

⁴⁰ This is in line with previous empirical findings showing that the association between earnings and stock returns increases remarkably when the variables are measured over longer time-periods (e.g., Easton *et al.*, 1992; Strong and Walker, 1993; Runsten, 1998).

References

- Abarbanell, J. S. and Bernard, V. L., 'Tests of analysts' overreaction / underreaction to earnings information as an explanation for anomalous stock price behavior', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 47, 1992, pp 1181-1203.
- Ball, R. and Bartov, E., 'How naive is the stock market's use of earnings information?', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 21, 1996, pp 319-337.
- Ball, R. and Brown, P., 'An empirical evaluation of accounting income numbers', *Journal of Accounting* Research, Vol. 6, 1968, pp 159-178.
- Banz, R. W., 'The relationship between returns and market value of common stocks', *Journal of Financial Economics,* Vol. 9, 1981, pp 3-18.
- Barber, B. M. and Lyon, J. D., 'Detecting long-run abnormal stock returns: the empirical power and specification of test statistics', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 43, 1997, pp 341-372.
- Barberis, N., Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R., 'A model of investor sentiment', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, 1998, pp 307-343.
- Barberis, N. and Thaler, R., 'A survey of behavioral finance', in Constantinides, G., Harris, M. and Stultz, R. (eds.), *Handbook of the Economics of Finance*, Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2003, pp 1052-1121.
- Bartov, E., Radhakrishnan, S. and Krinsky, I., 'Investor sophistication and patterns in stock returns after earnings announcements', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 75, 2000, pp 43-63.
- Bernard, V. L. and Thomas, J. K., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift: delayed price response or risk premium?', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 27, 1989, pp 1-36.
- Bernard, V. L. and Thomas, J. K., 'Evidence that stock prices do not fully reflect the implications of current earnings for future earnings', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 13, 1990, pp 305-340.
- Bernard, V. L., Thomas, J. K. and Wahlen, J., 'Accounting-based stock prices anomalies: separating market inefficiencies from risk', *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 14, 1997, pp 89-136.
- Bhattacharya, N., Black, E. L., Christensen, T. E. and Larson, C. R., 'Assessing the relative informativeness and permanence of pro forma earnings and GAAP operating earnings', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 36, 2003, pp 285–319.

- Bhushan, R., 'An informational efficiency perspective on the post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 18, 1994, pp 45-65.
- Booth, G., Kallunki, J.-P. and Martikainen, T., 'Post-announcement drift and income smoothing: Finnish evidence', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 23, 1996, pp 1197-1211.
- Booth, G., Kallunki, J.-P., Sahlström, P. and Tynnelä, J., 'Foreign vs. domestic investors and the post-earnings announcement drift: evidence from share ownership records', Working Paper, European Accounting Association Annual Congress, 2006.
- Bradshaw, M. T. and Sloan, R. G., 'GAAP versus The Street: an empirical assessment of two alternative definitions of earnings', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 40, 2002, pp 41-66.
- Brav, A. and Heaton, J. B., 'Competing theories of financial anomalies', *The Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 15, 2002, pp 575-606.
- Brown, K. C., Harlow, W. V., Tinic, S. M., 'Risk aversion, information uncertainty and market efficiency', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 22, 1988, pp 355-385.
- Brown, L. and Sivakumar, K., 'Comparing the value relevance of two operating income measures', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 8, 2003, pp 561–572.
- Carhart, M. M., 'On persistence in mutual fund performance', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, 1997, pp 57-82.
- Chan, L. K., Jegadeesh, N. and Lakonishok, J., 'Momentum strategies', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 51, 1996, pp 1681-1713.
- Chordia, T., Goyal, A., Sadka, R., Sadka, G. and Shivakumar, L., 'Liquidity and the post-earnings announcement drift', Working paper, 2007, Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=972758.
- Chordia, T. and Shivakumar, L., 'Inflation illusion and post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 43, 2005, pp 521-557.
- Chordia, T. and Shivakumar, L., 'Earnings and price momentum', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 80, 2006, pp 627-656.
- Core, J. E., Guay, W. R and Verdi, R., 'Is accruals quality a priced risk factor?', *Journal* of Accounting and Economics, Vol. 46, 2008, pp 2-22.

- Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, E. and Subrahmanyam, A., 'Investor psychology and security market under- and overreactions', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, 1998, pp 1839-1885.
- Dechow, P. M. and Dichev, I., 'The quality of accruals and earnings: the role of accruals estimation errors', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 77, 2002, pp 35-59.
- Diamond. D. W. and Verrecchia. R. E., 'Disclosure, liquidity, and the cost of capital', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 46, 1991, pp 1325-1359.
- Dische, A., 'Dispersion in analyst forecasts and the profitability of earnings momentum strategies', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 8, 2002, pp 211-228.
- Doukas, J. A. and McKnight, P. J., 'European momentum strategies, information diffusion, and investor conservatism', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 11, 2005, pp 313-338.
- Easley, D. and O'Hara, M., 'Information and the cost of capital', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 59, 2004, pp 1553-1583.
- Easton, P. D., Harris, T. and Ohlson, J. A., 'Aggregate accounting earnings can explain most of security returns: the case of long return intervals', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 15, 1992, pp 119-142.
- Elliott, J. A. and Hanna, J. D., 'Repeated accounting write-offs and the information content of earnings', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 34, 1996, pp 135-155.
- Elton, E. J., 'Expected return, realized return and asset pricing tests', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, 1999, pp 1199-1220.
- Fama, E., 'Efficient capital markets: a review of theory and empirical work', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 25, 1970, pp 383-417.
- Fama, E., 'Market efficiency, long-term returns, and behavioral finance', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, 1998, pp 283-306.
- Fama, E. and French, K., 'Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 33, 1993, pp 3-56.
- Forner, C. and Sanabria, S., 'Spanish post-earnings announcement drift and behavioral finance models', *European Accounting Review*, Vol. 19, 2010, pp 775-815.
- Forner, C., Sanabria, S. and Marhuenda, J., 'Post-earnings announcement drift: Spanish evidence', *Spanish Economic Review*, Vol. 11, 2009, pp 207-241.

- Foster, G., Olsen, C. and Shevlin, T., 'Earnings releases, anomalies and the behavior of security returns', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 59, 1984, pp 574-603.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., 'Costs of equity and earnings attributes', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 79, 2004, pp 967-1010.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., "The market pricing of accruals quality', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 39, 2005, pp 295-327.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K. 'Information uncertainty and postearnings-announcement-drift', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 34, 2007, pp 403-433.
- Garfinkel, J. A. and Sokobin, J., 'Volume, opinion divergence and returns: a study of post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 44, 2006, pp 85-112.
- Griffin, J. M., Ji, X. and Martin, J. S., 'Momentum investing and business cycle risk: evidence from pole to pole', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 58, 2003, pp 2515-2547.
- Hew, D., Skerratt, L., Strong, N. and Walker, M., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift: some preliminary evidence for the UK', *Accounting and Business Research*, Vol. 26, 1996, pp 283-293.
- Hicks, J. R., "The foundations of welfare economics", *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 49, 1939, pp 696-712.
- Holthausen, R.W., 'The economic consequences of accounting choice implications of costly contracting and monitoring', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 5, 1983, pp 77-117.
- Hong, H. and Stein, J. C., 'A unified theory of underreaction, momentum trading and overreaction in assets markets', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, 1999, pp 2143-2184.
- Ikenberry, D., Lakonishok, J. and Vermaelen, T., 'Market underreaction to open market share repurchases', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 39, 1995, pp 181-208.
- Jacob, J., Lys, T. and Sabino, J., 'Autocorrelation structure of forecast errors from time-series models: alternative assessments of the causes of post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 28, 2000, pp 329-358.
- Jones, C. and Litzenberger, R., 'Quarterly earnings reports and intermediate stock trends', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 25, 1970, pp 143-148.

- Kallunki, J-P., 'Stock returns and earnings announcements in Finland', *The European Accounting Review*, Vol. 5, 1996, pp 199-216.
- Kim, D. and Kim, M., 'A multifactor explanation of the post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 38, 2003, pp 383-398.
- Lambert, R. A., Leuz, C. and Verrecchia, R. E., 'Information asymmetry, information precision and the cost of capital', *Review of Finance*, 2011 (Forthcoming). Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1822848.
- Liang, L., 'Post-earnings announcement drift and market participants information processing biases', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 8, 2003, pp 324-345.
- Lintner, J., 'Security prices, risk, and maximal gains from diversification', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 20, 1965, pp 587-615.
- Liu, W., Strong, N. and Xu, X., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift in the UK', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 9, 2003, pp 89-116.
- Livnat, J. and Mendenhall, R., 'Comparing the post-earnings announcement drift for surprises calculated from analyst and time series forecasts', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 44, 2006, pp 177-205.
- McVay, S. E., 'Earnings management using classification shifting: An examination of core earnings and special items', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 81, 2006, pp 501-531.
- Mendenhall, R. R., 'Arbitrage risk and post-earnings-announcement drift', *The Journal of Business*, Vol. 77, 2004, pp 875-894.
- Mitchell, M. L. and Stafford, E., 'Managerial decisions and long-term stock price performance', *The Journal of Business*, Vol. 73, 2000, pp 287-329.
- Narayanamoorthy, G., 'Conservatism and cross-sectional variation in the post-earnings announcement drift', Journal of Accounting Research, Vol. 44, 2006, pp 763-789.
- Ng, J., Rusticus, T. O. and Verdi, J. S., 'Implications of transactions costs of the postearnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 46, 2008, pp 661-696.
- Novak, J., 'On the importance of accounting information for stock market efficiency', PhD dissertation, Uppsala University, 2008.
- Ogneva, M., 'Accrual quality and expected returns: the importance of controlling for cash flow shocks'. Working paper, 2010. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1306598.

OMX, 'OMX Exchanges Statistics January-June 2005', Press release, July 1, 2005.

- Rangan, S. and Sloan, R. G., 'Implications of the integral approach to quarterly reporting for the post-earnings-announcement drift', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 73, 1998, pp 353-371.
- Rouwenhorst, K. G., 'International momentum strategies', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, 1998, pp 267-284.
- Runsten, M., "The association between accounting information and stock prices", PhD dissertation, Stockholm School of Economics, 1998.
- Sadka, R., 'Momentum and post-earnings announcement anomalies: the role of liquidity risk', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 80, 2006, pp 309-349.
- Sharpe, W. F., 'Capital asset prices: a theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 19, 1964, pp 425-442.
- Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. W., 'The limits of arbitrage', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, 1997, pp 35-55.
- Skogsvik, K. and Skogsvik, S., 'Accounting-based probabilistic prediction of ROE, the residual income valuation model, and the assessment of mispricing in the Swedish stock market', *ABACUS*, Vol. 46, 2010, pp 387-418.
- Strong, N. and Walker, M., 'The explanatory power of earnings for stock returns', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 68, 1993, pp 385-399.
- Sweden Statistics, 'Aktieägarstatistik', Statistiska meddelanden FM 20 SM 0502, 2005.
- Sweden Statistics, 'Aktieägarstatistik', Statistiska meddelanden FM 20 SM 1002, 2010.
- Söderström, J., 'The empirical characteristics of momentum returns', Working Paper, Stockholm School of Economics, 2007.
- van Huffel, G., Joos, P. and Ooghe, H., 'Semi-annual earnings announcements and market reactions: some recent findings for a small capital market', *The European Accounting Review*, Vol. 5, 1996, pp 693-713.
- Vieru, M., Perttunen, J. and Schadewitz, H., 'Impact of investors' trading activity to post-earnings announcement drift', Working Paper, European Accounting Association Annual Congress, 2005.

Part II

Papers

1 Swedish post-earnings announcement drift and momentum return

Abstract

This paper reports results on the post-earnings announcement drift (PEAD) in Sweden. Sweden is especially interesting to study since previous research has not been able to find a significant momentum effect in this market, whilst the two drift effects have been found to be interlinked. The results reveal that there is both a post-earnings announcement drift and a momentum effect in returns, if the holding period is extended from six to twelve months. On average a PEAD trading strategy, taking a long (short) position in the decile of firms with the highest (lowest) unexpected earnings, can generate a return of about 11% over the 12 months following portfolio formation. This return is robust to risk factors suggested in CAPM and the three-factor model (Fama and French, 1993). In addition it is significant after controlling for the momentum effect, indicating that the two drift effects are not completely overlapping. It is further found that the drift on the short position is negligible. It is argued that this might be an indication of the drift being a compensation for a risk factor omitted in the test design.

1.1 Introduction

There is an extensive body of research reporting empirical evidence of the so-called post-earnings announcement drift (PEAD).⁴¹ PEAD is the phenomenon where prices tend to drift upwards after the announcement of good earnings news and downwards after the announcement of bad earnings news. In the US market the drift was noted already by Ball and Brown (1968) and Jones and Litzenberger (1970). Since these studies, many researchers have extensively analyzed the post-earnings announcement drift (e.g., Foster *et al.*, 1984; Bernard and Thomas, 1989 and 1990; Bernard *et al.*, 1997). These US findings are confirmed in many European stock markets. In particular, a drift subsequent to earnings news has been found in the United Kingdom by Hew *et al.* (1996) and Liu *et al.* (2003), in Spain by Forner *et al.* (2009) and Forner and Sanabria (2010), in Germany by Dische (2002) and by several researchers in Finland (e.g., Booth *et al.*, 1996; Kallunki, 1996; Vieru *et al.*, 2005; Booth *et al.*, 2006).

In Sweden however, quarterly accounting data has not been available in standard databases, which has limited the scope of this type of research. Using a partly new dataset for firms listed in Sweden between 1990 and 2005, this paper is the first extensive study of PEAD in the Swedish stock market.⁴²

There is reason to believe that the Swedish market might differ from other European markets when it comes to PEAD and this is the motivation behind this study. Several empirical studies on international returns momentum (the momentum effect) have not been able to find a significant momentum effect in Sweden (e.g., Rouwenhorst, 1998; Griffin *et al.*, 2003; Doukas and McKnight, 2005; Söderström, 2007; Novak, 2008). The momentum in returns is the phenomenon that returns continue to drift upwards (downwards) for stocks that have high (low) recent past returns and was first documented in the US market by Jegadeesh and Titman (1993).

Prior research has shown that the post-earnings announcement drift and the momentum effect are overlapping, but not identical. Both Chan *et al.* (1996) and Chordia and Shivakumar (2006) conclude that although earnings surprises and past returns are related, they have separate explanatory power for future returns. This is in line with what we know about the relationship between earnings and returns. Earnings are value relevant information, but returns can in addition to earnings incorporate

⁴¹ Since PEAD studies focus on price reactions to unexpected earnings, the post-earnings announcement drift is sometimes referred to as the SUE effect, where SUE stands for Standardized Unexpected Earnings.

⁴² Griffin *et al.* (2006) investigate market efficiency in 56 international markets. Among other things, they test for the post-earnings announcement drift after annual earnings announcements using data from 1994 to 2005. Looking at Figure 4 in their paper, it seems like they for the Swedish market only find a significant drift in returns after negative earnings announcements of about minus 8-9%. But since the results are only reported graphically, it is not possible for me to relate to these results.

other, more timely, value relevant information about the performance of a firm. As such, PEAD and returns momentum could be seen as indications of a more general tendency of potential underreaction to firm performance, as measured by either quarterly earnings or past returns. For the motivation behind this study it also means that, if there is no returns momentum in the Swedish stock market, as indicated by previous research, we would not expect a post-earnings announcement drift.

The results of this paper indicate that there is a post-earnings announcement drift in Sweden during the studied time period. A trading strategy, taking a long position in the decile of stocks with the highest unexpected earnings and a short position in the decile of stocks with the lowest unexpected earnings, generates an average riskadjusted monthly return of 0.9% (11.4% per year). These results are statistically significant and robust to conventional risk factors, estimating the expected return according to either CAPM (Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965) or the three-factor model (Fama and French, 1993). Out of the 28 quarters when the trading strategy is implemented, it gains a positive return in 20 quarters and a negative return in 8 quarters. However, the strategy seems sensitive to using quintile portfolios instead of decile portfolios.

Contrary to prior studies I also find a momentum effect. When the holding period in the trading strategy is extended from six months (as in previous studies) to twelve months, the momentum strategy is able to generate abnormal return. Supporting the findings of Chan *et al.* (1996) and Chordia and Shivakumar (2006) I also find that the two drift phenomena are overlapping, but not identical. After introducing a momentum factor in the calendar-time regressions, the returns to the PEAD trading strategy remain, though slightly muted.

This study provides evidence of both PEAD and returns momentum in the Swedish stock market. In addition, two interesting observations are noted. First, in contrast to the findings in many other markets, neither of the drifts is significant for a holding period of six months. However, if the holding period is extended to twelve months, both are significant. Second, for both PEAD and the momentum effect, the drift is significantly larger for positive news. Almost all of the returns to the trading strategies are generated by the long position. This paper provides no explanations for these two observations, but it is in Section 1.6 discussed what these observations would indicate under some alternative drift explanations that exist in the current literature.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: Section 1.2 describes the sample and the data sources of this study, Section 1.3 presents the overall test design, Sections 1.4 and 1.5 describe the measurement of key variables, Section 1.6 reports and discusses the empirical results. Concluding remarks are provided in Section 1.7.

1.2 Sample and data

The sample used in this study comprises of 4241 firm-quarter observations from 130 firms listed on the A-list at the Stockholm Stock Exchange during the time period January 1990 to June 2005.^{43,44} Financial firms (approximately 15 firms) have been excluded due to their divergent accounting principles, which give their accounting numbers a different interpretation. Firms with a fiscal year different from the calendar year (approximately 5 firms) have been excluded as a matter of convenience in the test design. There is no reason to believe that the choice to exclude these observations has biased the sample selection.

In Table 1.1 descriptive statistics of the sample are reported.

	1 4510	in Besenpur	o outlotteor out	ipie penioù i	0 2008.	
Variable	Nr Obs.	Mean	Median	Std Dev	Skewness	Kurtosis
total assets	3669	30713	7151	57238	2.96	9.06
debt	3837	18678	4313	37153	3.64	16.45
equity	3905	11303	2315	22692	3.66	15.69
market cap	3579	34370	4947	125426	9.23	109.88
market-to-book	3324	2.62	1.64	6.29	22.33	690.76
debt/ equity	3819	2.10	1.70	2.01	7.13	87.26
debt/assets	3655	0.62	0.63	0.16	1.73	27.87
ROA	1306	7%	7%	7%	-3.07	47.31
ROE_pretax	1304	14%	16%	30%	-8.15	140.09
ROE_after tax	1303	9%	11%	22%	-5.61	69.52

Table 1.1. Descriptive statistics. Sample period 1990-2005.

(i) This table reports descriptive statistics for a sample of 130 firms listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange between 1990 and 2005. Besides the number of firm-quarter observations, the mean, median, standard deviation, skewness and kurtosis are reported for some key variables.

(ii) All accounting variables are measured at the end of each quarter. *market cap* is measured as the market price of the share at the end of the quarter, times the number of shares outstanding as of December 31 each year. *market-to-book* is the market cap divided by the book value of owners' equity. The profitability measures are measured yearly. Return on assets (*ROA*) is defined as year-end DEBT divided by year-end total assets. Return on equity (*ROE_prelax* and *ROE_after tax*) is defined as year-end Net Income (before or after tax) divided by year-end owners' equity.

The average company in the sample has total assets of approximately 31 billion SEK and a market capitalization of 34 billion SEK. The median is considerably lower than the mean which is a reflection of the large size differences among firms in the sample. At the end of 2004, the ten firms with the largest market capitalization represented approximately 75% of the total market capitalization. The average market-to-book, i.e. market capitalization divided by book value of equity, is 2.62 and the average debt-to-equity (measured in book values) is 2.10. The average return on equity (ROE) is 14%

⁴³ In 2005, 52 out of 269 firms were listed on the A-list, making up approximately 80% of the total market value. Other firms are not included in the sample in order to limit the effects on the results from small and illiquid stocks.

⁴⁴ On average approximately 60 firms were listed at the same time.

before tax and 9% after tax.⁴⁵ These profitability measures are calculated on a yearly basis which explains the lower number of observations for these measures. The data in Table 1.1 also shows that the median ROE is somewhat higher than the mean ROE. This is a reflection of some extremely low and negative observations of profitability in the sample.

As mentioned previously, quarterly accounting data for firms listed in Sweden was not available in the standard databases for the time period studied in this paper, even though these firms did report more frequently than on an annual basis. For the purpose of this study, the accounting data has therefore been collected from other sources. Firm-specific files of income statements and balance sheets have been provided by SIX (Scandinavian Information Exchange) and then compiled by the author.⁴⁶ The original data consisted of accumulated results over the year (3-, 6-, 9- and 12-months results) but has been converted to quarterly data.⁴⁷ Consequently, there was for some accounting numbers a substantial loss of observations compared to the 4241 firm-quarter observations. For example, if a 9-month report was missing in the original database it has not been possible to calculate either the third or fourth quarter results. The earnings announcement dates (3323 observations) have also been provided by SIX.

The Datastream Return Index (capitalization-adjusted closing prices and gross dividends) has been used for the measurements of firm return and the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) (value-weighted and including dividends) from Datastream has been used as a proxy for the overall market return during the sample period. The return on a Swedish 1-month treasury bill has been used as a proxy for the risk-free rate. This data has been obtained from the EcoWIN database.

The data on the number of shares outstanding for each firm was found to be of very low quality in the standard databases. I have therefore hand-collected this information from the periodical Börsguiden which reports yearly facts about listed firms. As a consequence, the number of shares is as of December 31 each year, which influences the measure of market capitalization, described below.

Market capitalization (*market cap*) has been calculated as the number of shares times the price of the share. If a company has dual-class shares, each class of shares has been weighted with the price of that class of shares. Quarterly observations of *market cap* have been calculated as the number of shares (as of December 31) times the price of the shares at the last day of the quarter. It is here assumed that the number of

⁴⁵ ROE_*pretax* is defined as net income before tax divided by year-end owners' equity. ROE_*after tax* is defined as net income after tax divided by year-end owners' equity.

⁴⁶ SIX (Scandinavian Information Exchange) is a Swedish company that delivers financial information to financial market actors and media.

⁴⁷ Accounting numbers (if not in SEK) have been converted to SEK using exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. The exchange rates are obtained from the EcoWIN database.

shares is constant over the quarters. This assumption is not valid if there have been splits, new issues or share repurchases during the year. In order to avoid large problems with this assumption I have scanned the data and adjusted observations that were obviously affected by splits, issues and repurchases. In order to get monthly observations of *market cap* I then assume that the quarterly market capitalization is constant over the months of each quarter.⁴⁸

1.3 Overall test design

The test design used in this paper follows prior studies on PEAD and returns momentum. Especially the study by Bernard and Thomas (1989) has, in many ways, been guiding the test design in the present study. Their study is considered to be of very high methodological quality.⁴⁹

The most common way to investigate whether there is a drift subsequent to the release of value relevant information is to formulate a trading strategy based on that information. If the new information is rapidly and correctly incorporated into stock prices it will not be possible to gain any risk-adjusted return to such a strategy. When testing for the existence of PEAD, a common test design is to formulate a trading strategy based on the announced quarterly earnings. Since it is only the part of earnings that is new to the market that will have any effect on prices, the strategy is based on the unexpected earnings. The trading strategy implemented in this study rests on the following overall logic: every quarter when the earnings are announced the firms are ranked according to the size of the unexpected earnings and assigned to ten different portfolios. A long position is taken in the portfolio with the highest unexpected earnings ("good news") and a short position is taken in the portfolio with the lowest unexpected earnings ("bad news").50 Portfolio return is then measured for holding periods of six and twelve months. In addition, the return from a combined portfolio, a hedge portfolio, is measured. The hedge portfolio is the long position financed by the short position. If the return to the hedge portfolio is positive and

⁴⁸ This measure of monthly *market cap* is not perfect and could be considered to be quite stale. But, since the measure has been used as a size proxy, for scaling other variables or value-weighting returns, I do not believe that this measurement has affected the results in any systematic way.

⁴⁹ Bernard and Thomas (1989) showed abnormal yearly returns of about 8% from a trading strategy, taking long positions in firms reporting unexpectedly high earnings and short positions in firms reporting unexpectedly low earnings. They also showed that it takes about six months for the prices to adjust to the new earnings information.

⁵⁰ The strategy involves taking positions in the two extreme portfolios of the distribution of unexpected earnings. Depending on the distribution of unexpected earnings, the long position thus contains stocks with the highest (most positive) unexpected earnings *or* the least negative unexpected earnings (if all announced earnings are below expectations). Similarly, the short position contains stocks with the lowest (least positive) unexpected earnings (if all announced earnings are above expectations) or the most negative unexpected earnings. For simplicity, the extreme portfolios are described as the ones with the highest and lowest unexpected earnings.

statistically significant it is an indication of quarterly earnings announcements being followed by a drift in prices.

It is important that the trading strategy would be possible to implement in real life. As a consequence any hindsight bias must be avoided. In this study I avoid this bias by forming the portfolios the first day of the quarter subsequent to the calendar quarter when earnings are announced. This guarantees that the unexpected earnings of *all* firms are available when the firms are ranked and divided into portfolios. This calendar-approach, which follows Chan *et al.* (1996), also facilitates the construction of a self-financed portfolio since the long and the short position are taken simultaneously.

Since a number of earnings observations are needed for the estimation of unexpected earnings, it has not been possible to form portfolios for the beginning of the sample period.⁵¹ In addition, the cross-section of observations with non-missing values of both unexpected earnings and announcement date must not be too small. In order for the strategy, taking positions in the top and bottom of the distribution of unexpected earnings, to be meaningful I have only implemented the strategy in quarters with more than 40 observations in the cross-section. As an implication, the portfolio strategy has been implemented in 28 quarters; from Q3-1997 to Q2-2004.

1.4 Measure of earnings surprise

The PEAD phenomenon implies that there is a drift in prices in the same direction as the announced earnings surprise. Consequently, it is necessary to define a measure of earnings surprise (or unexpected earnings).⁵² Earnings surprise is the difference between the reported earnings and the earnings that the market expected prior to the announcement. There are a number of ways to operationalize the market's expectations and I have in this study chosen to use a time-series model approach following previous research (e.g., Foster, 1977; Foster *et al.*, 1984; Bernard and Thomas, 1989).⁵³

Foster *et al.* (1984) and Bernard and Thomas (1989), used a simple AR(1) model that considers the first autocorrelation between seasonal differences, and so have I done in this study. Following Bernard and Thomas (1990) and Liu *et al.* (2003), I have also included an intercept as a trend term.

⁵¹ The estimation of SUE is described in the following section.

⁵² In this paper I use "earnings surprise" and "unexpected earnings" interchangeably.

⁵³ Another alternative is to measure the market's expectations by analyst consensus forecasts of earnings, following for example Liu *et al.* (2003). Consensus forecasts of quarterly earnings are not available on a large scale for Swedish firms in any of the standard databases for the time period studied.

$$\left[Ear_{i,t} - Ear_{i,t-4}\right] = \alpha_i + \beta_i \times \left[Ear_{i,t-4} - Ear_{i,t-8}\right] + \varepsilon_i$$

(1.1)

where:

$Ear_{i,t} =$	quarterly earnings (before extraordinary items) of firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> ,
$\alpha_i =$	firm-specific intercept,
$\beta_{i,t} =$	autoregressive term for firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> ,
$\varepsilon_{i,t} =$	residual for firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> .

The variables in the model, the seasonal differences, are the differences between quarterly earnings that are one year apart, where earnings are defined as earnings before extraordinary items.⁵⁴ The model has been estimated on a firm-specific level in order to get firm-specific parameter estimates that can be used to forecast quarterly earnings for each firm. In these estimations I use a rolling window (following Bernard and Thomas, 1989) with the nine most recent seasonal differences in quarterly earnings.⁵⁵ Since I, in the estimation, only use data on quarterly earnings prior to the quarter I want to forecast, hindsight bias is avoided. This method also allows the parameter estimates for each firm to vary over the sample period. When the parameters of the forecasting model have been estimated, forecasts of quarterly earnings (expected earnings) are generated for each firm-quarter.⁵⁶

A total of 1896 earnings forecasts were generated and when subtracting the earnings actually reported the sample was restricted to 1852 observations on unexpected earnings. The mean, maximum and minimum of both forecasted earnings and unexpected earnings are reported in Table 1.2.

Variable	Nr Obs.	Mean	Std Dev	Min	Max
forecasted earnings	1896	432.36	1850.55	-16190.74	30192.82
unexpected earnings	1852	14.35	1746	-28925.82	26748.84
SUE	1852	0.08	2.96	-63.09	42.88

Table 1.2. Descriptive statistics of forecasted earnings, unexpected earnings and SUE (MSEK)

(i) This table reports descriptive statistics for forecasted earnings, unexpected earnings and standardized unexpected earnings (SUE).

(ii) forecasted earnings are calculated with firm-specific parameter estimates from an AR(1)-model in seasonal differences, estimated with a rolling window of 9 observations. *unexpected earnings* are the forecasted earnings minus the earnings reported for the same quarter. Standardized unexpected earnings (SUE) are the unexpected earnings divided by the standard deviation of forecasted earnings.

⁵⁴ It is in prior research more common to use earnings per share (EPS), when estimating expected earnings. Due to data restrictions on this variable, this has not been done in this study.

⁵⁵ Bernard and Thomas (1989) use a maximum of 24 observations and a minimum of 16 observations and Foster (1977) use a maximum of 20 observations and a minimum of 10 observations. Liu *et al.* (2003) use a minimum of 9 observations in their estimations.

⁵⁶ In this study I use "earnings forecast" and "expected earnings" interchangeably.

The mean unexpected earnings are 14.35 MSEK and the standard deviation is very high. This could be an indication of the forecasting model not working very well. It could also be an effect of the large size differences in the sample. In order to alleviate the problem of heteroskedasticity I have used a scaling factor to scale the unexpected earnings. I follow Bernard and Thomas (1989) and Liu *et al.* (2003) and use the standard deviation of expected earnings as the scaling factor of unexpected earnings. The logic of this measure is that, the more certain the forecast is (low standard deviation), the stronger is the surprise signal. In this sense, the measure of unexpected earnings is standardized and is thus referred to as *standardized unexpected earnings* (SUE).⁵⁷

The expression of SUE is consequently:

$$SUE_{i,t} = \frac{Ear_{i,t} - E_{i,t-1}[Ear_{i,t}]}{\sigma_{i,t}}$$

$$(1.2)$$

where:

$SUE_{i,t} =$	standardized unexpected earnings for firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> ,
$Ear_{i,t} =$	reported quarterly earnings for firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> ,
$E_{i,t-1}[] =$	expected value of [] for firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> -1,
$\sigma_{i,t} =$	standard deviation of expected earnings for firm <i>i</i> in quarter <i>t</i> .

Descriptive statistics for the SUE measure is reported in Table 1.2.

1.5 Measures of return

Two return metrics have been used to evaluate the profitability of the SUE portfolios. First, the buy-and-hold returns (BHARs) for different holding periods have been calculated. The BHARs of the long, short and hedge portfolios are displayed in a classic PEAD graph following the spirit of Bernard and Thomas (1989). Second, for statistical inference I follow Chan *et al.* (1996) and use the intercept of monthly calendar-time regressions as a measure of the average monthly return to the PEAD

⁵⁷ Another common scaling factor is the market capitalization (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1990; Bernard *et al.*, 1997). It turns out that the SUE measure that is scaled by the standard deviation of expected earnings is highly correlated with the SUE measure that is scaled by *market cap* (a Spearman rank correlation of 0.89, not reported in this paper). The two measures thus seem to be equivalent. But, since there is a larger number of missing observations for *market cap* in the sample, I have chosen to use the SUE measure with the standard deviation as a scalar. In their study Bernard and Thomas (1990) find that the two approaches yield similar magnitudes of the drift. Results using SUE scaled by *market cap* are reported in Table 1.B.1 Appendix 1.B.

strategy. In these regressions, expected return is estimated either through CAPM (Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965) or with a three-factor model (Fama and French, 1993). As a final step, a fourth factor is included in order to control for the momentum effect (e.g., Carhart, 1997; Chan *et al.*, 1996).

1.5.1 Buy-and-hold return

The simple monthly net return for stock *i* can be expressed as:

$$R_{i,t} = \frac{P_{i,t} + DIV_{i,t}}{P_{i,t-1}} - 1$$
(1.3)

where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} R_{i,t} = & \text{net return of share } i \text{ at time } t, \\ P_{i,t} = & \text{price of share } i \text{ at time } t, \\ DIV_{i,t} = & \text{net dividend of share } i \text{ at time } t. \end{array}$

Monthly net return for each firm is used as the main return metric. Before compounding the returns over longer holding periods (to produce the PEAD graph), a rough adjustment for expected monthly return is made.⁵⁸ Following Bernard *et al.* (1997) I use a value-weighted market index (*market return*) as a proxy for expected return.⁵⁹ The difference between net return and expected return is labeled abnormal return:

$$AR_{i,t} = R_{i,t} - Rm_t$$

where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} AR_{i,t} = & \text{abnormal return of share } i \text{ at time } l, \\ R_{i,t} = & \text{net return of share } i \text{ at time } l, \\ Rm_t = & \text{market return, the net return of a value-weighted index at time } l. \end{array}$

47

(1.4)

⁵⁸ In some BHAR measures the expected return is deducted after compounding returns.

⁵⁹ There are other alternative proxies for expected return. Bernard and Thomas (1989) used a matching technique, using the return to a portfolio of firms from the same size decile as the event firm. They do this to control for the size effect first noted by Banz (1981). I control for the size effect later in this paper.

The abnormal returns are then compounded over different holding periods; from 1 month up to 12 months.⁶⁰

$$BHAR_{i,T} = \prod_{t=1}^{T} (1 + AR_{i,t}) - 1$$
(1.5)

where:

 $BHAR_{i,T} =$ buy-and-hold return of firm *i* for holding period *T*,T =holding period measured in months. T = 1, 2, ..., 12., $AR_{i,t} =$ abnormal return of share *i* at time *t*.

The shares in the SUE portfolios are equally-weighted, so that the portfolio return is the mean return of the shares in that portfolio. The portfolio BHAR is thus:

$$BHAR_{p,T} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} BHAR_{i,T}$$

(1.6)

where:

 $BHAR_{p,T}$ =buy-and-hold return of portfolio p after T months,p =type of portfolio, p = 1 (SHORT), 2, ..., 9, 10 (LONG),N =number of firms in portfolio p, i = 1, 2, ..., N., $BHAR_{i,T}$ =buy-and-hold return of share i after T months.

Note that there are ten portfolios and that portfolio p = 1 is also called the SHORT position and p = 10 is called the LONG position, which mirrors that the strategy implies taking a short position in the decile with the lowest SUE and a long position in the decile with the highest SUE.

When implementing the zero-cost portfolio strategy, a short position in one portfolio finances a long position in another portfolio, so that the cost of investing in the combined portfolio is zero. I refer to this combined portfolio as a PEAD portfolio. To evaluate the return of the PEAD portfolio for holding period T, the BHAR of the short position is subtracted from the BHAR of the long position.

⁶⁰ Bernard and Thomas (1989) sum abnormal returns over time, but in a footnote (page 7) they mention that compounded returns give practically the same results.

$BHAR_{PEAD,T} = BHAR_{LONG,T} - BHAR_{SHORT,T}$

(1.7)

where:

 $BHAR_{PEAD,T}$ BHAR of a PEAD portfolio with holding period T, $BHAR_{LONG,T}$ BHAR of a LONG portfolio with holding period T, $BHAR_{SHORT,T}$ BHAR of a SHORT portfolio with holding period T,Tholding period measured in months. T1, 2, ..., 12.

Throughout the entire sample period the strategy is implemented 28 times and thus generates a series of BHARs for the portfolios PEAD, LONG and SHORT.

$$\{BHAR_{PEAD,T,f}; f = 1, 2, 3, \dots, 28\}; T = 1, 2, \dots, 12. \\ \{BHAR_{LONG,T,f}; f = 1, 2, 3, \dots, 28\}; T = 1, 2, \dots, 12. \\ \{BHAR_{SHORT,T,f}; f = 1, 2, 3, \dots, 28\}; T = 1, 2, \dots, 12. \end{cases}$$

20

where:

$$T =$$
holding period measured in months. T = 1, 2, ..., 12., $f =$ formation date. $f = 1, 2, ..., 28$. where $f = 1$ is Q3 1997 and $f = 28$ is Q2 2004.

When evaluating the whole sample period I calculate a total mean for each of the positions:

$$BHAR_{pos,T} = \frac{1}{28} \sum_{f=1}^{28} BHAR_{pos,T,f}$$
(1.8)

where:

$$BHAR_{pos,T}$$
 =mean BHAR of all portfolios of the same position, pos =type of position of the portfolio, pos \in {PEAD, LONG, SHORT}, f =formation date. f = 1, 2, ..., 28. where f = 1 is Q3 1997 and f = 28 is Q2 2004, T =end of the holding period. T = 1, 2, ..., 12.

In Figure 1.1, these total BHAR means for the positions PEAD, LONG and SHORT are displayed for holding periods 1 to 12 months in a classic PEAD graph.

The advantage of the BHAR measure is that it mimics investor experience, noted by Barber and Lyon (1997). It does not require monthly rebalancing of the portfolio as is assumed when using a CAR measure where the monthly abnormal returns are summed. However, the BHARs can, as pointed out by Mitchell and Stafford (2000), give a false impression on the adjustment speed.⁶¹ Even though there is no additional difference between the returns of the event firm and the benchmark firm in a specific period, the method might give an impression of additional abnormal return being generated in that period. Fama (1998) gives an example: after the first year subsequent to the event, the return to the event firm is 10% and 0% for the benchmark firm, i.e. the value of the event firm is now 1.1 compared to the benchmark firm, which still has a value of 1.0. BHAR is thus 10% after the first year. Now suppose that for the second year the value of both the event firm and the benchmark firm increases by 300%, that is, they increase exactly the same. The value of the event firm is thus after two years 3.3 ($1.1 \times 300\%$) and for the benchmark firm it is 3.0 ($1.0 \times 300\%$). After two years, the return of the event firm is then 330% (3.3/1.0), whereas it is 300% for the benchmark firm (3.0/1.0). BHAR will thus be 30% after two years (330%-300%), compared to 10% after one year. Consequently, even though there was no increase in the difference between the event firm and the benchmark firm during the second year, the BHAR measure might give a false impression that additional abnormal return was earned during the second year. Consequently, making inferences from the BHARs about when the abnormal return is generated, might lead to erroneous conclusions.

In addition to the problems mentioned above, the measure of BHAR does not lend itself easily to statistical inferences. For example Mitchell and Stafford (2000) have shown that the distribution of firm-specific BHARs are skewed and generally not centered on zero. In addition, the series of BHARs suffers from overlapping observations which introduces the problem of autocorrelation. One solution, used by for example Ikenberry *et al.* (1995), is to use a bootstrapping procedure which provides an empirical distribution under the null hypothesis of no abnormal return which can be used for statistical testing.

Despite the problems of the BHAR measure, I have chosen to use this measure because of its advantage of mimicking investor behavior. Further, I have only used the BHAR measure to study the drift graphically and do not draw conclusions from this graph about the adjustment speed. Therefore, I do not believe the potential problems of the BHAR metric to distort the conclusions drawn in this study. When testing for the PEAD statistically I have used monthly calendar-time regressions which are proposed by Fama (1998) to control for the problems above.

⁶¹ Another problem, pointed out by Fama (1998) arises if one deducts the measure of expected returns after compounding over time. As Fama discussed, for longer time horizons it is not possible to use asset-pricing models to measure expected returns, which is a limitation. Expected returns must be modeled by using the return of a benchmark firm or portfolio.

1.5.2 Calendar-time regressions

As a starting point I use each firm's monthly return and then calculate equallyweighted portfolio means as follows:

$$R_{p,t} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_{i,t}$$

where:

$R_{i,t} =$	net return of share <i>i</i> at month <i>t</i> ,
$R_{p,t} =$	net return of portfolio <i>p</i> at month <i>t</i> ,
p =	type of portfolio, <i>p</i> = 1 (<i>SHORT</i>), 2,, 9, 10 (<i>LONG</i>),
t =	month after formation date. $t = 1, 2,, 12$.

Note that these portfolio returns are not equivalent to the BHAR above, but rather an average monthly portfolio return.⁶²

In the regressions, the focus is on portfolios 1 and 10, equivalent to the SHORT and LONG position. As before, the PEAD position is a combined portfolio of the LONG position minus the SHORT position. Monthly regressions, described below, are run for each of the three positions.

The mean monthly portfolio return in equation (1.9) above is calculated for the twelve months following formation date, which means that I get twelve monthly observations for each portfolio for each formation date. When running the regression on all portfolios with the same position I thus get $12 \times 28 = 336$ observations of monthly portfolio return.

This is a slight difference compared to how the regression is implemented by Chan *et al.* (1996). I have kept all the 28 strategies with different formation dates separate, whereas Chan *et al.* (1996) weighed them all together to get one portfolio return for every calendar month. With a holding period of twelve months I have four overlapping portfolios every calendar month. I show in Table 1.B.1 in Appendix 1.B that using the method exactly like Chan *et al.* (1996) yields the same results. I have however chosen to present the results with my alternative regressions, holding the 28 strategies separate, since this is in line with the results reported in Figure 1.2.

The dependent variable in the calendar-time regressions is *portfolio excess return*, which is defined as the portfolio return minus the monthly risk-free interest rate (following Chan *et al.*, 1996). As a first test I regress the dependent variable on a

(1.9)

⁶² Since the portfolio mean is calculated for each month, this average monthly portfolio return assumes that the portfolios are rebalanced every month to keep the weights equal.

constant to see if the intercept is significant.⁶³ This intercept is obviously not a measure of "abnormal return", but a way to test the significance of the portfolio returns in excess of the risk-free rate. This regression model is denoted Model 1 in the following tables.

$$R_{p,t,f} - Rf_t = \alpha + C + \varepsilon$$

(1.10)

where:

$R_{p,t,f} =$	portfolio return at month t of a portfolio with position p and formation date f ,
p =	type of portfolio, $p = 1$ (SHORT), 2,, 9, 10 (LONG),
f =	formation date. $f = 1, 2,, 28$. where $f = 1$ is Q3 1997 and $f = 28$ is Q2 2004,
$Rf_t =$	monthly risk-free rate, return of a 1-month Swedish Treasury Bill,
C =	constant factor.

Second, the monthly portfolio excess returns are regressed on the excess market return (RMRF), which is the risk factor as described by CAPM (Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965). This regression model is denoted Model 2 in the following tables.

$$R_{p,t,f} - Rf_t = \alpha^{capm} + \beta^{capm} RMRF_t + \varepsilon^{capm}$$

where:

$R_{p,t,f} =$	portfolio return at month t of a portfolio with position p and formation date f ,
p =	type of portfolio, $p = 1$ (SHORT), 2,, 9, 10 (LONG),
f =	formation date. $f = 1, 2,, 28$. where $f = 1$ is Q3 1997 and $f = 28$ is Q2 2004,
$Rf_t =$	monthly risk-free rate, return of a 1-month Swedish Treasury Bill,
$RMRF_t =$	excess market return: $R_m - Rf$.

Third, the monthly portfolio excess returns are run in a three-factor model following Fama and French (1993).⁶⁴ This regression model is denoted Model 3 in the following tables.

⁶³ This approach is also used in Brooks (2002).

⁶⁴ No asset pricing model can fully explain the cross-section of average returns. The Fama-French three-factor model which is the most widely used asset-pricing model comes a long way, but still has difficulties explaining the size effect in the lowest book-to-market portfolios. This was pointed out by Fama (1998) as well as by Fama and French (1993), and they conclude that the three-factor model does not even explain return differences along the dimensions that the model's risk factors were designed to explain. Despite its known deficiencies this is the most established asset-pricing model.

$$R_{p,t,f} - Rf_t = \alpha^{3f} + b^{3f} RMRF_t + s^{3f} SMB_t + h^{3f} HML_t + \varepsilon^{3f}$$

where:

$R_{p,t,f} =$	portfolio return at month t of a portfolio with position p and formation date f ,
p =	type of portfolio, $p = 1$ (SHORT), 2,, 9, 10 (LONG),
f =	formation date. $f = 1, 2,, 28$. where $f = 1$ is Q3 1997 and $f = 28$ is Q2 2004,
$Rf_t =$	monthly risk-free rate, return of a Swedish Treasury Bill (30 day),
$RMRF_t =$	excess market return: $R_m - Rf$,
$SMB_t =$	monthly return of a hedge portfolio based on size (market cap),
$HML_t =$	monthly return of a hedge portfolio based on book-to-market.

Following Fama and French (1993) I estimate the factors *SMB* and *HML* as follows. The SMB portfolios are based on firm size, measured as market capitalization (the share price times the number of shares outstanding). Firms are ranked on *market cap* by June 30 each year and then divided into two portfolios; portfolio Big and portfolio Small. The SMB factor is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio minus the monthly return of the Big portfolio. Monthly returns are measured from July 1 and 12 months ahead.

The HML portfolios are based on book-to-market (book value of equity divided by market capitalization). Firms are ranked on book-to-market by December 31 each year and divided into three portfolios; portfolio Value (high book-to-market), portfolio Neutral and portfolio Growth (low book-to-market). The HML factor is the monthly value-weighted return of the Value portfolio minus the monthly return of the Growth portfolio. Monthly returns are measured from July 1 (six months after portfolio formation) and 12 months ahead.

The regression models 1, 2 and 3 above, i.e. equations (1.10), (1.11) and (1.12), are run for the long and the short positions. In addition, the following regressions are run with the hedge returns of the PEAD position as the dependent variable.⁶⁵

$$R_{PEAD,t,f} = \alpha + C + \varepsilon \tag{1.13}$$

$$R_{PEAD,t,f} = \alpha^{capm} + \beta^{capm} RMRF_t + \varepsilon^{capm}$$
(1.14)

$$R_{PEAD,t,f} = \alpha^{3f} + b^{3f} RMRF_t + s^{3f} SMB_t + h^{3f} HML_t + \varepsilon^{3f}$$
(1.15)

The estimated coefficients for the portfolios LONG, SHORT and PEAD are reported in Table 1.3.

⁶⁵ The variable definitions are the same as for regression models 1, 2 and 3 above.

1.6 Results

Figure 1.1 presents the classic PEAD graph.⁶⁶ It displays the mean buy-and-hold abnormal return (market-adjusted) for each of the positions LONG, SHORT and PEAD (LONG-SHORT) for one to twelve months after portfolio formation.





By looking at the graph, it seems like there is indeed a drift in BHAR after the announcement of quarterly earnings in the Swedish stock market. The mean BHAR of all the PEAD positions over the sample period seems to be about 12% after a holding period of twelve months. This indicates that it is on average possible to earn a market-adjusted return of 12% with a trading strategy that takes a long position in the decile of firms with the highest SUE and a short position in the decile of firms with the lowest SUE. It is worth noting that most of the return comes from the long position which has a BHAR of about 10% over twelve months, whereas the short position seems to be only slightly below zero. It also seems like most of the return to the PEAD position is generated in the middle of the holding period. The low returns in the first three months diverge from the results of Bernard and Thomas (1989). They find a cumulative abnormal return to the hedge portfolio of about 4.2% during the

⁶⁶ The PEAD graph in Bernard and Thomas (1989) is constructed in event-time whereas my positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the SUE was announced in order to ensure that the trading strategy is implementable. If the drift starts right after the day of the earnings announcement, I consequently lose some power in my tests compared to Bernard and Thomas (1989).

first 60 trading days (approximately 3 calendar months).⁶⁷ However, Figure 1.1 should be interpreted with caution since the BHAR metric, as noted previously, might give a false impression of when abnormal return is generated.

Before investigating the drift in more detail, I test the statistical significance and make sure that the observed return is not just a compensation for risk. If the long position and the short position have different risk exposure, the hedge position will also be exposed to risk and the hedge return might be a reward for taking on that risk. I run the monthly portfolio returns (twelve month holding period) in three different regressions; with a constant as the explaining variable (Model 1), with the *excess market return* (*RMRF*) as the explaining variable (Model 2) and finally with *RMRF*, *SMB* and *HML* as the explaining variables (Model 3). In Table 1.3 the coefficients of the calendar-time return regressions are reported for the positions LONG, SHORT and PEAD respectively.

⁶⁷ This comparison of results assumes that my rough risk-adjustment (adjusting for market return) is working equally well as the risk-adjustment made by Bernard and Thomas (1989) (adjusting for return on a portfolio from the same size decile).

	Positi	ion LONG (high !	SUE)	Posit	ion SHORT (low	SUE)	Position]	PEAD (LONG-S	SHORT)
Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
intercept	0.011***	0.008***	0.007***	0.003	0.000	-0.002	0.009**	0.009**	0.009**
t-Stat	(3.07)	(3.24)	(2.74)	(0.65)	(-0.06)	(-0.60)	(2.39)	(2.33)	(2.29)
RMRF		0.584^{***}	0.692^{***}		0.542^{***}	0.664^{***}		0.042	0.028
t-Stat		(18.69)	(18.07)		(15.03)	(14.76)		(0.95)	(0.48)
SMB			0.075			0.140 **			-0.065
t-Stat			(1.28)			(2.04)			(-0.74)
HML			0.143^{***}			0.089*			0.054
t-Stat			(3.24)			(1.70)			(0.82)
Z	336	336	336	336	336	336	336	336	336
Adj. R2	0.000	0.510	0.559	0.000	0.402	0.442	0.000	0.000	-0.004

É 4 £ 1.2 -1-11. ÷ ł ÷ 4 . ţ 1:1-27 -ų g ζ T.L1.1.2

(i) Position LONG is a long position in the decile with the highest SUE and Position SHORT is a short position in the decile with the lowest SUE. Position PEAD is the combined hedge portfolio (LONG minus SHORD). All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced and held for twelve months.

(ii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio excess returns (monthly portfolio return minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill).

(iii) The explanatory variables are defined as follows: *RMRF* is the excess market return measured as the return of the Morgan Stanky Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; *SMB* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months. HML is the monthly value-weighted return of the Value portfolio (low market-to-book) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months. N is the number of observations.

(iv) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.
From Table 1.3 it can be noted that for the PEAD position the intercept in regression Model 1 has a t-value of 2.39 which is significant on a 5%-level. It indicates a monthly return of 0.9%. Compounded over a year this is equivalent to about 11% in return and it thus confirms the results from Figure 1.1. From Models 2 and 3 it is also clear that the monthly return to the PEAD position is robust to risk factors such as described by CAPM and the three-factor model by Fama and French (1993). Neither the excess market return, the return on the SMB portfolios nor the return on the HML portfolios can explain the return of the PEAD position.

It is also confirmed in Table 1.3 that the return to the PEAD position is generated by the long position. The average monthly return to position LONG is 0.7% when controlling for risk factors, whereas the average monthly return to position SHORT is not significant in any of the three regressions. For both the long and short positions the loading on *RMRF* is highly significant. It should also be noted that the *beta* is almost the same for the two positions, which is also confirmed by the insignificant beta in the regression for the hedge position. This is an indication that the two positions have similar risk exposure in terms of co-movement with the overall market. Regarding the co-movement with the SMB and HML factors, the two positions differ slightly. The long position can be an effect of stocks with high book-to-market. In contrast, the short position has a significant loading on the SMB factor, indicating that the returns to this position partially can be explained by a size effect. However, in the combined portfolio, the long and short positions seem to control for each other in terms of these risk exposures.

Overall, the results from Table 1.3 strengthen the results from Figure 1.1: there are strong indications of a post-earnings announcement drift in the Swedish stock market.⁶⁸ A PEAD trading strategy implemented in the Swedish stock market seems to be able to generate a yearly abnormal return which is in line with what has been found in other stock markets. Bernard *et al.* (1997) showed that the PEAD strategy implemented on a US sample on average earned 6.3% over four quarters. The strategy implemented by Forner *et al.* (2009) on a Spanish sample of firms earned an average cumulative return of 7.3% over twelve months. Liu *et al.* (2003) found a hedge return of 10.8% over the twelve months following the earnings announcement in their study of the PEAD in the UK market.

Bernard *et al.* (1997) propose yet another way to evaluate a trading strategy: to study how many of the times the strategy is implemented it succeeds and how many times it fails. Figure 1.2 presents the BHAR (with a holding period of twelve months) for the PEAD position for each of the 28 formation periods.

⁶⁸ In Table 1.B.1 in Appendix 1.B the results from calendar-time regressions implemented as in Chan *et al.* (1996) are presented. The pattern is the same as in Table 1.3, but the coefficients are now only significant on a 10%-level which is an effect of a lower number of observations.





It can graphically be noted that most of the returns are positive. Out of the 28 quarters when the trading strategy is implemented, it gains a positive return in 20 quarters and a negative return in eight quarters. Additionally, it can be noted that in nine quarters the hedge return is more than 15%, but when the strategy loses, only at two times does it lose more than 15%. A statistical test also shows that if the 28 "trials" can be considered independent and the underlying probability of the strategy succeeding is 50%, the probability of succeeding more than 19 out of 28 trials is only about 1.8%.⁶⁹ The success of the strategy can thus not be explained by chance and this adds to the robustness of the results.

As described earlier, the regressions have only been run on extreme portfolios (the highest and lowest deciles). In order to get a more nuanced picture I present in Table 1.4 some descriptive statistics for all the ten portfolios and their average monthly return (with a holding period of twelve months) during the sample period.

⁶⁹ Assuming a binomial distribution.

Portfolio SU	E Return
1 (SHORT) -3.562	(-28.04) 0.004 (0.60)
2 -1.213	(-25.75) 0.008 (1.65)
3 -0.624	(-18.04) 0.012 (2.21)
4 -0.268	(-9.60) 0.011 (2.02)
5 -0.041	(-1.81) 0.006 (1.11)
6 0.189	(9.73) 0.007 (1.33)
7 0.423	(22.42) 0.007 (1.22)
8 0.739	(35.83) 0.009 (1.44)
9 1.308	(42.49) 0.010 (1.74)
10 (LONG) 4.515	(20.30) 0.011 (1.84)

 Table 1.4. Mean SUE and mean monthly return for decile portfolios ranked on SUE.

 Sample period 1990-2005.

(i) This table reports descriptive statistics for decile portfolios formed on SUE (t-statistics in parentheses). Portfolios are formed at the first day of the quarter preceding the quarter when the earnings are announced. SUE is measured as [Reported Earnings - Expected Earnings]/std of Expected Earnings. Expected Earnings are measured through a firm-specific time-series model of seasonal differences with a rolling window of nine observations. Return is the average monthly equal-weighted portfolio return over the whole sample period (96 months). Holding period is twelve months.

Indeed, Table 1.4 gives a more nuanced picture. The short position (with the lowest/most negative SUE) also has the lowest average monthly return following the earnings announcement and the long position has the highest average monthly return. However, there is no monotonic rise in returns from the lowest to the highest SUE portfolio. This pattern indicates that the drift might not be very robust in the Swedish market. It might also be an effect of the small sample. Each SUE portfolio consists of a maximum of ten stocks, and during some periods only four stocks are included in the same SUE portfolio. That means that small variations in returns have large effects on the portfolio return.⁷⁰

In order to investigate the possible effect of size, the monthly regressions have been run on value-weighted SUE portfolios as well. When SUE portfolios are valueweighted each stock gets a weight in proportion to its market capitalization (*market cap* is lagged one month to avoid hindsight bias). Consequently, larger stocks get a higher weight. In Table 1.B.1 in the appendix the results of this regression are presented. It turns out that the coefficient for the PEAD position is no longer significant on a reasonable level and I conclude that the results reported in Table 1.3 are mainly driven by small stocks in the extreme portfolios, which is in line with the results of Bernard and Thomas (1990).

I can conclude that the trading strategy of taking a long position in the decile of the highest SUE and a short position in the decile with the lowest SUE, on average is profitable during the sample period. After controlling for conventional risk factors, the monthly average return to the hedge portfolio is 0.9%. However, the strategy is not risk-free. As can been seen in Table 1.B.1 in the appendix, the results are sensitive to

⁷⁰ In Table 1.B.1 in the appendix results for portfolios formed on quintiles are reported and the abnormal return is no longer significant.

the use of quintiles instead of deciles in portfolio formation. In addition, the return to the PEAD position is not significant if a holding period of six months is used instead of twelve months.⁷¹

Still the main results indicate that there is a post-earnings announcement drift in Sweden and this confirms the results of studies in other European markets. As an outof-sample test this study thus dismisses "data-snooping" as an explanation for the previously observed drift after earnings announcements. The drift subsequent to the announcement of earnings news seems to be a robust phenomenon.

If the momentum effect and PEAD are indeed manifestations of the same phenomenon the finding of PEAD in the Swedish market is surprising. Either the link between returns momentum and PEAD should be reconsidered, or prior studies on momentum in Sweden are sample-specific. Before investigating this further, I test for the momentum effect as a fourth factor in the calendar-time regressions, following Carhart (1997) and Chordia and Shivakumar (2006).⁷²

The studies that have not been able to confirm a momentum effect in Sweden all follow Jegadeesh and Titman (1993) and rank firms on past six months returns and hold them for six months. I have constructed my momentum factor in the same way to be able to compare the results.⁷³

As can been seen from Table 1.5, the momentum factor (*MOM*), when included as a fourth factor in the regressions, is not significant. Since the holding period for the PEAD positions is also six months, the intercept is barely significant on a 10%-level (as previously reported in Table 1.B.1). In Table 1.B.2 in the appendix I also present results from a trading strategy based only on returns momentum. Here a long position is taken in the decile of stocks with the highest past return and a short position is taken in stocks with the lowest past return. The table shows that, with a holding period of six months, the return to such a hedge portfolio is not significant after controlling for risk factors suggested in CAPM or in a three-factor model. This confirms the results about the Swedish market found in Rouwenhorst (1998), Griffin *et al.* (2003), Doukas and McKnight (2005), Söderström (2007) and Novak (2008).

⁷¹ The results of all robustness checks are summarized in Table 1.B.1 in the appendix.

 $^{^{72}}$ An alternative would to be to follow Chan *et al.* (1996) and test the two momentum strategies by a double sorting of stocks. Due to the small number of firms in the cross-section this is not possible in this study.

⁷³ To be consistent with the PEAD-strategy I also form the momentum factors based on decile portfolios.

-		5),		
Variable		Position LONG (High SUE)	Position SHORT (Low SUE)	Position PEAD (LONG-SHORT)
intercept		0.007**	-0.001	0.008
<i>t-</i> .	-Stat	(2.16)	(-0.20)	(1.63)
RMRF		0.666***	0.590***	0.076
<i>t-</i> .	-Stat	(12.20)	(9.21)	(0.94)
SMB		0.151*	0.097	0.054
<i>t-</i> .	-Stat	(1.90)	(1.04)	(0.46)
HML		0.148**	0.067	0.080
<i>t-</i> .	-Stat	(2.45)	(0.97)	(0.92)
MOM		-0.060	-0.057	0.003
<i>t</i>	-Stat	(-1.58)	(-1.28)	(-0.05)
Ν		168	168	168
Adj. R2		0.569	0.447	-0.002

Table 1.5. Coefficient estimates from calendar-time portfolio returns regressions for a PEAD trading strategy, with a holding period of six months. Sample period 1990 - 2005.

(i) Position LONG is a long position in the decile with the highest SUE and Position SHORT is a short position in the decile with the lowest SUE. Position PEAD is the combined hedge portfolio (LONG minus SHORT). All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced and held for six months.

(ii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio excess returns (monthly portfolio return minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill). The explanatory variables are defined as follows: *RMRF* is the excess market return minus the return of the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; *SMB* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio (low market cap) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; *HML* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; *MOM* is the monthly equal-weighted return to hedge portfolios (with holding period six months), taking a long position in the decile with the highest past six months returns and a short position in the decile with the lowest past six months return. N is the number of observations.

(iii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

However, when extending the holding period from six months to twelve months for both the PEAD position and the momentum factor, the results change noticeably.

The momentum factor is now highly significant, as can be seen in Table 1.6.⁷⁴ The return to the PEAD position is still significant on a 10%-level, though slightly subsumed by the momentum factor. It can thus be concluded that there is *both* a momentum effect and a post-earnings announcement drift present in the Swedish stock market. These results thus contribute to, and in fact alter the view, about what we previously knew about momentum in the Swedish stock market. Sweden is not an exception to other developed stock markets.

⁷⁴ Results from the momentum strategy alone (with a holding period of 12 months) are presented in Table 1.B.2 in the appendix.

	0 0,7	01		
Variable		Position LONG (High SUE)	Position SHORT (Low SUE)	Position PEAD (LONG-SHORT)
intercept		0.008***	0.001	0.007*
	t-Stat	(3.20)	(0.039)	(1.83)
RMRF		0.648***	0.563***	0.085
	t-Stat	(15.48)	(11.77)	(1.34)
SMB		0.081	0.154**	-0.073
	t-Stat	(1.40)	(2.32)	(-0.84)
HML		0.128***	0.055	0.074
	t-Stat	(2.90)	(1.08)	(1.11)
MOM		-0.103**	-0.237***	0.134**
	t-Stat	(-2.47)	(-4.98)	(2.14)
Ν		336	336	336
Adj. R2		0.565	0.479	0.007

Table 1.6. Coefficient estimates from calendar-time portfolio returns regressions for a PEAD trading strategy, with a holding period of twelve months. Sample period 1990 - 2005.

(i) Position LONG is a long position in the decile with the highest SUE and Position SHORT is a short position in the decile with the lowest SUE. Position PEAD is the combined hedge portfolio (LONG minus SHORT). All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced and held for twelve months.

(ii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio excess returns (monthly portfolio return minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill). The explanatory variables are defined as follows: RMRF is the excess market return measured as the return of the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; *SMB* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio (low market cap) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; *HML* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; *MOM* is the monthly equal-weighted return to hedge portfolios (with holding period six months), taking a long position in the decile with highest past six months returns and a short position in the decile with the lowest past six months return. N is the number of observations.

(iii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

The results also confirm the results of Chan *et al.* (1996) and Chordia and Shivakumar (2006), that PEAD and returns momentum are interlinked but not totally subsumed by each other. Additional indication that the two drift effects are interlinked can be seen in Table 1.7. It shows the average *SUE* and *RET-6* (return during six months prior to portfolio formation) for the ten portfolios, ranked on *SUE*. Portfolio 1 with the lowest SUE also has the lowest past return and portfolio 10 with the highest SUE also has the highest past return. The two measures of a firm's performance are thus, as expected, highly correlated.

Portfolio	Mean SUE	Mean RET-6
1 (SHORT) -3	3.562 (-28.04)	0.028 (1.89)
2 -1	.213 (-25.75)	0.063 (4.85)
3 -(0.624 (-18.04)	0.075 (4.81)
4 -	0.268 (-9.60)	0.069 (4.62)
5 -	0.041 (-1.81)	0.058 (4.22)
6	0.189 <i>(9.73)</i>	0.057 <i>(3.93)</i>
7 (0.423 (22.42)	0.057 (3.82)
8 ().739 <i>(35.83)</i>	0.067 <i>(4.13)</i>
9 1	308 (42.49)	0.081 (5.32)
10 (LONG)	l.515 <i>(20.30)</i>	0.109 <i>(6.32)</i>

 Table 1.7. Mean SUE and mean past six months returns for decile portfolios ranked on SUE.

 Sample period 1990 - 2005.

(i) This table reports descriptive statistics for decile portfolios formed on SUE (t-statistics in parentheses). Portfolios are formed at the first day of the quarter preceding the quarter when the SUE is announced. SUE is measured as [Reported Earnings - Expected Earnings]/std of Expected Earnings. Expected Earnings are measured through a firm-specific time-series model of seasonal differences with a rolling window of nine observations. RET-6 is measured as the sum of the six monthly return preceding portfolio formation.

It is worth noting that both PEAD and the momentum effect are weak for a holding period of six months, but highly significant with a holding period of twelve months. This is not in line with previous research of Bernard and Thomas (1989 and 1990) and Chan *et al.* (1996) which has shown that most of the drift occurs within six months of portfolio formation. Another observation in this study is that the average return to the short position is insignificant, both when implementing a PEAD trading strategy (Table 1.3) and a momentum trading strategy (Table 1.B.2). This is not in line with the classic PEAD graph with upward drift after good news and a downward drift after bad news. It is however in line with the empirical findings of some other studies (e.g., Forner *et al.*, 2009; Dische, 2002), indicating that these results are not sample-specific.

It is not within the scope of this study to find explanations for these two observations. However, it is interesting to note to what extent they line up with previously proposed explanations for the drift. For example, given that the drift is driven by psychological biases in information processing (e.g., Barberis *et al.*, 1998), the results of this paper would suggest that Swedish investors for some reason need a longer time to rationally process information. Or alternatively, that potential limits to arbitrage, that prevent rational investors to trade on the drift pattern, evaporates more slowly in the Swedish market. To my knowledge, there is no existing research on how such trading limitations might differ between the Swedish stock market and other stock markets.

Similarly, if the drift is driven by slow diffusion of information as proposed by Hong and Stein (1999), the results of this study must indicate that information diffusion is slower in the Swedish stock market compared to other markets. Arguably, the fact that the mean analyst coverage is quite small in Sweden, which was noted by Doukas and McKnight (2005), supports this speculation. However, it is a subject for further research.

The lack of drift on the short position is interesting since it opens up for an omitted risk factor potentially explaining the drift. If stocks in the short position are exposed to such a risk factor they will be priced so that they yield a higher expected return, consistent with an *upward* drift on this position. Given that the "classic" studies on PEAD report a drift downwards after bad news signals, risk factors have lately not been much considered in the literature. The results of this paper thus identify a need for more empirical research on the short position as well as potential risk factors that might drive the drift in the post-announcement period.

The lack of return on the short position might also be interpreted as support for the explanation that structural uncertainty and investor learning are driving forces behind the drift. Francis et al. (2007) argue that there are two forces of information uncertainty at play; one learning effect and one risk effect. The first effect means that investors over time learn more about the initial earnings signal and as uncertainty resolves around this signal, there is a drift upwards for favorable earnings news and a drift downwards for unfavorable earnings news. The second effect is associated with the compensation for higher information risk. Since both the long and the short position, according to Francis et al. (2007), contain stocks of high information risk the higher return for these stocks will cause a drift upwards for both favorable and unfavorable earnings news. For the long position the effect is unambiguous, but for the short position there are two opposite effects on the drift. In their paper, Francis et al. (2007) hypothesize that the learning effect will be higher than the risk effect, causing a drift downwards for the short position. The results in my paper could however be interpreted as if the risk effect in this case cancels out the learning effect. It is not within the scope of this paper to measure the information uncertainty of the earnings surprise signal, but this empirical observation of the short position could be a subject for future research.

1.7 Conclusions

Due to the lack of available data there is not much research on how Swedish investors react to quarterly accounting information. This paper draws on a partly new dataset of firms, listed during the period of 1990 to 2005, to reveal that there is a drift in stock prices subsequent to the announcement of quarterly earnings. Using this return pattern to adopt a trading strategy, taking a long position in stocks with good news and a short position in stocks with bad news, it is on average possible to generate a return of more than 11% over the twelve months following portfolio formation.

Also shown is that the return gained on the trading strategy is robust within both the CAPM and the three-factor models. The long and the short positions have practically the same exposure to risk as measured by the CAPM-model, so the hedge position is not exposed to risk in that sense. Further, the additional risk factors suggested by Fama and French (1993) do not explain the returns to the hedge portfolios. The results also show that small stocks generate the drift in the extreme portfolios, confirming prior research on the drift.

Initially, the finding of a post-announcement drift was somewhat surprising, since previous studies have not been able to find a momentum effect in the Swedish market, whilst the two drift effects are considered to be interlinked. However, in contrast to previous studies, here a momentum effect is evident; stocks that perform well in the stock market during a six month period, continue to outperform stocks with low past returns. With a holding period of twelve months the average monthly return to a momentum strategy is over 1%, adjusted for risk factors in a three-factor model. In line with previous research by Chan *et al.* (1996) and Chordia and Shivakumar (2006) I find that the two return drifts, although overlapping, are not identical. This is in line with what we know about the relation between earnings and returns. Earnings are value relevant information, but returns can in addition to earnings incorporate other, more timely, value relevant information about the performance of a firm.

The study suffers from the limitation that the profitability of the two trading strategies is only evaluated using statistical return metrics. The evaluation does not consider how feasible these returns are to a real-world investor. In addition, transaction costs are not considered. The profitability of the two trading strategies is therefore likely overstated and should be interpreted with caution.

To conclude, this study provides evidence of both PEAD and returns momentum in the Swedish stock market. The results augment what we previously knew about momentum in Sweden. In addition, there are two interesting observations in this paper. First, it seems like the two drift effects last longer in Sweden than in many other markets. Neither of the return drifts is significant for a period of six months after portfolio formation. However, if the holding period is extended to twelve months they are both significant. Second, it is worth noting that for both PEAD and returns momentum, the drift is significantly larger for positive news. Almost all of the return to the trading strategies is generated by the long position.

The paper does not provide any explanations for these two observations. I speculate that the lack of return to the short position might be an important observation in the striving for finding the drivers of the drift. In fact, this observation opens up for an omitted risk factor as a potential explanation for the drift. Exposed to such a risk factor, stocks in the short position will be priced so that they will render a positive expected return as a compensation for taking on this risk. Consequently, this explanation is in line with an upwards drift also after the announcement of bad news and as such the empirical observations of this paper is interesting. I argue that more research on the short position and potential risk factors explaining PEAD is warranted.

Appendix 1.A - International findings on PEAD

United Kingdom

Hew *et al.* (1996) investigate the post-earnings announcement drift in the UK. They study a limited sample of 206 companies listed on the London Stock Exchange from 1989 to 1992, covering seven half-year earnings announcements. Their results show a drift in returns after the announcements, but it is not statistically significant for larger companies. Hence, they conclude that the drift might be explained by trading costs, trading volumes and the amount of information available to investors before the announcement.

In a more comprehensive study of British data, Liu *et al.* (2003) find strong evidence of a post-earnings announcement drift in the UK stock market. Mean buyand-hold returns are reported for equal-weighted decile portfolios for a number of holding periods. For a hedge portfolio (high minus low) based on a time-series SUE measure, they report a raw return of 2.9%, 5.2%, 8.2% and 10.8% for holding periods of 3-, 6-, 9- and 12-months respectively. When controlling for the Fama-French risk factors the return to the hedge portfolio is 0.706% per month (with a holding period of 6 months).

They further test three alternative earnings surprise measures; based on i) timeseries of earnings, ii) market prices and iii) analyst forecasts, and find that the results are robust to all of these measures. The drift is strongest for the price based SUE measure and when tested together the drift from this measure largely subsumes the drift from the other two SUE-measures. However, the SUEs based on time-series of earnings and analyst forecasts both have marginal predictive power for the drift, which the authors interpret as if each measure captures somewhat different dimensions of earnings news. Contrary to Hew *et al.* (1996), Liu *et al.* (2003) find no evidence that the drift can be explained by size and market microstructure effects. There are no significant differences between the highest and lowest SUE deciles when it comes to analyst coverage or market values.

The authors also confirm the results from the US market that a disproportionate component of the drift occurs around the subsequent earnings announcement and that SUE at the earnings announcement has predictive power for SUE at the subsequent announcement. This is consistent with investors underestimating the correlation between successive earnings changes. Liu *et al.* (2003) conclude that the UK market is inefficient in processing earnings information.

Finland

From the Finnish market there is mixed evidence on PEAD. Kallunki (1996) finds a drift after the announcement of bad earnings news, but no corresponding drift after the announcement of good earnings news. He explains this pattern with the restrictions in short-selling that were present in the Finnish market during the sample

period. Since investors were not allowed to short sell, they could not take advantage of the bad news to the same extent as the good news.

However, in another study, Booth *et al.* (1996) find that the drift after the announcement of positive earnings surprises (measured as market-adjusted return around the announcement) is actually larger than the one after negative earnings surprises. It should be noted however that the drift in this study is only measured over ten trading days after the announcement of earnings. Booth *et al.* (1996) also find that the drift is larger for firms that do not smooth their income series and they explain this by higher information processing costs related to these firms. When not incorporating these costs in the measurement of returns, these firms will be generating an illusive abnormal return.

In yet another study of the Finnish stock market, Vieru *et al.* (2005) confirm the results of Kallunki (1996) that there is only a drift in returns after negative interim earnings news. Again, the drift is only measured for ten trading days after the announcement. Vieru *et al.* (2005) measure SUE by the abnormal returns during the announcement day. The companies in the portfolio with the highest (lowest) returns are considered to have announced a positive (negative) earnings surprise. The authors find negative returns of 2.8% for the quintile of companies with the least favorable earnings news (all events are lumped together before grouping).

The main purpose of the Vieru *et al.* (2005) study is to investigate the association between post-earnings announcement drift and the trading activity of non-institutional investors. They use data from all trades executed on the Helsinki stock exchange during 1996-2000 and classify all traders into five categories based on their trading activity. The results are strongest for the portfolio of firms with the least favorable earnings news, i.e. the short position. The returns to this portfolio are associated with excess buying (positive net trades) by passive and intermediate active investors and the authors interpret this as a sign of this non-institutional trading intensifying the negative post-earnings announcement drift. For positive earnings news, there are only weak results and for moderate earnings news the authors do not find any association between returns and trading activity class.

The trading database used in Vieru *et al.* (2005) is also employed in a working paper by Booth *et al.* (2006). They examine the trading behavior of foreign and domestic investors around interim earnings announcements. They stipulate that foreign institutional investors are more sophisticated in their information processing than domestic institutional investors. The least sophisticated and thus the slowest to react to the information content is hypothesized to be the domestic non-institutional investors. They find evidence of such a pattern in their study. Foreign investors are the first to react to announced information and they buy (sell) shares of firms with positive (negative) earnings news (measured as day -1 to day +1 returns minus the return of a value-weighted index). The domestic investors react in the opposite direction and are thus found to have a contrarian strategy. The difference in trading

behavior lasts many days after the announcement day and the authors argue that their results support the notion that the post-earnings announcement drift is the result of heterogeneous investor information processing abilities.

Belgium

van Huffel *et al.* (1996) study the post-earnings announcement drift in the Belgian stock market for the years 1990-1993. They measure expected earnings with a naive forecast model, assuming that semi-annual earnings follow a random walk. Expected returns are measured either with a market model (following Sharpe, 1964) or through a size-adjusted returns model (following Foster *et al.*, 1984). They do not find a significant drift for either of the return measures. However, when splitting the sample on size they find size-adjusted returns for large companies subsequent to the announcement that are in line with previous studies on the PEAD. They argue that a plausible explanation for the difference in drift between small and large companies is that the naive earnings expectations model is more accurate for large firms.

Poland

In his working paper Szyszka (2002) reports some preliminary results on the postearnings announcement drift for the Warsaw Stock Exchange. He measures earnings surprise following Foster *et al.* (1984), but finds only a statistically significant drift for the least favorable SUE group. For this group of companies (29 events) the average cumulative market-adjusted return was -12.5% for the trading days +2 to +60 after the announcement. The beta is equivalent in the top and bottom SUE-groups but he does not control for risk according to Fama and French (1993).

Szyszka (2002) does not use a method that mimics an implementable trading strategy. In addition he also mentions that an investor in the Polish stock market cannot take advantage of the results since short selling his prohibited in this market.

Germany

Dische (2002) describes his study as the first out-of-sample test of some behavioral models on how investors react to earning information. His results confirm the model by Barberis *et al.* (1998) who states that investors are conservative and adjust their beliefs slowly to new evidence. This model is based on the theories of Griffin and Tversky (1992) that showed that people focus too much on the strength of information and too little on its statistical weight, relative to a rational Bayesian model. Based on the behavioral model Dische (2002) predicts that investors should underestimate the importance of a reliable signal, i.e. an earnings forecast revision (the change in the mean of several analyst earnings forecasts) that has a low dispersion should have a higher drift than an earnings forecast revision with a high dispersion. He finds this in his data.

Using a German sample of firms between 1987 and 2000 he finds a raw return of 10.6% for a holding period of twelve months, from a trading strategy taking long position in the portfolio of firms (quintiles) with the most favorable earnings revision (approximately high SUE) and a short position in the portfolio of firms with the least favorable earnings revision (low SUE). Most of this return is generated by the long position, with the returns to the short position being barely significant. He also finds that the optimal trading strategy is 6 months and with this holding period the strategy earns an average market-adjusted return of approximately 1% per month. A strategy that, in addition to the earnings revisions, also forms portfolios on the *dispersion* of the earnings revisions, earns an incremental return of 0.96% per month. That is: the drift is even stronger for firms with low dispersion in earnings revisions. Dische argues that a low dispersion indicates lower risk and hence the returns to the strategy could not be explained as a compensation for higher risk.

Spain

Forner *et al.* (2009) find evidence of a very robust post-earnings announcement drift in the Spanish stock market. They measure SUE in three alternative ways: with a timeseries model (using a random walk and then scaling unexpected earnings with book value of equity), with the revision in analyst forecasts (scaled by book value of equity) and by the cumulative market-adjusted return around the announcement day. They do not find a significant drift for the last SUE measure.

Forner *et al.* (2009) use the calendar-time approach (e.g., Chan *et al.*, 1996) when evaluating the portfolios. At the beginning of each calendar month they select and rank all stocks that had an earnings surprise in the previous three months (if there were more than one SUE they choose the most recent one). They divide the stocks into three equally-weighted portfolios which are held for three, six, nine and twelve months. They also use a second approach where they measure the monthly return that an investor would have gained if he/she had several parallel PEAD portfolios. Each month a new PEAD strategy is implemented and held for three, six, nine and twelve months, so with a holding period of twelve months the investor will have invested in twelve PEAD portfolios at the same time. When investing in a new PEAD portfolio, it replaces the oldest PEAD portfolio which has then been held for twelve months already. The return during a specific calendar month is the return from the twelve parallel PEAD portfolios.

The results show an average cumulative hedge return of 7.3% over a holding period of twelve months for the time-series based SUE measure. For the earnings forecast revisions they find a smaller drift and an average cumulative return of 3.4%. In addition they find that the two measures have marginal explanatory power when they are controlled for each other in a double-rank portfolio construction procedure following Liu *et al.*, 2003. The average monthly calendar-time return with a holding period of six months is 0.45% and for a holding period of twelve months it is 0.4%.

For a holding period of six months, all of the hedge return is generated by the long position. The average monthly calendar-time return for the short position is in fact positive, though not significant. The regression results are robust to risk-controls such as described by CAPM and the Fama-French three-factor model.

In addition, Forner *et al.* (2009) form control portfolios by size and book-tomarket ratio in order to secure that these effects cannot explain the drift in returns. As an extra robustness check, a fourth factor is added to the three-factor model. This momentum factor is a control for the momentum effect discovered by Jegadeesh and Titman (1993). When SUE is measured by a time-series model, the four-factor model explains the post-earnings announcement drift. However, when testing the momentum and PEAD with a double-criterion portfolio construction procedure, the PEAD controlled for momentum is still significant (for both of the SUE measures). The momentum is also significant when controlled for PEAD, indicating that the two phenomena are related but not exactly the same. A combined strategy using both momentum and PEAD also yields a greater return than that provided by both strategies separately.

As a final robustness check, Forner *et al.* (2009) test if their results can be explained by conditional risk models. In this way they allow risk and return to vary over time, depending on the economic cycle, which is measured as the aggregate book-to-market ratio. They find that the PEAD results are robust to these risk controls.

Sweden

There are no previous extensive studies of PEAD in the Swedish stock market. However, Griffin *et al.* (2006) investigate market efficiency in 56 international markets, and the Swedish market is one of them. Among other things, they test for the postearnings announcement drift after annual earnings announcements using data from 1994 to 2005. Earnings surprise is measured as the difference between the actual reported earnings per share and the mean analyst earnings per share forecast from I/B/E/S, and then scaled by the price as of six days prior to the announcement date (which they proxy for by the reporting date). The authors divide all SUEs into groups of positive and negative surprises and then report the 60% of positive and 60% of negative earnings surprises. They then measure the market-adjusted cumulative return over the trading days +2 to +126 after the announcement (approximately six months). Looking at Figure 4 in their paper it seems like they, for the Swedish market, find a negative significant drift in returns after negative SUE of about 8-9%. But since the results are only reported graphically, it is not possible for me to relate to these results.

Other markets

Hong *et al.* (2003) in their working paper investigate PEAD returns in international markets for the years 1987 to 2001. They find evidence of a significant post-earnings announcement drift in Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Hong Kong and the UK, but not in Malaysia, South Korea, Japan, Singapore or Taiwan. They measure earnings surprise as the revision in earnings forecasts during the previous 3 or 6 months (and scale by price) and argue that the advantage of this measure is that they get a more timely measure even in markets where only annual earnings are reported. In addition, using time-series models for expected earnings have little power when only annual earnings data is available.

Appendix 1.B - Robustness tests

Variable	Main PEAD Results	As in Chan <i>et al.</i> (1996)	SUE scaled by market cap	Quintile portfolios	6 months holding period	Value- weighted portfolio returns	Market return measured as sample mean return
intercept	0.009**	0.007*	0.008**	0.004	0.008	0.008	0.009**
t-Stat	(2.29)	(1.96)	(2.18)	(1.56)	(1.64)	(1.19)	(2.38)
RMRF	0.028	0.048	0.158***	0.092**	0.077	0.037	-0.031
t-Stat	(0.48)	(0.81)	(2.77)	(2.42)	(1.02)	(0.37)	(-0.39)
SMB	-0.065	-0.043	0.083	-0.102*	0.054	-0.052	-0.099
t-Stat	(-0.74)	(-0.48)	(0.95)	(-1.75)	(0.46)	(-0.34)	(-1.23)
HML	0.054	0.037	-0.068	0.087**	0.081	0.024	0.066
t-Stat	(0.82)	(0.54)	(-1.03)	(1.98)	(0.92)	(0.21)	(0.97)
Ν	336	93	336	336	168	336	336
Adj. R2	-0.004	-0.013	0.023	0.045	0.004	-0.007	-0.004

Table 1.B.1. Main PEAD results and robustness checks. Sample period 1990 - 2005.

(i) This table presents the main results for the PEAD position (LONG minus SHORT) as well as six robustness checks. The main results are based on equal-weighted decile PEAD-portfolios ranked on SUE scaled by the standard deviation of expected earnings. All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced and held for twelve months. The market return is proxied by the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI). In the five robustness checks I test, one at a time, the following alternative operationalizations; following Chan *et al.* (1996), SUE scaled by *market cap*, quintile portfolios, a holding period of six months, value-weighted portfolios and the sample mean as a proxy for market return.

(ii) In all regressions the dependent variable is the monthly portfolio excess returns (monthly portfolio return minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill). The explanatory variables are defined as follows: *RMRP* is the excess market return measured as the return of the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; *SMB* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months, *HML* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book) positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months. N is the number of observations.

(iii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

		Holding period 6 months			Holding period 12 month	s
- Variable	Position LONG (Past winners)	Position SHORT (Past losers)	Position MOM (LONG - SHORT)	Position LONG (Past winners)	Position SHORT (Past losers)	Position MOM (LONG - SHORT)
intercept	0.016^{**}	0.001	0.014	0.011 * * *	-0.002	0.013 * *
t-Stat	(2.46)	(0.22)	(1.58)	(2.79)	(-0.38)	(2.12)
RMRF	0.535***	0.979***	-0.445***	0.556***	0.953***	-0.397***
t-Stat	(5.29)	(9.56)	(-3.12)	(9.05)	(10.93)	(-4.12)
SMB	0.153	0.060	0.093	0.151	0.083	0.068
t-Stat	(0.98)	(0.38)	(0.42)	(1.60)	(0.62)	(0.46)
HML	0.044	0.150	-0.110	0.020	0.162	-0.142
t-Stat	(0.38)	(1.30)	(-0.67)	(0.27)	(1.60)	(-1.27)
Z	168	168	168	336	336	336
Adj. R2	0.246	0.573	0.132	0.512	0.632	0.208

m trading strategies with holding neriods of 6 Ę andration actions 0. Table 1 B 2 Coefficient estimates from calendar-time portfolio returns (ii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio excess returns (monthly portfolio return minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill). The explanatory variables are defined as follows: *RMRF* is the excess market return measured as the return of the Swedish I-month Treasury Bill, *SMB* is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio (low market cap) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (low market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve monthly value-weighted return of the small portfolio (low market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve monthly value-weighted return of the value-weighted return of the Value portfolio (low market-to-book) hims the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (ligh market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months. N is the number of observations.

(iii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

References

- Ball, R. and Brown, P., 'An empirical evaluation of accounting income numbers', *Journal of Accounting* Research, Vol. 6, 1968, pp 159-178.
- Banz, R. W., 'The relationship between returns and market value of common stocks', *Journal of Financial Economics,* Vol. 9, 1981, pp 3-18.
- Barber, B. M. and Lyon, J. D., 'Detecting long-run abnormal stock returns: the empirical power and specification of test statistics', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 43, 1997, pp 341-372.
- Barberis, N., Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R., 'A model of investor sentiment', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, 1998, pp 307-343.
- Bernard, V. L. and Thomas, J. K., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift: delayed price response or risk premium?', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 27, 1989, pp 1-36.
- Bernard, V. L. and Thomas, J. K., 'Evidence that stock prices do not fully reflect the implications of current earnings for future earnings', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 13, 1990, pp 305-340.
- Bernard, V. L., Thomas, J. K. and Wahlen, J., 'Accounting-based stock prices anomalies: separating market inefficiencies from risk', *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 14, 1997, pp 89-136.
- Booth, G., Kallunki, J.-P. and Martikainen, T., 'Post-announcement drift and income smoothing: Finnish evidence', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 23, 1996, pp 1197-1211.
- Booth, G., Kallunki, J.-P., Sahlström, P. and Tynnelä, J., 'Foreign vs. domestic investors and the post-earnings announcement drift: evidence from share ownership records', Working Paper, European Accounting Association Annual Congress, 2006.
- Brooks, C., 'Introductory Econometrics for Finance', Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- Carhart, M. M., 'On persistence in mutual fund performance', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, 1997, pp 57-82.
- Chan, L. K., Jegadeesh, N. and Lakonishok, J., 'Momentum strategies', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 51, 1996, pp 1681-1713.

- Chordia, T. and Shivakumar, L., 'Earnings and price momentum', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 80, 2006, pp 627-656.
- Dische, A., 'Dispersion in analyst forecasts and the profitability of earnings momentum strategies', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 8, 2002, pp 211-228.
- Doukas, J. A. and McKnight, P. J., 'European momentum strategies, information diffusion, and investor conservatism', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 11, 2005, pp 313-338.
- Fama, E., 'Market efficiency, long-term returns, and behavioral finance', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, 1998, pp 283-306.
- Fama, E. and French, K., 'Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 33, 1993, pp 3-56.
- Forner, C. and Sanabria, S., 'Spanish post-earnings announcement drift and behavioral finance models', *European Accounting Review*, Vol. 19, 2010, pp 775-815.
- Forner, C., Sanabria, S. and Marhuenda, J., 'Post-earnings announcement drift: Spanish evidence', *Spanish Economic Review*, Vol. 11, 2009, pp 207-241.
- Foster, G., 'Quarterly accounting data: time-series properties and predictive-ability results', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 52, 1977, pp 1-21.
- Foster, G., Olsen, C. and Shevlin, T., 'Earnings releases, anomalies and the behavior of security returns', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 59, 1984, pp 574-603.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K. 'Information uncertainty and postearnings-announcement-drift', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 34, 2007, pp 403-433.
- Griffin, D. and Tversky, A., 'The weighing of evidence and the determinants of confidence', *Cognitive Psychology*, Vol. 24, 1992, pp 411-435.
- Griffin, J. M., Ji, X. and Martin, J. S., 'Momentum investing and business cycle risk: evidence from pole to pole', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 58, 2003, pp 2515-2547.
- Griffin, J. M., Kelly, P. J. and Nardari, F., 'Measuring short-term international stock market efficiency', Working Paper, University of Texas, 2006.
- Hew, D., Skerratt, L., Strong, N. and Walker, M., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift: some preliminary evidence for the UK', *Accounting and Business Research*, Vol. 26, 1996, pp 283-293.

- Hong, D., Lee, C. and Swaminathan, B., 'Earnings momentum in international markets', Working paper, 2003. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=390107.
- Hong, H. and Stein, J. C., 'A unified theory of underreaction, momentum trading and overreaction in assets markets', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, 1999, pp 2143-2184.
- Ikenberry, D., Lakonishok, J. and Vermaelen, T., 'Market underreaction to open market share repurchases', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 39, 1995, pp 181-208.
- Jegadeesh, N. and Titman, S., 'Returns to buying winners and selling losers: implications for stock market efficiency', *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 48, 1993, pp 65-91.
- Jones, C. and Litzenberger, R., 'Quarterly earnings reports and intermediate stock trends', *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 25, 1970, pp 143-148.
- Kallunki, J-P., 'Stock returns and earnings announcements in Finland', *The European Accounting Review*, Vol. 5, 1996, pp 199-216.
- Lintner, J., 'Security prices, risk, and maximal gains from diversification', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 20, 1965, pp 587-615.
- Liu, W., Strong, N. and Xu, X., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift in the UK', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 9, 2003, pp 89-116.
- Mitchell, M. L. and Stafford, E., 'Managerial decisions and long-term stock price performance', *The Journal of Business*, Vol. 73, 2000, pp 287-329.
- Novak, J., 'On the importance of accounting information for stock market efficiency', PhD dissertation, Uppsala University, 2008.
- Rouwenhorst, K. G., 'International momentum strategies', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, 1998, pp 267-284.
- Sharpe, W. F., 'Capital asset prices: a theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 19, 1964, pp 425-442.
- Szyszka, A., 'Quarterly financial reports and the stock price reaction at the Warsaw Stock Exchange', Working paper, 2002. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=295299.
- Söderström, J., "The empirical characteristics of momentum returns', Working Paper, Stockholm School of Economics, 2007.
- van Huffel, G., Joos, P. and Ooghe, H., 'Semi-annual earnings announcements and market reactions: some recent findings for a small capital market', *The European Accounting Review*, Vol. 5, 1996, pp 693-713.

Vieru, M., Perttunen, J. and Schadewitz, H., 'Impact of investors' trading activity to post-earnings announcement drift', Working Paper, European Accounting Association Annual Congress, 2005.

2 Information uncertainty in unexpected earnings signals

Abstract

This paper investigates empirically whether GAAP earnings and core earnings (measured as I/B/E/S earnings) introduce different levels of information uncertainty to stock market investors. Information uncertainty is here defined as to what extent the earnings signal is informative about the firm's value creation for the period, so-called economic earnings. It is in the theoretical framework proposed that an uncertain signal will be perceived to be more risky and thus give rise to a muted announcement reaction and a price drift in the post-announcement period, at least following good news signal is much more muted than that of the core earnings signal. In addition, it is only the GAAP signal that gives rise to a significant post-announcement drift. It is further shown that buy-and-bold returns are unevenly distributed over the year. When a trading strategy is based on the core earnings signal, 40% of the total BHAR is attributed to the announcement period, whereas only 20% of the BHAR is attributed to this period when the strategy is based on the GAAP signal. Conclusively, the results are interpreted as if the GAAP earnings signal introduces more uncertainty to investors. It is argued that this uncertainty might be due to GAAP earnings encompassing items that prior research has shown more likely to be manipulated and/or to contain estimation error.

2.1 Introduction

Post-earnings announcement drift (PEAD) is the phenomenon where security prices following extreme positive earnings surprises continue to drift upwards and security prices following extreme negative earnings surprises continue to drift downwards. This pattern in stock returns was first documented for the US market (e.g., Ball and Brown, 1968; Jones and Litzenberger, 1970; Foster *et al.*, 1984; Bernard and Thomas, 1989 and 1990), but has also been found in other stock markets (e.g., Kallunki, 1996; Dische, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2003; Forner *et al.*, 2009).⁷⁵ The drift in stock prices seemingly goes against the definition of efficient markets, where prices are assumed to adapt to new information in a timely and correct manner. As such, the empirical findings of a price drift have spurred a great deal of research.⁷⁶

In this study a theoretical framework, linking PEAD to information uncertainty, is proposed. The framework highlights under what conditions the drift is compatible with information uncertainty as a priced risk factor. Information uncertainty is here defined as the extent to which accounting earnings map into economic earnings, where economic earnings are defined as the firm's "true" value creation for the period.⁷⁷ An important purpose of accounting earnings is to provide information to outsiders about the value creation of the firm for a certain time period. An accounting earnings number that perfectly captures the economic earnings would introduce no uncertainty to investors about the value creation of the firm. Such an earnings number, however, does not exist in reality. Accounting earnings are influenced by a number of measurement problems which may distort the depiction of economic earnings and thus introduce uncertainty to investors.

The purpose of this study is to investigate whether two measures of accounting earnings, *core earnings* and *GAAP earnings*, introduce different levels of uncertainty to investors with regard to the value creation of the firm.⁷⁸ Based on the theoretical framework it is proposed that the earnings measure introducing the highest uncertainty will be followed by a muted market reaction at the earnings announcement and then a drift in security prices as time passes.⁷⁹

⁷⁵ See also the first paper of the dissertation.

⁷⁶ Note that if there is a drift in prices after the announcement, there will also be a drift in accumulated returns. PEAD has in prior research therefore been referred to as both a drift in prices and a drift in returns. In this paper I use both "price drift" and "return drift", as well as "price reaction" and "return reaction".

⁷⁷ Economic earnings are also referred to as "Hicksian income" following Hicks (1939). The concept of economic earnings is developed more extensively in Section 2.2.1. Using economic earnings as the benchmark for assessing earnings quality is proposed by Schipper and Vincent (2003).

⁷⁸ GAAP stands for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

⁷⁹ In the theoretical framework it is made clear that the prediction of returns following bad news signals is more complicated.

More specifically, the empirical investigation finds that a GAAP earnings signal (measured as GAAP earnings minus a time-series forecast of GAAP earnings) is followed by a lower initial reaction and a higher drift than a core earnings signal (measured as I/B/E/S actual earnings minus the I/B/E/S consensus forecast).⁸⁰ The empirical analyses are based on a Swedish sample of non-financial firms, quoted on the Stockholm Stock Exchange over the period 1994-2008. In a within-firm design, I find that the initial market reaction to the core earnings signal is more than six times higher than the reaction to the GAAP earnings signal. In addition, it is only the GAAP earnings signal that generates a significant post-earnings announcement drift over the twelve months following the announcement. On average, a trading strategy based on this signal generates a risk-adjusted return of about 1% per month (after controlling for expected return as measured by the three-factor model developed in Fama and French, 1993). The empirical results also reveal that it is the difference in earnings levels, and not the different forecasting models that drives the difference in returns between the GAAP and the core earnings signals. Additional tests show that the empirical results are robust to a number of different specifications (length of announcement window, portfolio size, inclusion of a momentum factor in the expected returns model, etc.). There are also indications of the drift being generated mostly on the long position, i.e. following good news signals.

I interpret the empirical results of this study as if GAAP earnings, compared to the core earnings measure, introduce more uncertainty to investors about the underlying value creation for the period. Faced with this uncertainty, risk averse investors react more mutedly to this signal at the announcement date. As time passes more information becomes available and, as the uncertainty or perceived risk is reduced, prices drift upwards, at least after good news signals.

It is argued in this study that the higher uncertainty introduced to investors by GAAP earnings can arise for the following reasons. First, going further down in the income statement the complexity of the accruals increases, leaving more room for estimation error and uncertainty (for example, it is typically harder to estimate restructuring costs than cost of goods sold). Second, by construction GAAP earnings can include items that have low or no value relevance (for example, effects of accounting changes) and that are thus not informative about the firm's value creation. In fact, analysts' use of the core earnings level is argued to be due to the possibility of excluding items that are not believed to be value relevant (Penman, 2009). Third, prior research has shown that earnings management is more prevalent in accruals, such as special items, that are included in GAAP earnings and often excluded from core earnings (e.g., Elliott and Hanna, 1996). Consequently, there might be a higher

⁸⁰ I/B/E/S stands for Institutional Broker's Estimates System and refers to the agency that collects and provides earnings forecasts.

probability of earnings manipulations within the GAAP earnings signal, introducing uncertainty to investors.

This study is related to the large financial accounting literature that investigates how financial market participants evaluate and react to different earnings levels in the income statement (e.g., Booth *et al.*, 1997; Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2003; Brown and Sivakumar, 2003). This line of research usually focuses on the short-term market reaction to different earnings signals, measuring the return reaction during a couple of days around the announcement day.⁸¹ In contrast, the current study investigates *both* the announcement reaction and the prolonged reaction over the months following the announcement date, providing a more complete measurement of the returns associated with the different earnings signals.

The study is also related to prior research that investigates how the measurement of an earnings surprise affects the magnitude of the drift. Livnat and Mendenhall (2006) find that the drift is significantly higher when measuring the earnings surprise using analysts' forecasts and actual earnings form I/B/E/S, than when using a time-series model based on the Compustat earnings data.⁸² In further tests they find that neither special items, nor Compustat restatements can explain the differences.⁸³ They conclude that the I/B/E/S measure is a more precise measure of an earnings surprise and therefore captures the mispricing better.

This study differs from Livnat and Mendenhall (2006) in two ways. First, I develop a framework to illustrate why the drift ought to differ between different measures of earnings surprise.⁸⁴ Second, I measure the drift over four quarters instead of only one quarter, since previous research has shown the drift to be longer in the Swedish market (see the first paper of the dissertation).⁸⁵

Additionally, the study is related to prior studies that empirically have tried to measure the effect of information uncertainty on stock market reactions. These studies support the prediction that investors react mutedly to earnings signals that are perceived to be uncertain.⁸⁶ Imhoff and Lobo (1992) measure information uncertainty

⁸¹ In their study of the Finnish market, Booth et al. (1997) use an announcement window of ten days.

⁸² This confirms the results in Doyle *et al.* (2006). They also use I/B/E/S data to define the earnings surprise. However, they do not explicitly compare the drift for different measures of earnings surprise.

⁸³ Compustat follows a policy of changing firms' recorded earnings numbers to reflect restated values (due to for example a merger or auditor actions).

⁸⁴ Richardson *et al.* (2010) in their review of accounting anomalies call for explicit hypotheses in future research of accounting anomalies, where "a research study should attempt to highlight the friction through which market prices do not incorporate this fundamental information in a timely fashion" (pp 420-421 in Richardson *et al.*, 2010).

⁸⁵ Empirical studies of the US stock market have shown varying lengths of the drift, with the majority of the studies focusing on holding periods of 6 to 12 months.

⁸⁶ It is however not easy (at least for the good news) to distinguish whether this muted reaction is an effect of lower expected mean due to higher uncertainty (as described in Section 2.2.3) or due to investors demanding a compensation for risk (as described in Section 2.2.4).

with the variance in analysts' forecasts just prior to the announcement and find that the announcement reaction is lower for firms with high information uncertainty. In a similar vein Teoh and Wong (1993) find that the announcement reaction is lower for firms with auditors perceived to be less credible, which they argue introduce uncertainty to investors. Francis *et al.* (2007) confirm these results.⁸⁷ They find that the higher the uncertainty in the earnings signal, in terms of poorer *accruals quality*, the more muted is the announcement reaction. Similar to this study, they also investigate the returns in the post-announcement period and find that the drift is higher for firms reporting extreme earnings surprises with high information uncertainty.⁸⁸

Assuming that information uncertainty is positively associated with investor opinion divergence around earnings announcements, the results of Garfinkel and Sokobin (2006) are also related to this study.⁸⁹ They show that the higher the opinion divergence among investors at the announcement, the higher is the drift in the post-announcement period. They argue that this drift is a compensation that risk averse investors demand for taking on the additional risk that opinion divergence introduce. Similarly, Dontoh *et al.* (2003) argue in their theoretical model that prices, due to non-information based trading, are noisy with respect to the fundamental values. Investors' inferences about fundamental values drawn from prices thus become less precise, increasing the total risk. Faced with this risk, risk averse investors demand less of these risky assets, which in turn dampens the stock price reaction around the announcement. Dontoh *et al.* (2003) argue that as information becomes increasingly available and the precision of the information increases, these investors will react more fully.

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows. The next section develops the theoretical foundations, linking information uncertainty to earnings signals and stock returns. Section 2.3 develops and motivates the research question. Section 2.4 defines the key variables and describes the sample in terms of data and descriptive statistics. In Section 2.5 I describe the test design and more specifically how the initial returns reaction and the returns in the post-announcement period are measured. Section 2.6 reports the empirical results, robustness checks and some extensions. In Section 2.7 some critical assumptions of the study are elaborated more in depth and in

⁸⁷ Francis *et al.* (2007) use *accruals quality* (*AQ*) as a proxy for information uncertainty. Accruals quality is measured using the model by Dechow and Dichev (2002) which focuses on the mapping of the current accruals part of earnings into operating cash flows. The higher the mapping, the higher the earnings quality and the lower the information uncertainty of the earnings signal.

⁸⁸ In Francis *et al.* (2007) the prediction that high information uncertainty will lead to a drift in prices relies on a different theoretical framework than the one in this study. They base their return prediction on information uncertainty and rational learning, not on information uncertainty as a priced risk factor. This is further discussed in Section 2.8.

⁸⁹ Garfinkel and Sokobin (2006) measure opinion divergence as the unexplained trading volume around the announcement.

Section 2.8 some alternative interpretations of the results are discussed. Section 2.9 concludes the paper.

2.2 Theoretical background

This section is divided into four subsections where the first (2.2.1) describes the underlying link between the firm's value creation and stock return, the second (2.2.2) introduces the concept of earnings signals, the third (2.2.3) discusses how information uncertainty in these signals influences the stock market reaction at the announcement date, and the fourth (2.2.4) discusses how information uncertainty as a priced risk factor influences the stock market reaction, both at the announcement date and in the post-announcement period.

2.2.1 Value creation and stock return

In firms there is a continuous process of value creation. This value will ultimately go to the owners of the firm, the shareholders, as a return to the initial investment that they made when buying the firm's shares. Shareholders receive information about this value creation through the accounting system where the value created is allocated to periods (usually quarters and years).

Different accounting systems have different principles for valuing assets and liabilities and hence give rise to different earnings numbers as metrics of value creation. However, we could think of a theoretical earnings number that perfectly captures the value creation of the previous period and call this "economic earnings" (e.g., Ohlson, 2009). This earnings number would then be equivalent to the return (in absolute terms) on the shareholder's investment for the period.

Ohlson (2009) shows this formally within the framework of PVED (Present Value of Expected Dividends). Assuming a clean surplus relation (CSR) and perfect mark-to-market accounting, current economic earnings are equal to the change in value (price) adjusted for dividends as expressed in (2.1).

$$EcEAR_{i,t} = \Delta b_{i,t} + d_{i,t} = \Delta P_{i,t} + d_t$$

(2.1)

where:

$EcEAR_{i,t} =$	economic earnings for firm <i>i</i> accrued in period <i>t</i> ,
$b_{i,t} =$	book value of equity for firm <i>i</i> at time <i>t</i> ,
$d_{i,t} =$	dividends for firm <i>i</i> at time <i>t</i> ,
$P_{i,t} =$	price of firm i 's share at time t .

Ohlson (2009) also proposes that the economic earnings satisfy the following dynamic:

(2.2)

 $EcEAR_{i,t+1} = r_{i,t} \times b_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}$

where:

$r_{i,t} =$	required rate of return (or cost of equity capital) for firm <i>i</i> over the period <i>t</i> ,
$\varepsilon_{i,t+1} =$	zero mean disturbance term for firm <i>i</i> , expressing uncertainty about the value
	creation.

The forecast of next period's economic earnings is thus the required rate of return times the period's beginning book value of equity or price (since they are assumed to be equal).

Assuming that stock markets are efficient in such a way that underlying value changes are transferred into equivalent price changes in the stock market, then; 1) economic earnings are equal to the stock return (cum dividend) for the same period and 2) the expectation on economic earnings is always equal to the expected stock return for that period.

It can further be assumed that shareholders at the announcement of the quarterly report (the event) get information about the economic earnings of the preceding quarter (q), and thus the return to their investment for the same quarter.⁹⁰ Consequently there should, at the earnings announcement event, be a price reaction in the stock market that mirrors this return.⁹¹

Three things must be considered when relating the stock market's announcement reaction to the economic earnings. First, the stock market reaction is measured in relative terms. The return defined in expression (2.1) is therefore set in relation to the price before the event (*pre event*) to yield the *rate of return*. Second, it is only the unexpected part of the economic earnings that will give rise to a stock market reaction, since the expected part is already impounded into stock prices. The stock market reaction at the announcement is consequently the unexpected rate of return, equal to the unexpected economic earnings (in relation to the stock price prior to the event).⁹²

Third, expectations are formed just prior to the event, which is typically sometime after the quarter q has ended. This impacts the expectations on economic

⁹⁰ The time index *t* is thus replaced with *q* below.

⁹¹ It is assumed that the cost of equity capital is constant, i.e. both the risk-free interest rate and the risk attitudes of investors are constant.

⁹² For simplicity, rate of return is in this paper often referred to as just "return", but is still considered to be a percentage number.

earnings. As defined in expression (2.2), the expectations on economic earnings in the beginning of quarter q are equal to the required rate of return times the stock price before the quarter q that generates the economic earnings. However, the stock return at the announcement date of economic earnings will reflect the expectations that are prevalent just before the announcement, and not the expectations at the beginning of quarter q. The expectation just before the announcement thus has to be discounted back to the beginning of quarter q, so that it really expresses the unexpected economic earnings of that quarter.

Expression (2.3) describes the expectations on economic earnings in relation to the price just prior to the announcement event (*pre event*). It is here assumed that the economic earnings are announced just after quarter q has ended, so that the expectations can be discounted back one quarter with the quarterly required rate of return.

$$Exp_{pre}\left[EcEAR_{i,q}\right] = \frac{P_{i,pre}}{1+r_q} \times r_q$$

$$(2.3)$$

To summarize, expression (2.4) below defines the stock market reaction (unexpected rate of return) for share *i* at the time of the announcement of unexpected economic earnings, where the expected economic earnings are defined in expression (2.3).

$$R_{i,event} - Exp_{pre}[R_{i,event}] = \frac{\left(EcEAR_{i,q} - Exp_{pre}[EcEAR_{i,q}]\right)}{P_{i,pre}}$$
(2.4)

where:

$$\begin{aligned} R_{i,event} &= & \text{stock return for firm i around the announcement event,}^{93} \\ Exp_{pre}[R_{i,event}] &= & \text{pre event expectations on firm } i \text{'s stock return around the announcement event,} \\ P_{i,pre} &= & \text{price of firm } i \text{'s share before the announcement event,} \\ EcEAR_{i,q} &= & \text{economic earnings for firm } i \text{ and quarter } q, \text{ which are announced at the announcement event,} \\ Exp_{pre}[EcEAR_{i,q}] &= & \text{pre event expectations on firm } i \text{'s economic earnings for quarter } q. \end{aligned}$$

⁹³ The event window could be of different lengths which will be discussed further in the empirical sections.

It is from expression (2.4) obvious that with this definition of economic earnings, the economic earnings are *all* of the stock return (and unexpected economic earnings are equal to unexpected stock return). There is no capital gain in excess of the change in price cum economic earnings. This is due to the fact that economic earnings are exhaustive in nature, i.e. they do not change the expectations about future economic earnings.

2.2.2 Unexpected earnings – a signal of value creation

Above it was clear that the announcement of unexpected economic earnings should give rise to an equivalent return reaction in the stock market. However, economic earnings is a theoretical concept and not available in the accounting reports. What are available to shareholders though, are accounting measures that can act as signals of the underlying value creation. The most common signal and the focus in most stock markets is earnings from the income statement (or earnings per share, EPS). And since it is the stock market reaction to this signal that is interesting, it is really the *unexpected earnings* (UE) that are in focus.⁹⁴

In general an unexpected earnings signal, referred to as the UE signal, is the difference between reported earnings in the income statement and the same earnings expected by the market before the announcement. This is defined more formally in (2.5):

$$UE_{i,q} = EPS_{i,q} - E[EPS_{i,q}]$$

(2.5)

where EPS is earnings per share for quarter q for firm i, and E[EPS] the expected EPS for the same firm and for the same quarter.

Since the economic earnings are not available, investors instead have to make investment decisions based on the available UE signals. Figure 2.1 aims at illustrating how the stock price reaction is really a reaction to the unexpected earnings signal and not the "true" value creation.

⁹⁴ For simplicity, I sometimes suppress "unexpected" both referring to economic earnings, earnings and return.

Figure 2.1. Value creation, unexpected earnings signal and stock market reaction



With the help of the signal, investors hope to separate "good news" firms from "bad news" firms (firms with good and poor economic earnings). If the UE signal is perfectly correlated with the unexpected economic earnings, the stock market reaction would be equal to the unexpected economic earnings (as defined in expression (2.4)). However, typically the correlation between the signal and the value creation is not perfect. Different earnings signals might also vary in their ability to signal the true value creation, which is the focus of this study.⁹⁵ This imperfect correlation between the UE signal and the unexpected economic earnings will have effects on the stock market reaction, so that the unexpected return now deviates from the unexpected economic earnings signal can influence the stock market reaction. This illustration will be done with numerical examples within the theoretical concept of information structures.⁹⁶ The examples serve to illustrate how an average Bayesian-rational investor incorporates uncertainty in his/her reaction to earnings signals.

2.2.3 Information uncertainty in the unexpected earnings signal

The previous section discussed how the stock market reaction is really a reaction to UE signals, since the economic earnings are not readily available to investors. This section discusses how information uncertainty in the UE signal can influence the stock market reaction (simply illustrated in Figure 2.2). Information uncertainty is here defined as the extent to which the unexpected earnings signal introduces uncertainty to investors about the underlying unexpected economic earnings.

⁹⁵ I study the variation in signaling ability between UE signals from different earnings levels in the income statement and different expectations models. However, one can also think of studying the variation in signaling ability between UE signals from different accounting systems.

⁹⁶ For another application within the field of financial accounting, namely bankruptcy prediction, see Skogsvik (1988).

Figure 2.2. Value creation, unexpected earnings signal, stock market reaction and information uncertainty



The relation between the unexpected economic earnings and the unexpected earnings signal can be described through a so-called information structure. First, looking at the definition of the UE signal in (2.5), there could be an infinite number of possible UE signals. The same holds for unexpected economic earnings. In order not to get an infinitely large information structure, the UE signals and economic earnings are divided into three categories each.

The UE signals are categorized into "good news", "no news" and "bad news".⁹⁷ Good news is a signal where the reported earnings exceed the expectations, no news is a signal where the reported earnings equal the expectations and bad news is an earnings signal where the reported earnings are lower than the expectations. Equivalently, the unexpected economic earnings are placed into three categories; positive, zero and negative unexpected economic earnings respectively.

Before introducing uncertainty, an information structure with no information uncertainty is set up. In such a structure, investors have complete faith in the UE signal being perfectly correlated with the underlying value creation. In Table 2.1 below, a numerical example of such an information structure is presented.

⁹⁷ In a PEAD strategy it is common to use ten categories or portfolios of earnings signals.

		Unexpected earnings signal (UE signal)		
		Good news	No news	Bad news
Underlying state of unexpected economic	A priori	Ear >	Ear =	Ear <
earnings	probability	EEar	EEar	EEar
25 %	0.20	1	0	0
0 %	0.60	0	1	0
-25 %	0.20	0	0	1

Table 2.1. Information structure A: No information uncertainty

The information structure is filled with conditional probabilities that describe the relationship between the underlying state, i.e. the unexpected economic earnings, and the UE signal. Given some underlying state, it denotes the probability that a certain UE signal will be observed. In this example; if investors have perfect faith in the earnings signal, the conditional probability (given an underlying state of positive unexpected economic earnings) for a good news signal will be one. Equally, investors would estimate a zero probability that, given this underlying state, a bad news signal would be observed.

In this numerical example the possible outcomes of the value creation (the underlying states) are categorized into three categories of unexpected economic earnings, +25%, 0%, and -25%. The positive outcome of 25% means that the value creation in terms of economic earnings is 25% after adjusting for the expectations of economic earnings. As discussed previously, the true underlying state is not possible to observe; investors can only have a probabilistic belief about the possible distribution of value creation over the population of firms. These a priori probabilities of the underlying value creation are dependent on investors' perceptions of the overall economic conditions. In this information structure the a priori probabilities are arbitrarily set to 0.20, 0.60 and 0.20 respectively. The bulk of the probability is set on 0% in unexpected economic earnings, which means that a priori investors believe that the economic earnings will be in line with expected economic earnings.

In Information Structure A (Table 2.1) investors have complete faith in the earnings signal; the conditional probabilities are thus, given an underlying state of +25%, 1 for good news, 0 for no news and 0 for bad news. That is, when investors observe a signal, there is no uncertainty that this signal captures the true underlying state.

Assuming that Information Structure A captures the beliefs of investors around an earnings announcement, this information structure can be used to calculate the expected market reaction to a certain earnings signal. Using the conditional probabilities in the information structure, the market reaction to a good news signal (s)is: $E["reaction"|s = goodnews] = 25\% \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 1}{0.20 \times 1 + 0.60 \times 0 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0}{0.20} \times \frac{0.$

 $\frac{0.20\times0}{0.20} = 25\%$

That is, the stock market reaction (25%) is equal to the unexpected economic earnings, just as in expression (2.4). The numerical example above is simply introducing the possibility of different outcomes of unexpected economic earnings and different probabilities to each outcome.

As discussed in Section 2.2.2, a perfect correlation between unexpected economic earnings and the UE signal is not plausible. There is most likely some uncertainty about how well the observed signal depicts the underlying value creation. The conditional probabilities in Information Structure B in Table 2.2 below reflect this uncertainty.⁹⁸

		Unexpected e	earnings signal	
		Good news	No news	Bad news
Underlying state of unexpected economic	A priori	Ear >	Ear =	Ear <
earnings	probability	E[Ear]	E[Ear]	E[Ear]
25 %	0.20	0.60	0.30	0.10
0 %	0.60	0.20	0.60	0.20
-25 %	0.20	0.10	0.30	0.60

Table 2.2. Information structure B: High information uncertainty

In Information Structure B the conditional probabilities are more evenly distributed over the different categories of UE signals. Given an underlying state of 25% in unexpected economic earnings, the probability of observing a good news signal is 0.60, a no news signal is 0.30 and a bad new signal is 0.10. That is, in one out of ten times, investors expect to observe a bad news signal even though the true value creation is 25% in unexpected economic earnings.

With information structure B, the expected price reaction if the signal "good news" is observed, is:

$$E["reaction"|s = goodnews] = 25\% \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.60}{0.20 \times 0.60 + 0.60 \times 0.20 + 0.20 \times 0.10} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0.20}{0.26} + 6\% \times 0.20 \times 0.10$$

 $(-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.10}{0.26} = 9.62\%$

⁹⁸ I label this information structure as having high information uncertainty. However, information uncertainty is of course always in relative terms.
The expected price reaction if the signal (s) "no news" is observed is:

$$E["reaction"|s = nonews] = 25\% \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.30}{0.48} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0.60}{0.48} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.30}{0.48} = 0\%$$

The expected price reaction if the signal (s) "bad news" is observed is:

$$E["reaction"|s = badnews] = 25\% \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.10}{0.26} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0.20}{0.26} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.60}{0.26} = -9.62\%$$

The example above illustrates that even though the underlying state of unexpected economic earnings is at the most +25% and at the least -25%, the expected market reaction to an observed good news signal is +9.62%, and -9.62% for an observed bad news signal. Since there is uncertainty whether the earnings signal really captures the underlying true state there is a muted reaction to the earnings announcement.

Now consider Information Structure C in Table 2.3 where the conditional probabilities are more clear-cut in their distribution across the signals (the underlying states and their a priori probabilities have not changed). This information structure expresses less information uncertainty as compared to Information Structure B. Accordingly there is a stronger reaction to the observed signals.

		Unexpected earnings signal		
		Good news	No news	Bad news
Underlying state of unexpected economic	A priori	Ear >	Ear =	Ear <
earnings	probability	E[Ear]	E[Ear]	E[Ear]
25 %	0.20	0.80	0.20	0
0 %	0.60	0.10	0.80	0.10
-25 %	0.20	0	0.20	0.80

Table 2.3. Information structure C: Low information uncertainty

If this information structure mirrors the beliefs of investors at the time of the earnings announcement, it gives the following market reactions; +18.18% for an observed good news signal, 0% for an observed no news signal, and -18.18% for an observed bad news signal.⁹⁹ Compared to the more "blurry" Information Structure B above,

 $^{{}^{99}}_{E}["reaction"|s = goodnews] = 25\% \times \frac{0.20 \times 0.80}{0.20 \times 0.80 + 0.60 \times 0.10 + 0.20 \times 0} + 0\% \times \frac{0.60 \times 0.10}{0.22} + (-25\%) \times \frac{0.20 \times 0}{0.22} = 18.18\%$

Information Structure C thus gives a more pronounced market reaction at the announcement of the earnings signal.

The comparison between the information structures B and C illustrates the difference in expected market reaction at the announcement date for two different UE signals with varying information uncertainty (different information structures). The uncertainty relates to how reliable the earnings are perceived to be as a signal of the underlying value creation.

2.2.4 Information uncertainty as a priced risk factor

The above examples illustrate that the price reaction to an uncertain signal will be muted because the conditional probabilities generate a lower expected mean for an uncertain signal compared to a certain signal. It was not considered that investors might perceive uncertain signals to be more risky and thus demand a compensation for that risk. This additional dimension will be considered in this section.

Information uncertainty is both in theoretical and empirical research suggested to be a risk factor that risk averse investors would like compensation for (e.g., Brown *et al.*, 1988; Easley and O'Hara, 2004; Francis *et al.*, 2004 and 2005; Lambert *et al.*, 2011). Assuming that investors are risk averse, this would impact the market reactions to the earnings signals from information structures B and C, not only in the announcement period but also in the post-announcement period.

Brown *et al.* (1988) illustrate how security prices are affected by information uncertainty if investors are risk averse. They show that a positive signal, perceived by investors to be risky, seemingly will be followed by an initial underreaction and then a price drift upwards as the risk resolves, if not controlling for this risk factor in the expected returns model.¹⁰⁰ In other words, at the news announcement, risk averse investors price the stock so that it would yield a higher expected rate of return to compensate for the increase in systematic risk (see Brown *et al.* 1988, p 357). It follows from this reasoning that, if investors are risk averse, the announcement reaction to a good news signal from Information Structure B will be somewhat lower than 9.62%. As an example, assume that the initial reaction is 8%. Then, if the risk resolves in the post-announcement period, prices will drift upwards, eventually generating a return of 9.62%. The difference (9.62%-8%=1.62%) will thus be the compensation for the risk averse investor. Note that if there is no revelation of risk in the post-announcement period, there will be no price drift.

¹⁰⁰ Subsequent to the earnings announcement more information is available to the stock market, either from the firm or from other market participants (e.g., analysts and other financial information intermediaries). This information can help investors interpret and learn more about the original earnings signal. As such, the initial uncertainty and risk that investors experience at the announcement will, at least partially, resolve over time.

Comparing the information structures B and C, it is noticeable that the spread of possible outcomes (the variance) for a good news signal is larger in Information Structure B that has higher information uncertainty. Risk averse investors would thus consider a good news signal from this information structure to be more risky, demanding higher risk compensation. The price reaction at the announcement date will thus be lower for a good news signal from Information Structure B due to two effects, a lower expected mean *and* a higher variance (higher risk).¹⁰¹ It also follows that the good news signal from the more risky Information Structure B is followed by a higher price drift in the post-announcement period, assuming the risk is resolved when more information becomes available.

The return prediction after bad news signals is less straight-forward. If investors are risk averse, negative signals perceived to be risky will seemingly be followed by an "overreaction" with a large drop in prices at the announcement date and then a price drift upwards as the risk resolves (Brown et al., 1988). Thus, all things equal, a risky bad news signal will have a more pronounced initial reaction than a bad news signal that is perceived to be less risky. Given that Information Structure B, compared to Information Structure C, is perceived by investors to be more uncertain (generating a lower expected mean) and more risky in terms of a higher variance in expected outcomes, it is hard to say which bad news signal would generate the highest initial price reaction. The lower expected mean for a signal from Information Structure B will lead to a muted initial reaction (illustrated in Section 2.2.3), whereas the perceived higher risk will generate a more pronounced reaction. It is difficult to say which effect would dominate the other. Accordingly, adding the dimension of information risk, it is not obvious anymore that a bad news signal of high uncertainty, compared to a signal of low uncertainty, will have a more muted price reaction at the announcement date. However, equivalent to the good news signal, if information risk is priced by investors it is the signal of higher uncertainty that will yield the highest drift in prices in the post-announcement period.

¹⁰¹ One could think of an information structure that for a certain signal leads to the same expected mean, but where the variance is higher. Then a lower announcement reaction will only be an effect of information uncertainty being perceived as a priced risk factor.

Within the framework proposed above, assuming information risk is a priced risk factor,¹⁰² the predictions for market reactions to uncertain earnings signals can be summarized as:

Good news signals perceived to be uncertain will be followed by a muted price reaction at the announcement date and a price drift upwards in the post-announcement period. The higher the perceived uncertainty, the more pronounced is the drift in the post-announcement period.

Bad news signals perceived to be uncertain will be followed by an ambiguous price reaction at the announcement date and a price drift upwards in the post-announcement period. The higher the perceived uncertainty, the more pronounced is the drift in the post-announcement period.

Thus, it is within this framework predicted that *both* negative and positive signals will have positive returns in the post-announcement period. This is not consistent with the empirical PEAD studies that report a drift upwards after good new signals and a drift downwards after bad news signals, and could thus be considered a limitation of the proposed framework. However, in some prior studies there are indications of the PEAD returns being generated almost solely by the long positions (e.g., Forner *et al.*, 2009).¹⁰³

Additionally, it might be argued that the upward drift after bad news signals is not a very robust returns prediction. First, I discuss in detail in Section 2.7 that there are circumstances where the information risk framework is consistent also with a downward drift after bad news, for example considering clientele effects. Second, it is important to acknowledge that we do not really know the driving forces behind the drift, and the proposed framework can only be considered a partial explanation. There are other theoretical frameworks, related to the post-announcement drift, that predict an upward drift after good news signals and a downward drift after bad news signals. These alternative explanations are discussed in Section 2.8. If multiple forces are generating the drift (i.e. information risk *and* some alternative explanation), then the drift after a good news signal will be magnified. After bad news signals, however, these forces might work in opposite directions.¹⁰⁴ In essence, the return prediction after bad news signals is ambiguous, *both* at the announcement and in the post-announcement period.

¹⁰² Assuming that this risk resolves in the post-announcement period.

¹⁰³ The first paper of the dissertation also reports that the drift on the short position is negligible. Implementing a trading strategy based on ROE on a Swedish sample of firms, Skogsvik and Skogsvik (2010) also find a positive return on the short position.

¹⁰⁴ Francis *et al.* (2007) also make a note of this and try to control for the expected return effect of information uncertainty by including an AQ factor as a fourth factor in the expected returns model. The drift on both the long and the short positions are still significant.

2.3 Research question and motivation

The purpose of this paper is to study two different earnings signals, based on different levels in the income statement, and the extent to which these signals introduce uncertainty to investors regarding the underlying value creation. The focus is here on bottom-line GAAP earnings and so-called core earnings. GAAP earnings are defined by accounting rules and readily available in all income statements. Core earnings are not defined by accounting standards and rules, and are thus more complicated to specify. It is often described as an earnings number that is higher up in the income statement and supposedly excludes transitory and value-irrelevant items.¹⁰⁵ For the purpose of this study, core earnings are measured with financial analysts' measure of this earnings level. The reason is that this measure is more readily available than the firms' measure of core earnings (often labeled pro forma earnings). Analysts report their forecasts of core earnings to analyst agencies (i.e. I/B/E/S, Reuters, Bloomberg and similar agencies) and then these agencies provide a reported earnings number that matches exactly the consensus analyst forecast, i.e. it includes exactly the same inclusions/exclusions from GAAP earnings as the earnings forecast.¹⁰⁶ In this study this earnings signal will be labeled either core earnings or I/B/E/S earnings (since the data is collected from I/B/E/S).

We do not know exactly which exclusions analysts make from GAAP earnings to arrive at core earnings. The exclusions might differ between industries (i.e. an item can be considered to be transitory in one industry and not in another). It is nevertheless common to assume that analysts exclude so-called special items and certain other items (Doyle *et al.*, 2003; McVay, 2006; Kolev *et al.*, 2008).¹⁰⁷ Bradshaw and Sloan (2002) list the following items as common exclusions; restructuring charges, write-downs and impairments, R&D expenditures, M&A costs, mandatory stock compensation expense and goodwill amortization. These items are examples of potential differences between the GAAP and the core earnings level under investigation in this study.

The research question of this study is related to a strand of accounting literature which focuses on different earnings signals in the income statement. This research, which has evolved over the last decades, is motivated by the findings that GAAP

¹⁰⁵ There are several labels to core earnings, for example sustainable earnings (Penman, 2009), persistent earnings (Ohlson, 1999), pro forma earnings and "street earnings". Pro forma earnings are often used as the name for core earnings when disclosed by firms in their earnings announcements (e.g., Lougee and Marquardt, 2004). "Street" (i.e. Wall Street) earnings are the core earnings as defined by analysts who in their earnings forecast try to give an estimate of future core earnings. These numbers are not necessarily the same, but they are all supposed to be some kind of core earnings.

¹⁰⁶ This is a caveat of my empirical study since I cannot separate between for example the uncertainty effects of different levels in the income statement, and the effect of analysts making biased inclusions/exclusions.

¹⁰⁷ In Swedish special items are labeled "jämförelsestörande poster", i.e. items affecting comparability.

earnings over time appear to have lost some value relevance (Collins *et al.*, 1997; Francis and Schipper, 1999). The development is also stimulated by firms more frequently reporting and highlighting other earnings numbers than bottom-line GAAP earnings in their quarterly reports. A general result in this literature is that earnings higher up in the income statement typically are perceived by investors as being more value relevant (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2003; Brown and Sivakumar, 2003). Bradshaw and Sloan (2002) find that when regressing the announcement return on I/B/E/S and GAAP earnings signals, the *earnings response coefficient* (ERC) is significantly higher for the I/B/E/S earnings signal.¹⁰⁸ In addition they find that the difference between the two signals has increased over time (both in terms of ERC and explained variation, R²). Bradshaw and Sloan (2002) interpret these results as an indication of investors having shifted their focus to core earnings over time.

There is no previous research that elaborates how different earnings levels differ in their depiction of economic earnings, and how that can introduce varying levels of uncertainty to investors. It is however important to investigate also this dimension of earnings, since any stock market reaction is a joint effect of how investors perceive both the relevance *and* the reliability of accounting numbers (Schipper and Vincent, 2003). In this sense, information uncertainty can be translated into how reliable investors perceive a signal to be.

There are a number of reasons why GAAP earnings might introduce higher uncertainty to investors than core earnings. First, going further down in the income statement, the complexity of the accruals increases, leaving room for estimation error (e.g., it is harder to estimate restructuring costs than for example costs of goods sold). Second, by construction GAAP earnings might include items that are not value relevant (for example effects of accounting changes) and thus not informative about the firm's value creation. In fact, the very reason for analysts to use the core earnings level is to exclude items that they believe are not value relevant (Penman, 2009). Third, prior research has shown that earnings management is more prevalent in the accruals that are included in GAAP earnings and typically excluded from core earnings (Elliott and Hanna, 1996). One example is the overstatement of restructuring charges (taking a "big bath") in order to boost earnings in future periods. Another example can be found in Jones (1991), where it is reported that some firms understate their earnings for political reasons. It can thus be argued that there is a higher probability of earnings manipulation within the GAAP earnings framework, introducing uncertainty to investors.

¹⁰⁸ Bradshaw and Sloan (2002) label this signal "street earnings", but also use I/B/E/S as their data source. When discussing their results I use my label, "I/B/E/S earnings".

However, there are also findings in previous research that can be interpreted as if also *core earnings* introduce uncertainty to investors. First, it has been found that firms might use the core earnings level to mislead the market. More often firms tend to classify a positive income number as part of core earnings than a negative number (McVay, 2006). This way to manage the core earnings usually has the objective to meet or beat an earnings benchmark (e.g., Lougee and Marquardt, 2004; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2003; Doyle and Soliman, 2005). Consistent with firms classifying core operating expenses as non-recurring, Doyle *et al.* (2003) find that such expenses have predictive ability for future earnings and cash flows, i.e. they are in fact recurring items. That is, if analysts do not see through this type of disclosure management, their measure of core earnings will also be biased. An additional source of bias is that analysts themselves might provide upward biased forecasts in order to secure access to more private information from firm management (e.g., Francis and Philbrick, 1993).

Previous research can hence be interpreted as if both GAAP earnings and core earnings might introduce information uncertainty to investors. Consequently, no explicit hypothesis regarding which earnings level introduces the highest information uncertainty is formulated. This is considered to be an empirical question and thus the focus of this study:

Do GAAP and core earnings levels introduce different levels of uncertainty, concerning the underlying value creation for the period, to stock market investors?

In line with the theoretical framework outlined in Section 2.2, the earnings level that is associated with the highest uncertainty should for good news be followed by a more muted announcement reaction and a more pronounced drift in the post-announcement period. For bad news signals, the return predictions regarding both the announcement reaction and the post-announcement drift are not clear.

2.4 Definitions, sample, data and descriptive statistics

In this section the empirical measures of the earnings signals are defined, the sample and data sources are described, and some descriptive statistics are reported.

2.4.1 Definition of earnings signals

I focus on two earnings signals in this study; the I/B/E/S earnings signal (core earnings) and the GAAP earnings signal. It was argued in Section 2.2 that it is only the unexpected part of earnings that should generate a price reaction. Thus, all earnings signals comprise two parts: reported earnings and the market's expectation of these earnings. The difference between reported and expected earnings is sometimes referred to as the earnings surprise and depending on whether this difference is positive, zero or negative, it will be interpreted as a signal of good news, no news and bad news, respectively.

I define the I/B/E/S earnings signal as the I/B/E/S actual earnings minus the consensus analyst forecast:

$$UE_{1i,q} = \frac{EPS_{IBES,i,q} - ConsensusEPS forecast_{i,q}}{P_{i,q-1}}$$
(2.6)

where UE stands for unexpected earnings.¹⁰⁹ I scale all unexpected earnings by the firm's stock price in order to take care of size differences and alleviate the problem of heteroskedasticity.¹¹⁰

EPS_{*IBES*} is the actual earnings per share that match the earnings measure that analysts have forecasted. This figure is provided by the analyst agency (I/B/E/S) which ensures that the earnings number has the same inclusions/exclusions as the analyst forecast. The consensus EPS forecast is the median of analysts' earnings forecasts for the firm. Whether this is a good proxy for the market's expectation of earnings is an empirical question, occupying a large body of research that studies the forecasting ability of financial analysts. Nevertheless, this measure of unexpected earnings is probably the most common in contemporary financial accounting research.

¹⁰⁹ All earnings signals are defined on a per share basis.

¹¹⁰ The price of the share is taken from the last day of the preceding quarter (e.g., Ramnath *et al.*, 2005; Livnat and Mendenhall, 2006; Francis *et al.*, 2007).

A classic measure of earnings surprise is the GAAP earnings signal, i.e. reported GAAP earnings minus GAAP earnings four quarters ago, scaled by price:

$$UE_{2i,q} = \frac{EPS_{GAAP,i,q} - EPS_{GAAP,i,q-4}}{P_{i,q-1}}$$
(2.7)

where $EPS_{GAAP,iq}$ is bottom-line earnings, before extraordinary items and discontinued operations, for firm *i* in quarter *q*, according to Swedish GAAP. The expected earnings are here assumed to follow a seasonal random walk. This is a very simple model of earnings innovation, but research has shown that it appear to work as well as more complicated time-series models (e.g., Foster, 1977; Brown and Rozeff, 1979; Bernard and Thomas, 1989).¹¹¹

The problem with the above definitions of the I/B/E/S and GAAP earnings signals is that they differ both in their measures of reported earnings and in their expectation models of earnings. To be able to draw more specific conclusions on what might drive any return differences, I have to control for this. Compared to a time-series forecast, the analyst consensus forecast is likely to be a better proxy for the market's expectations of earnings (e.g., Brown and Rozeff, 1978; Givoly and Lakonishok, 1984; Liljeblom, 1989). Brown *et al.* (1987) show that this superiority of analyst forecasts is due to both a timing advantage (more recent information can be used) and a contemporaneous advantage (more information can be incorporated).

One way to control for the differences in the expectation models is simply to use the consensus forecast as a proxy for earnings expectations also for the GAAP earnings signal. I have chosen not to do so, since previous research has shown that to get a good measure of earnings surprise it is important to use the same type of earnings measure (Philbrick and Ricks, 1991; Ramnath *et al.*, 2005).

Instead I have defined a third earnings signal which is a combination of the other two. This signal comprises the I/B/E/S reported earnings (same as UE_1), but is instead matched to a time-series forecast of I/B/E/S earnings (as in UE_2) equal to the reported I/B/E/S earnings four quarters ago, i.e.:

¹¹¹ This measure of unexpected earnings is sometimes scaled by the standard deviation of the forecast error and is then called "standardized unexpected earnings" or SUE (e.g. Bernard and Thomas, 1989). I do not want to use this deflator since it might wash away some of the uncertainty of the earnings signal and thus make it less comparable to the core earnings signal.

$$UE_{3i,q} = \frac{EPS_{IBES,i,q} - EPS_{IBES,i,q-4}}{P_{i,q-1}}$$
(2.8)

If this signal is equal to the GAAP earning signal (UE_2), in terms of initial reaction and drift, then any difference between the I/B/E/S and the GAAP signal is related to the expectations model, and not to the earnings measure.

2.4.2 Sample

The sample consists of 790 firm-quarter observations from 61 firms listed on the Nasdaq OMX Stockholm Exchange (previously Stockholmsbörsen) during the time period January 2004 to September 2008. In the beginning of this period only firms that were listed on the major list (the so-called A-list) have been included in the sample. Subsequent to the list changes on October 2, 2006, firms listed on Large Cap (but not previously on the A-list) have been included in the sample.¹¹² As a consequence, 16 companies have been added to the sample as of October 2, 2006.

Financial companies have been excluded in order to increase the comparability with previous studies. Firms with a reporting year other than the calendar year have also been excluded, as a matter of convenience in the test design. There is no reason to believe that the choice to exclude these observations has biased the sample selection.

The sample of companies is limited with regard to the time period and to the cross-section. The limited time period is mainly due to the fact that quarterly analyst forecasts are not available for Swedish firms prior to 2004. The limited cross-section (61 firms) is also due to data availability. The quarterly accounting information that was acquired for this study only covers the firms on the major lists. However, these firms make up a large part of the Swedish equity market. In 2005, 52 out of a total of 269 listed firms were listed on the A-list and their market value was approximately 80% of the total market value.

2.4.3 Data

Two main sources for the accounting data have been used in this study; I/B/E/S (Institutional Brokers' Estimate System) and SIX (Scandinavian Information Exchange). The I/B/E/S database, which is provided by Thomson Reuters, is an established data provider for both financial markets and academia. Generally the data for the UE_1 signal has been collected from I/B/E/S.

¹¹² These changes implied that the "A-list" and "O-list" were merged and divided into "Large Cap", "Medium Cap" and "Small Cap".

The GAAP earnings signal, UE_2, is based on accounting data provided by SIX, a Swedish company that sells financial information to financial market participants. The acquired data was in the form of 3-, 6-, 9- and 12-month reports, which subsequently has been converted into quarterly accounting numbers. Financial statements have been converted to SEK with the exchange rate from the last date of the reporting period.¹¹³

- Reported quarterly earnings are collected from the two data sources described above. EPS_{GAAP} comes from the SIX database and EPS_{IBES} comes from the I/B/E/S database.
- The dates of the quarterly earnings announcement have been provided by SIX.
- Analyst forecasts on EPS have been provided by I/B/E/S. I use the median EPS forecast three days prior to the earnings announcement date.^{114, 115} The forecast one day before the announcement date is not used in order to limit any effects on the forecast, in case the data on the announcement date is wrong.
- The Datastream Return Index has been used to measure the return to each firm. The Datastream Return Index is constructed out of capitalization-adjusted closing prices and gross dividends.
- The return on a Swedish 1-month treasury bill has been used as a proxy for the risk-free rate. This data has been obtained from the EcoWIN database.
- The Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) from Datastream has been used as a proxy for the overall market return during the sample period.
- Information about the number of shares outstanding for each firm was found to be of low quality in the standard databases. I have therefore collected this information from the periodical Börsguiden which reports yearly facts about listed companies. As a consequence, I only have the number of shares for each firm as of December 31. Market capitalization (*market cap*) has been calculated as the number of shares times the price of the share. If a company has dual-class shares, each class of shares has been weighted with the price of that class of shares. Quarterly observations of *market cap* have been calculated as the number of shares (as of December 31) times the price of the share at the last day of the quarter. This procedure is not valid if there have been splits, new issues or share repurchases during the year. In order to avoid problems with

¹¹³ Exchange rates have been obtained from the database EcoWIN.

¹¹⁴ In this sample there is only a small difference between the mean and the median forecast, which is an effect of the small number of analysts following each firm.

¹¹⁵ I have also studied forecasts from 40 days prior to the announcement date, but the mean of these forecasts is not significantly different from the one three days prior to the announcement. I conclude that there is in my sample no signs of the so-called "expectations path" where earnings forecasts tend to decrease (become more pessimistic) as the announcement day approaches (e.g., Bartov *et al.*, 2002).

this assumption I have scanned the data and adjusted observations that obviously were affected by splits, new issues and repurchases during the year.

- All metrics of unexpected earnings (EPS minus forecast) have been scaled by the share price as of the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.
- Data on the control variables; total assets, leverage and sales growth, have been collected from SIX.

2.4.4 Descriptive statistics

Table 2.4 reports descriptive statistics of the key variables in this study.

Variable	Ν	Mean	Median	Std Dev	$\Pr > t $
EPS_{GAAP}	734	1.987	1.450	2.702	< 0.0001
EPS _{IBES}	466	1.910	1.655	1.817	< 0.0001
UE_1	304	0.031	0.001	0.312	0.0878
UE_2	669	0.007	0.003	0.036	< 0.0001
UE_3	219	-0.004	0.004	0.281	0.8360
CAR [-1,0]	790	0.000	0.001	0.048	0.8403
market cap	747	58528	17967	120828	< 0.0001
size	814	43824	16802	71393	< 0.0001
leverage	701	0.606	0.615	0.139	< 0.0001
growth	760	0.174	0.058	2.257	0.0335

Table 2.4. Descriptive statistics of key variables.

(i) EPS_{GAAP} is reported GAAP earnings per share collected from SIX. EPS_{IBES} is reported "core" earnings per share collected from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{IBES} four quarters a_{00} , UE_2 is EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago, UE_2 is EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago, UE_2 is EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. UE_2 is EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. UE_2 is EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to. CAR is the cumulative 2-day market-adjusted return around firm ls quarter q earnings announcement. *market aq̃* is measured as the stock price at the last day of the quarter preceding the announcement times the number of shares, *size* is measured as log of firm ls total assets at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement. *grawth* is measured as firm ls grave quarters that are four quarters apart.

The first thing to note is that there is a substantial loss of observations for certain variables. This is caused by the limited coverage by both SIX and I/B/E/S, where it is obvious from the table that the coverage by I/B/E/S is lower. There are 734 observations on EPS_{GAAP} from the SIX database and 466 observations on EPS_{IBES} from the I/B/E/S database. Both the I/B/E/S signal (UE_1) and the GAAP signal (UE_2) have slightly positive means. This is in line with previous research on the distribution of analysts forecast errors, indicating that positive earnings surprises are more common than negative earnings surprises (e.g., Burgstahler and Dichev, 1997). Since the GAAP signal is based on a fairly crude forecasting method, it is a bit surprising that the standard deviation of the signal is lower than that of the I/B/E/S signal.

Table 2.5 displays the distribution of the number of observations over the sample period for the each of the three UE signals.

	UE_1	UE_2	UE_3
Q1 2004	2	50	0
Q2 2004	1	46	0
Q3 2004	0	46	0
Q4 2004	1	45	3
Q1 2005	11	46	2
Q2 2005	12	46	7
Q3 2005	26	45	3
Q4 2005	44	47	27
Q1 2006	37	45	15
Q2 2006	38	49	25
Q3 2006	39	49	39
Q4 2006	41	61	45
Q1 2007	25	47	25
Q2 2007	27	47	28
Total number of observations	304	669	219

Table 2.5. Distribution of observations on unexpected earnings signals over the sample period

(i) UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

The GAAP signal, UE_2, which contains only SIX data, has a stable number of observations for the whole sample period. The other two UE signals contain data from I/B/E/S and the table reveals that the cross-section of these observations is small in the beginning of the sample period. UE_3 has the lowest number of observations, since it also demands lagged I/B/E/S data for the time-series forecast. In Section 2.6.4, results keeping the sample of firms constant are reported. In general, these results are very similar to those of the main sample.

Variable	UE_1	UE_2	UE_3
UE_1		0.115	0.0481**
UE_2	0.210		0.559***
UE_3	0.474**	0.738***	

Table 2.6. Correlation matrix

(i) Pearson (Spearman) correlations are reported above (below) the diagonal.

(ii) UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

(iii) The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

In Table 2.6 Pearson and Spearman correlations between the three UE signals are presented. Correlations are calculated each quarter and the mean of these correlations is reported in Table 2.6. Since some UE signals by construction share data, the correlations are quite high. The lowest correlations, at about 20%, are between the two main earnings signals; UE_1 (I/B/E/S) and UE_2 (GAAP).

2.5 Test design

The aim of the empirical tests is to measure and compare the return reaction to the three different UE signals, with special focus on the I/B/E/S and GAAP earnings signals. The initial announcement reaction is measured through earnings response coefficients (ERCs) and the post-earnings announcement drift (PEAD) is measured by implementing a PEAD trading strategy. The test design is described in more detail below.

2.5.1 Earnings response coefficients

To measure the market's response to each of the three UE metrics, I examine the short-term ERC, which is the coefficient relating unexpected returns to unexpected earnings (γ_1 in regression (2.9) and (2.10) below). The unexpected returns are measured as the cumulative market–adjusted returns during the two days surrounding the announcement.¹¹⁶ Unexpected earnings are measured with each of the three UE signals.

It has been shown in previous research that several factors are associated with the market's reaction to earnings news. Empirically it has been shown that the ERC can vary substantially both over time and between firms (e.g., Collins and Kothari,

 $^{^{116}}$ The daily return on the market index is subtracted from firm *i*'s daily return and then compounded over the two days surrounding the announcement date.

1989). Smaller firms, more highly leveraged firms, and firms with high growth opportunities have a higher market response to earnings news (e.g., Easton and Zmijewski, 1989; Collins and Kothari, 1989). In regression (2.10), the variables *size*, *leverage* and *growth* are included to control for these previous findings.

$$CAR[-1,0]_{i,q} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 U E_{i,q} + \varepsilon_{i,q}$$

$$\tag{2.9}$$

 $CAR[-1,0]_{i,q} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 UE_{i,q} + \gamma_2 size_{i,q} + \gamma_3 leverage_{i,q} + \gamma_4 growth_{i,q} + \varepsilon_{i,q}$

where:

CAR[-1,0] =	Cumulative 2-day market-adjusted returns around firm <i>i</i> 's quarter <i>q</i> earnings announcement,
$UE_{i,q} =$	Unexpected earnings signal revealed in firm <i>i</i> 's quarter <i>q</i> earnings announcement, scaled by firm <i>i</i> 's share price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to. Unexpected earnings are measured in three alternative ways: UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst EPS forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago,
$size_{i,q} =$	log of firm <i>i</i> 's total assets at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement date,
$leverage_{i,q} =$	firm <i>i</i> 's ratio of total debt to total assets at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement date,
$growth_{i,q} =$	firm <i>i</i> 's sales growth between quarters that are four quarters apart, measured at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement date.

2.5.2 Post-earnings announcement drift

The second test is aimed at assessing whether there is a drift in stock prices after the announcement of quarterly earnings. I implement a trading strategy (following Chan *et al.*, 1996) where, at the first day of the quarter following the announcement, firms are ranked according to the magnitude of their UE signal.¹¹⁷ For quarters where the crosssection is sufficiently large (in my main tests I demand twenty firms in the crosssection) I take a long position in the top 20% (most positive UE) and a short position in the bottom 20% (most negative UE) and hold these positions for twelve months.¹¹⁸

¹¹⁷ I do not implement the strategy directly after the day of the announcement (i.e., in event time) in order to make sure that when I take the positions all earnings have been announced. This is done to ensure that the strategy is implementable. Also, taking the long and short positions simultaneously facilitates the construction of a selffinanced hedge portfolio where the income from selling short finances the purchase of stocks for the long position.

¹¹⁸ I choose a fairly long holding period of 12 months since it was shown in Paper 1 of the dissertation that the drift in the Swedish stock market continues up to 12 months.

The return to a portfolio is calculated as the equally-weighted return across the stocks included in that portfolio.^{119, 120}

$$R_{p,t} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_{i,t}$$

(2.11)

where:

return of share <i>i</i> at month <i>t</i> ,
return of portfolio p at month t ,
type of portfolio, $p = 1$ (SHORT), 2,, 5 (LONG),
month after formation date. $t = 1, 2,, 12$.

The combined position, labeled the PEAD position, is the long position minus the short position. A new PEAD position is taken every quarter, which means that – with a holding period of twelve months – there can at most be four parallel PEAD positions in any given month during the sample period.¹²¹

Following Chan *et al.* (1996) I use a calendar-time approach to evaluate the magnitude and statistical significance of the abnormal returns to the PEAD positions.¹²² In these regressions I measure abnormal returns relative to two alternative models of expected returns; the capital asset pricing model – CAPM (Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965) – and the Fama-French three-factor model (Fama and French, 1993). The two alternative models are specified in regressions (2.12) and (2.13).

¹¹⁹ Since the portfolio mean is calculated each month, this assumes that the portfolios are rebalanced every month to keep the weights equal.

¹²⁰ This calculation is done for both long and short positions, so that if there is an upward drift after good news the long position will generate positive portfolio returns and if there is a downward drift after bad news the short position will generate negative portfolio returns.

¹²¹ This procedure of four parallel portfolios differs from Chan *et al.* (1996) which include all new positions into the existing portfolio.

¹²² Calendar-time regressions are proposed by Fama (1998) as a more robust method than using buy-and-hold returns (BHARs). Mitchell and Stafford (2000) also point out the difficulties in testing the BHARs statistically due to the skewed distribution of firm-specific BHARs.

 $R_{PEAD,t,f} = \alpha^{capm} + \beta^{capm} RMRF_t + \varepsilon^{capm}$

$$R_{PEAD,t,f} = \alpha^{3f} + b^{3f} RMRF_t + s^{3f} SMB_t + h^{3f} HML_t + \varepsilon^{3f}$$
(2.13)

where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} R_{PEAD,t,f} = & \text{return to a PEAD position at month } t \text{ and formation date } f, \\ RMRF_t = & \text{excess market return at month } t : R_m - Rf (market return - risk free rate), \\ SMB_t = & \text{monthly return of a hedge portfolio based on size } (market cap), \\ HML_t = & \text{monthly return of a hedge portfolio based on book-to-market.} \end{array}$

Following Fama and French (1993) I estimate the factors SMB and HML as follows. The SMB portfolios are based on firm size, measured as market capitalization (the share price times the number of shares outstanding). Firms are ranked on *market cap* by June 30 each year and divided into two portfolios; portfolio Big and portfolio Small. The SMB factor is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio minus the monthly return of the Big portfolio. Monthly returns are measured from July 1 and twelve months ahead.

The HML portfolios are based on book-to-market (book value of equity divided by market capitalization). Firms are ranked on book-to-market by December 31 each year and divided into three portfolios; portfolio Value (high book-to-market), portfolio Neutral and portfolio Growth (low book-to-market). The HML factor is the monthly value-weighted return of the Value portfolio minus the monthly return of the Growth portfolio. Monthly returns are measured from July 1 (six months after portfolio formation) and twelve months ahead.

The monthly returns to the PEAD positions are regressed on the risk factors as described by equations (2.12) and (2.13). The intercepts (α^{capm} and α^{3f}) are thus measures of the monthly abnormal returns to the trading strategy, and if positive they indicate a drift in returns subsequent to the announcement date. In these tests I refer to it as "abnormal" return, but by this I only mean abnormal in relation to the expected return as described by the two models of market equilibrium.¹²³

Given that the return prediction for the short position is ambiguous, looking at the combined hedge position could be considered to be a limitation in the test design. In the empirical sections I therefore also report separately the returns to the long and the short positions.

(2.12)

¹²³ One risk factor that might be omitted is information risk, which is the theme of this paper.

2.6 Empirical results

In this section I report the main empirical results (2.6.1), results from several robustness tests (2.6.2), results for varying holding periods in the PEAD strategy (2.6.3), as well as results using a within-firm design (2.6.4). I also report tests on buyand-hold returns for both the announcement period and the post-announcement period (2.6.5), as well as how the returns differ between the long and the short positions (2.6.6). Lastly, I report some results on how the differences between I/B/E/S and GAAP earnings, i.e. the exclusions, are related to future returns (2.6.7).

2.6.1 Main empirical results

Table 2.7 presents the estimated coefficients from equation (2.9) (Panel A) and equation (2.10) (Panel B) for each of the three earnings signals. In general, the inclusion of control variables in Panel B has a very limited effect on the ERC estimates. The overall explanatory power, R^2 , of the regressions is low but in line with previous research.¹²⁴

The initial market response to the I/B/E/S earnings signal, UE_1, is more pronounced than for the GAAP earnings signal, UE_2. The ERC for the I/B/E/S signal is 0.57 (t-statistic 4.12) compared to an ERC of 0.12 (t-statistic 2.34) for the GAAP signal. This result is in line with previous research on US data showing that the immediate stock market reaction is greater for earnings numbers higher up in the income statement (e.g., Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002).¹²⁵

 $^{^{124}}$ In an overview, Lev (1989) showed that the R^2 s where on average 2-5% in ERC regressions with short event windows. However, extending the event window can result in much higher explanatory power. See Easton *et al.* (1992) for a study of a US sample, Strong and Walker (1993) for a study of a UK sample, and Runsten (1998) for a study of a Swedish sample.

¹²⁵ It is also in line with results from the Finnish stock market, where the unexpected returns at the announcement are higher for earnings higher up in the income statement (Booth *et al.*, 1997).

	UE_1	UE_2	UE_3
Panel A: ERC-regressions			
intercept	0.000	-0.002	-0.001
t-Stat	(-0.16)	(-0.81)	(-0.22)
UE	0.566***	0.121**	0.244***
t-Stat	(4.12)	<i>(2.34)</i>	<i>(2.94)</i>
Ν	244	596	172
Adj. R2	0.062	0.007	0.043
Panel B: ERC-regressions with con	trol variables		
intercept	-0.015	0.007	-0.056
t-Stat	(-0.56)	<i>(0.49)</i>	<i>(-1.78)</i>
UE	0.581***	0.120**	0.224***
t-Stat	<i>(4.21)</i>	<i>(2.30)</i>	<i>(2.68)</i>
size	-0.001	0.000	0.002
t-Stat	(-0.33)	(-0.19)	(0.78)
leverage	0.036	-0.011	0.057**
t-Stat	<i>(1.54)</i>	(-0.79)	<i>(2.10)</i>
growth	-0.001	0.000	0.001
t-Stat	(-0.35)	(-0.05)	<i>(</i> 0.22)
Ν	244	568	172
Adj. R2	0.061	0.007	0.054

Table 2.7. The market's announcement n	response to	different	unexpected	earnings	signals.
Sample po	eriod 2004 -	- 2008.			

(i) UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

(ii) The dependent variable is the cumulative 2-day market-adjusted return around firm i's quarter q earnings announcement.

(iii) In panel B control variables are added to the regression. *size* is measured as log of firm *i*'s total assets, *leverage* is measured as firm *i*'s ratio of total debt to total assets, *growth* is measured as firm *i*'s sales growth between quarters that are four quarters apart. All control variables are measured at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement date.

(iv) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

In Table 2.8 I report the results from implementing PEAD strategies based on the three different earnings signals. The table reports the monthly abnormal return to the hedge portfolio (long minus short) in excess of risk factors described by the Fama-French three-factor model (equation (2.13)). The results (not tabulated) are very similar when using CAPM to control for risk (equation (2.12)). Looking at the returns in the post-announcement period, there is (for a holding period of twelve months) a significant drift for the GAAP earnings signal, UE_2, but not for the I/B/E/S earnings signal, UE_1. The hedge portfolios that are based on the GAAP signal generate on average 0.9% risk-adjusted return each month.

Variable	UE_1	UE_2	UE_3
intercept	0.005	0.009***	-0.007
t-Stat	(0.93)	(2.71)	(-1.04)
RMRF	0.060	0.162***	0.077
t-Stat	(0.72)	(2.77)	(0.80)
SMB	0.185*	0.009	0.156
t-Stat	(1.84)	(0.12)	(1.34)
HML	0.128	-0.006	-0.109
t-Stat	(1.08)	(-0.08)	(-0.81)
Ν	96	168	72
Adj. R2	0.023	0.031	0.014

 Table 2.8. Average monthly abnormal returns PEAD positions.

 Sample period 2004 - 2008.

(i) The PEAD strategy is performed for three metrics of unexpected earnings. UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

(ii) The PEAD strategy requires twenty UE each quarter and takes long positions in the top 20% of ranked earnings surprises and short positions in the bottom 20% of ranked earnings surprises that are announced during the time period April 2004-September 2007. All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced.

(iii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio return of the long position minus the monthly portfolio return of the short position. The independent variables are defined as follows: RMRF is the excess market return measured as the return of the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; SMB is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio (low market cap) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; HML is the monthly value-weighted return of the Value portfolio (low market-to-book) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months.

(iv) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

Combined, I interpret the results in Table 2.7 and Table 2.8 as consistent with investors ascribing higher uncertainty to the GAAP earnings signal (lower immediate returns reaction, higher long-term drift) than to the I/B/E/S earnings signal (higher immediate returns reaction, lower long-term drift). This interpretation is based on the theoretical framework outlined in Section 2.2.

When looking at the price reactions to the control signal (UE_3), which uses the same earnings as the I/B/E/S signal but the same expectations model as the GAAP signal, this signal has a higher announcement reaction (ERC of 0.24, t-statistic 2.62) than the GAAP signal, but is not followed by a drift. In other words, the behavior of the control signal is more similar to that of the I/B/E/S signal, and I conclude that the differences between the I/B/E/S and the GAAP signals mainly are attributable to the different earnings levels, I/B/E/S earnings vs. GAAP earnings, rather than to different expectations models.

The difference in announcement reaction between the I/B/E/S signal (ERC of 0.57) and the control signal UE_3 (ERC of 0.24) must be attributable to the consensus forecast, in the I/B/E/S signal, being a better proxy for the market's expectations of earnings. This result thus confirms previous findings that point to the advantages of using analyst forecasts (e.g., Brown *et al.*, 1987).

To summarize the main empirical results, it seems like the two main earnings signals generate different reactions in the stock market. The difference between the I/B/E/S signal and the GAAP signal appears to be driven primarily by a difference in the perceived uncertainty in the earnings level (where I/B/E/S earnings introduce lower uncertainty than GAAP earnings) and to a much lesser extent by the choice of expectations model.

2.6.2 Various robustness tests

The results presented in Table 2.7 and Table 2.8 are robust to alternative specifications (results not tabulated). To check the possible impact of outliers I have estimated all regressions on alternative datasets that exclude observations that have studentized residuals that are larger than three in absolute magnitude. The results are unaffected. In addition, the results in the ERC regressions (equation (2.9) and (2.10)) are robust to using three-day announcement CAR, instead of two-day CAR, as well as using a market model to estimate the announcement CAR, instead of just adjusting for the market return.¹²⁶ Results in the ERC regressions are also robust to alternative control variables that are measured on an annual rather than quarterly basis. Using the median analyst forecast one day or seven days (instead of three days) prior to the announcement also gives quantitatively the same results. The ERC is somewhat smaller if the forecast one day before the announcement is used. This is in line with information leakage affecting the forecast, leading to a smaller surprise.

In the PEAD regressions (equation (2.12) and (2.13)) results are robust to a specification where I demand at least 25 firms, instead of 20 firms, in the cross-section in order to perform the PEAD strategy. Additionally, I control for returns momentum (e.g., Jegadeesh and Titman, 1993; Chan *et al.*, 1996) by including the returns to a momentum strategy as a fourth factor in the PEAD regressions.¹²⁷ The returns to the PEAD strategy (for any of the UE signals) do not change when regressed on a four-factor model that includes a factor-mimicking portfolio for returns momentum.

¹²⁶ When using the market model, CAR is equal to announcement return adjusted for the market return weighted with firm-specific betas. Firm-specific betas are estimated using all available data up until ten days before the announcement.

¹²⁷ The momentum factor is the monthly equal-weighted return to hedge portfolios, with a holding period of twelve months, taking a long position in the decile of firms with the highest past six months returns and a short position in the decile of firms with the lowest past six months return. This procedure follows Jegadeesh and Titman (1993).

2.6.3 Varying holding periods

Q

Table 2.9 reports the monthly return to the PEAD strategy for varying holding periods: three, six, nine and twelve months (the returns for twelve months are thus identical to the ones reported in Table 2.8).

and 12 months. Sample period 2004-2008.			
UE_1	UE_2	UE_3	
0.021**	0.009	0.000	
(2.12)	(1.46)	(0.05)	
0.014*	0.008*	-0.002	
(1.76)	(1.96)	(-0.17)	
0.008	0.007**	-0.001	
(1.18)	(2.14)	(-0.18)	
0.005	0.009***	-0.007	
(0.93)	(2.71)	(-1.04)	
	UE_1 0.021** (2.12) 0.014* (1.76) 0.008 (1.18) 0.005 (0.93)	und 12 months. Sample period 2004-2008. UE_1 UE_2 0.021^{**} 0.009 (2.12) (1.46) 0.014^* 0.008^* (1.76) (1.96) 0.008 0.007^{**} (1.18) (2.14) 0.005 0.009^{***} (0.93) (2.71)	

Table 2.9. Average monthly abnormal returns to PEAD positions - for holding periods of 3, 6, 9and 12 months. Sample period 2004-2008.

(i) The PEAD strategy is performed for three metrics of unexpected earnings. UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

14

6

8

(ii) The PEAD strategy requires twenty UE each quarter and takes long positions in the top 20% of ranked earnings surprises and short positions in the bottom 20% of ranked earnings surprises that are announced during the time period April 2004-September 2007. All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced.

(iii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio return of the long position minus the monthly portfolio return of the short position. The independent variables are defined as follows: RMRF is the excess market return measured as the return of the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; SMB is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio (low market cap) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; HML is the monthly value-weighted return of the Value portfolio (low market-to-book) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months.

(iv) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

An interesting pattern emerges from Table 2.9. For the GAAP signal, UE_2, the drift is relatively stable for different holding periods. However, it should be noted that the PEAD return is not significant for a holding period of three months and only barely significant for six months. The magnitude of the drift is increasing with the length of the holding period. For the I/B/E/S signal, UE_1, the pattern in returns is reverse: the magnitude of the drift is decreasing with the length of the holding period. For a short holding period of three months this signal generates a large and significant return.¹²⁸ I interpret these results as consistent with information uncertainty and resolving risk. Even though the initial reaction to the I/B/E/S signal, UE_1, around the announcement is high, the reaction is not complete due to perceived information

¹²⁸ This result is in line with the findings of Livnat and Mendenhall (2006).

risk also in this signal. However, the remaining uncertainty in the I/B/E/S signal appears to resolve much quicker than the uncertainty of the GAAP signal. Given that the GAAP signal encompasses items that are hard to interpret or estimate, such as restructuring costs, it might take a longer time for investors to learn how these items map into the value creation of the firm. As much as three subsequent earnings announcements might be needed in order for the information risk in the original signal to resolve.¹²⁹

2.6.4 Results using a within-firm design

The results reported so far have the limitations that the number of observations differs between the three earnings signals (in order to maximize the sample size). It can therefore not be ruled out that these results are driven, not by differences in introduced uncertainty, but rather by sample differences either in the cross-section or over time.

In order to control for the sample differences I perform further tests using a within-firm design. The dataset is here restricted to firms-quarters where observations of both the I/B/E/S and the GAAP signals are available (hereafter referred to as the restricted sample). So far, the results for the unrestricted sample have shown a high initial reaction and a short drift to the I/B/E/S earnings signal. In contrast, there is a muted initial reaction to the GAAP signal, followed by a more pronounced drift in returns. The results for the restricted sample (n = 208), are reported in Table 2.10 and Table 2.11.

¹²⁹ Some empirical findings in prior literature can also be interpreted as support for this argument. For example Easton *et al.* (1992) and Runsten (1998) show that the association between earnings and stock returns increases remarkably when the variables are measured over longer time-periods.

		UE_1	UE_2	Vuong's Z-statistic
Panel A: ERC-	regressions			
intercept	t-Stat	-0.002 (-0.60)	-0.001 (-0.16)	
UE	t-Stat	0.537*** <i>(3.96)</i>	0.084 <i>(</i> 0. <i>57)</i>	2.16 p-value: 0.032
Ν		208	208	
Adj. R2		0.066	-0.003	
Panel B: ERC-	regressions with control variabl	es		
intercept	t-Stat	-0.028 (-1.03)	-0.021 <i>(-0.73)</i>	
UE	t-Stat	0.551*** (4.07)	0.086 <i>(</i> 0. <i>58)</i>	
size	t-Stat	0.000 (0.20)	0.000 (0.12)	
leverage	t-Stat	0.040 <i>(1.58)</i>	0.032 <i>(1.24)</i>	
growth	t-Stat	-0.023 (-1.38)	-0.024 <i>(-1.39)</i>	
Ν		208	208	
Adj. R2		0.075	0.001	

Table 2.10. The market's announcement response to different unexpected earnings signals - using a restricted sample requiring observations on UE_1 and UE_2. Sample period 2004 - 2008.

(i) UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago. Both UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

(ii) The dependent variable is the cumulative 2-day market-adjusted return around firm i's quarter q earnings announcement.

(iii) In panel B control variables are added to the regression. *size* is measured as log of firm *i*'s total assets, *leverage* is measured as firm *i*'s ratio of total debt to total assets, *growth* is measured as firm *i*'s sales growth between quarters that are four quarters apart. All control variables are measured at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement date.

(iv) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

The difference in ERC persists. The announcement reaction to the I/B/E/S signal is more than six times higher than the reaction to the GAAP signal. With a Vuong-test the two regressions (with either the I/B/E/S or the GAAP signal as the independent variable) are set up as competing models to explain the announcement return (Vuong, 1989).¹³⁰ This test provides a significant Z-statistic of 2.16 which makes it possible to statistically, on a 5%-level, verify that the model with I/B/E/S earnings has the lowest magnitude of residuals and thus is the model that best describes the announcement CAR.

¹³⁰ For an extensive description of the Vuong test see Dechow (1994). It is also used in for example Bradshaw and Sloan (2002).

	UE_1	UE_2
Panel A: Monthly abnormal returns to PEAD strategy	r	
intercept	0.006	0.011**
t-Stat	(1.06)	(2.09)
RMRF	0.059	0.327***
t-Stat	(0.72)	(4.03)
SMB	0.129	0.382***
t-Stat	(1.32)	(3.94)
HML	0.138	-0.206
t-Stat	(1.20)	(-1.80)
Ν	96	96
Adj. R2	0.009	0.303
Panel B: Characteristics of extreme portfolios		
median market cap	22937	24876
median size	9.89	10.11
median <i>leverage</i>	0.62	0.62
median growth	0.05	0.07

Table 2.11. Average monthly abnormal returns to PEAD positions - using a restricted sample
requiring observations on UE_1 and UE_2. Sample period 2004 - 2008.

(i) The PEAD strategy is performed for three metrics of unexpected earnings. UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago, UE_3 is EPS_{IBES} minus EPS_{IBES} four quarters ago. All UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

(ii) The PEAD strategy requires twenty UE each quarter and takes long positions in the top 20% of ranked earnings surprises and short positions in the bottom 20% of ranked earnings surprises that are announced during the time period April 2004-September 2007. All positions are taken the first day of the quarter subsequent to the quarter when the earnings are announced.

(iii) The dependent variable is the monthly portfolio return of the long position minus the monthly portfolio return of the short position. The independent variables are defined as follows: RMRF is the excess market return measured as the return of the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) minus the return of a Swedish 1-month Treasury Bill; SMB is the monthly value-weighted return of the Small portfolio (low market cap) minus the monthly value-weighted return of the Big portfolio (high market cap), where firms are ranked on market cap by June 30 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months; HML is the monthly value-weighted return of the Growth portfolio (high market-to-book), where firms are ranked on market-to-book by December 31 each year, positions taken on July 1 and held for twelve months.

(iv) In Panel B the median of some control variables are reported. *market cap* is measured as the stock price times the number of shares. *size* is measured as log of firm *i*'s total assets, *leverage* is measured as firm *i*'s ratio of total debt to total assets, *growth* is measured as firm *i*'s sales growth between quarters that are four quarters apart. All control variables are measured at the end of the quarter preceding the announcement date.

(v) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

Also evident in Table 2.11, Panel A, is that the difference in PEAD remains in the restricted sample. In this sample a PEAD strategy based on the GAAP signal (UE_2) generates an average monthly return of 1.1% (t-statistic 2.09) in excess of the three risk factors. The return to a strategy based on the I/B/E/S earnings signal is however not significant (a coefficient of 0.006, t-statistic 1.06).

In Panel B, some characteristics of the extreme portfolios are reported. The characteristics in terms of *market cap*, *size*, *leverage* and *growth* do not seem to differ very much whether the PEAD strategy is based on the I/B/E/S earnings signal or the GAAP earnings signal. I conclude that it is not differences in these factors that explain the difference in hedge return.

2.6.5 Buy-and-hold returns in event-time

The above results indicate that the returns reaction to the GAAP signal mostly is generated in the post-announcement period. However, it is hard to compare the ERC with the returns to the PEAD strategy in terms of magnitudes. First, the ERCs are estimated on the full cross-section of firms, whereas the post-announcement return only is estimated for stocks in the extreme portfolios. Second, the PEAD strategy is not implemented immediately after the announcement window, but rather a couple of months later. Further tests aim to see how, for the two earnings signals, the total returns for the twelve months period are distributed between the announcement period and the post-announcement period.

Alleviating the first problem above, I report in Panel A of Table 2.12 the announcement CAR for the extreme portfolios (excluding the middle portfolios) for the GAAP and I/B/E/S signals respectively. I can here verify that the return reaction at the announcement of extreme I/B/E/S signals is more pronounced (3.7%) than for the extreme GAAP signals (2.1%). For the good news portfolio the announcement reaction to the I/B/E/S signal (2.4%) is more than twice as large as the reaction to the GAAP signal (1.0%).

	UE_1	UE_2
Panel A: BHAR for the announcement period		
Long position (good news)	0.024	0.010
Short position (bad news)	-0.013	-0.010
Hedge position (Long-Short)	0.037	0.021
Panel B: BHAR for the post-announcement period		
Long position (good news)	0.076	0.096
Short position (bad news)	0.018	0.008
Hedge position (Long-Short)	0.058	0.088

 Table 2.12. Buy-and-hold returns in event-time for the long, short and hedge positions. Sample period 2004-2008.

(i) UE_1 is EPS_{IBES} minus the median analyst forecast from I/B/E/S. UE_2 is EPS_{GAAP} minus EPS_{GAAP} four quarters ago. Both UE measures are scaled with price at the last day of the quarter preceding the quarter which the announced earnings refer to.

(ii) The announcement period starts one day before the announcement date and ends at the announcement date. The post announcement period starts the first day after the announcement date and ends 251 trading days after the announcement.

(iii) Buy-and-hold returns (BHARs) are firm-specific daily market-adjusted returns compounded over the period. Equal-weighted portfolio means are calculated for each formation period. Total sample means for the positions Short, Long and Hedge are reported in the table.

To be able to put these magnitudes of return in relation to the returns in the postannouncement period I need more than the average monthly return which was the outcome in the PEAD regressions. In addition, that measure suffered from the assumption that portfolios are rebalanced each month, which can be costly if transaction costs are considered. In Table 2.12 Panel B I therefore report the buy-andhold abnormal returns (BHARs) for the post-announcement period. As pointed out by Barber and Lyon (1997) the advantage of this measure is that it mimics investor experience and does not assume monthly rebalancing of portfolios.¹³¹ Here marketadjusted returns, for each firm, are compounded over one year (from one day after the announcement to 251 days after the announcement) and then portfolio means are calculated for firms that belong to the same portfolio. As a last step a sample mean for all portfolios (over the sample period) is calculated. Note that these BHARs are calculated in event-time and it is thus not an implementable trading strategy.¹³² As an effect the returns are not directly comparable to the returns from the PEAD strategy, where positions are taken at the first day of the quarter subsequent to the announcements. The magnitude of the BHARs are however an indication of the effect of the assumption to rebalance the portfolios each months.

It can be noted in Table 2.12, Panel B, that the BHAR in the post-announcement period for the hedge position based on the I/B/E/S signal is 5.8% compared to that of the GAAP signal which is 8.8%. The drift for the GAAP signal is still larger, but the BHARs give a slightly different picture regarding the difference between the two signals. The magnitude of the drift is now more similar. Note however that the adjustment for expected return differs between the BHARs and the calendar-time regressions, where the BHAR measure only makes a crude adjustment for the market return. The results should therefore be compared with caution.

Relating the announcement return to the post-announcement return, I can confirm the previous findings in this paper. Out of a total BHAR of 9.5%(announcement return plus post-announcement return) for a hedge position based on the I/B/E/S signal, 39% (3.7% return) is generated during the announcement period. For the GAAP signal the return pattern is different, indicating a slower price drift. Here the total BHAR is similar (10.9%) but the distribution differs in the sense that 19% is generated during the announcement period and the rest in the postannouncement period. I interpret this result as confirming that there is a muted

¹³¹ I do not report t-statistics for the BHARs since they have been found in previous research to be misleading (e.g., Mitchell and Stafford, 2000). Using a bootstrapping procedure for statistical testing, proposed by Ikenberry *et al.* (1995), is outside the scope of this study.

¹³² The strategy is not possible to implement since it is not possible to know the distribution of unexpected earnings (and thus which positions to take) until all firms have reported their earnings. The BHARs calculated in event-time (taking positions the day after the announcement) thus introduce hindsight bias. This problem is more severe if the earnings announcements of a quarter are spread over a long time period.

reaction to the GAAP signal due to investors perceiving this signal to be more uncertain and risky at the announcement date. As the risk resolves in the postannouncement period a price drift is generated.

2.6.6 Long and short positions

Table 2.12 reports separately the BHARs to the long and short positions. For the announcement period (Panel A), the BHAR for the bad news I/B/E/S earnings signals (-1.3%) is slightly more negative than for the GAAP earnings signals (-1.0%). For the good news portfolio the I/B/E/S signal has a mean announcement BHAR of 2.4% compared to 1.0% for the GAAP signal.¹³³

As pointed out in the theoretical framework, two effects influence the announcement reaction to an uncertain bad news signal. First, the announcement reaction will be muted due to a less negative expected mean. Second, the reaction can be more pronounced due to a perceived higher risk. From the empirical observations on announcement reactions it is thus not possible to say anything regarding the perceived risk in the bad news signals. However, assuming that the GAAP signal indeed is perceived to be more risky, the lower announcement reaction to the bad news GAAP signal, compared to the reaction to the bad news I/B/E/S signal, might be an indication of the lower expected mean effect dominating the risk compensation effect. However, this is not tested explicitly.

I note that neither of the two earnings signals have negative BHARs for the short position in the post-announcement period (Panel B). It is rather slightly positive, but close to zero. This empirical pattern could be due to several reasons and is elaborated on more in Section 2.7.

Since the return on the short position is negligible, the return on the hedge positions is generated by the long positions. This is consistent with investors perceiving the good news signal to be risky and demanding a compensation for this risk, as predicted by the theoretical framework in Section 2.2.

2.6.7 Exclusions from GAAP earnings

It was argued in Section 2.3 that one potential source of uncertainty in the GAAP earnings level is the exclusions, for examples special items, that analysts make from GAAP earnings to derive core earnings. To test this further I construct a measure of this "non-core earnings" by taking the difference between GAAP and I/B/E/S

¹³³ These results are for an unrestricted sample in order to maximize sample size. Since the sorting of firms differs for the I/B/E/S and GAAP signals, extreme portfolios will not entail the same set of firms even though the sample would have been restricted.

earnings.¹³⁴ These exclusions are positive if GAAP earnings are larger than I/B/E/S earnings. An example could be one-time gains that analysts consider not to be part of core operations. Negative exclusions could for example be restructuring costs.

In the tests below (results not tabulated) I study more thoroughly the relation between these exclusions and the ERC and drift respectively. I concentrate on the GAAP signal since I previously have shown that it is this signal that is associated with a muted ERC and a significant price drift for twelve months, interpreted as if this signal introduces the highest uncertainty to investors.

To draw conclusions on whether the muted reaction for firms with high absolute exclusions is due to higher uncertainty I also have to investigate if the firms with high absolute exclusions have a higher drift. Accordingly we would expect that these exclusions can explain future (twelve months) returns. In regression (2.15) market-adjusted firm-specific returns are regressed on the absolute exclusions.

$$|CAR|_{i,t+12} = \alpha_{i,t} + \beta_{i,t} |Exclusions|_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

(2.15)

where $|CAR|_{i,t+12}$ is the absolute market-adjusted return for firm *i* over the 12 months following portfolio formation. $|Exclusions|_{i,t-1}$ is the absolute exclusions (GAAP earnings minus I/B/E/S earnings) for firm *i* for the quarter prior to portfolio formation. When running regression (2.15) on the data, it turns out that the coefficient on the absolute exclusions is not significant.

There is in prior research indications of income-increasing items being more exposed to earnings management activities (e.g., McVay, 2006). Since these activities might introduce uncertainty to investors I study further only the exclusions that are positive (income-increasing). It could be argued that the market perceives earnings surprises with high income-increasing exclusions to have higher uncertainty. The problem here is that the sample becomes very limited. The tercile of firms with the highest income-increasing exclusions only comprise of 40 firm-quarter observations with non-missing observations. For none of the groups the ERC (-0.150 for High income-increasing exclusions and -0.348 for Low income-increasing exclusions) is significant.

Interestingly I find that in the regression on future market-adjusted returns, the coefficient on income-increasing exclusions is positive and significant (at the 10%-level). The market-adjusted return twelve months after the announcement increases by 0.9% for every income-increasing non-core EPS. But, when I control for additional

¹³⁴ Unfortunately there is no explicit data available on these "non-core earnings".

risk factors and include *market cap* and *book-to-market* the coefficient is no longer significant (not tabulated here).

As a final test, in order to circumvent the problem of small numbers in the ERC regressions above, the sample is separated on the *signed* exclusions and ERC is compared for groups of firms with high/positive and low/negative exclusions. This separation yields 117-118 observations in each group. The ERC for the group with high signed exclusions (income-increasing) is -0.088 (t-value: -0.74) and the ERC for the group of low signed exclusions (income-decreasing) is 0.477 (t-value: 1.78).

I conclude that there are some indications in the data that income-increasing exclusions introduce uncertainty to investors. This uncertainty could thus be a potential explanation for the more muted reaction to the GAAP signal than to the I/B/E/S signal.

2.7 Critical assumptions of the theoretical framework

The results of this study are interpreted as if investors perceive the GAAP earnings measure to be more risky in the sense that it is less precise in its description of the underlying value creation of the firm. The theoretical framework in Section 2.2 thus postulates that it is the resolving information risk that drives the post-announcement drift. To infer the PEAD phenomenon to an omitted risk factor is intuitively appealing since the drift phenomenon has been so persistent over markets and time. If it has not been traded away, it really could have something to do with a systematic risk factor that researchers have not controlled for in empirical tests. One such factor could be information risk which is a risk factor that can be resolved over time, consistent with the drift pattern.

One should, however, be aware of that there are a number of empirical studies that thoroughly investigate risk as a potential explanation for the PEAD (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1989; Bernard *et al.*, 1997) and to my knowledge no study has been able to fully dismiss PEAD as a risk related phenomenon. In fact, it has been labeled the "grand-daddy of all anomalies" in Fama (1998).

Nonetheless, the null hypothesis of efficient markets is still a benchmark that any capital markets study has to relate to (e.g., Kothari, 2001; Richardson *et al.*, 2010). The framework in this study could therefore be considered an attempt to highlight under what assumptions information risk is consistent with the PEAD phenomenon. It is not proposed to be a full explanation of the drift, especially given the fact that the return predictions for the short position are ambiguous.

There are some critical assumptions in the theoretical framework that deserves some more attention. First, it is in this framework assumed that information risk is not possible to fully diversify away, i.e. it is systematic. This assumption might be problematic since there is no consensus in the empirical literature regarding this issue (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Aboody *et al.*, 2005). Nevertheless, in a Swedish sample of firms it has been found that firms with high information uncertainty (low earnings quality) appear to have a significantly larger cost of capital after controlling for other conventional risk factors such as *beta*, *book-to-market* and *size* (see Paper 3 in the dissertation). This suggests that Swedish investors perceive at least part of the information risk to be systematic.

A related issue regards whether this risk compensation is large enough to be able to explain the drift, which is implicitly assumed in the theoretical framework. The returns to the PEAD strategy, adjusted for expected returns measured by the threefactor model, is in most empirical studies approximately 8-10% a year.¹³⁵ By comparison, empirical studies on a US sample has found that the returns to a hedge portfolio strategy, taking a long position in stocks of high information uncertainty (low *accruals quality*) and a short position in stocks of low information uncertainty, generates on average 0.9-2.25% a year, after controlling for *beta*, *book-to-market* and *size* (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005). Assuming that these results capture returns to information risk, as defined in this study, and are possible to translate to the Swedish institutional setting, they indicate that the risk compensation investors get for bearing this risk is not high enough to be able to fully explain the observed PEAD return of about 1% a month.¹³⁶

It has already been addressed in Section 2.2 that a critical issue with risk as an explanation for PEAD is that it predicts an upward drift on *both* the long position and the short position. This contradicts the empirical observation in most PEAD studies where the returns to the short position drift downwards in the post-announcement period.¹³⁷ Consequently it is not trivial to explain the classic PEAD results with an omitted risk factor. However, the theoretical framework assumes that the long and short positions are equally exposed to the information risk. In addition, it assumes that investors in the long and short positions have the same risk appetite. If relaxing these assumptions the risk explanation can, in addition to an upward drift, be consistent with both a zero drift and a downward drift on the short position.

First, it is not obvious that extreme good and bad earnings news are equally exposed to information risk. In light of research showing that firms have high incentives to manage earnings upwards, it could be argued that positive earnings surprises have higher uncertainty. Assuming that investors do not consider negative news to encompass the same information risk, this would yield a prediction of upward

¹³⁵ An overview of PEAD studies can be found in the introductory chapter of the dissertation.

¹³⁶ Note though that the study by Francis *et al.* (2005) report realized returns, which is albeit a noisy estimate of expected returns (e.g., Elton, 1999).

¹³⁷ Recent studies of the PEAD do not always separately report the returns to the long and the short position, making it hard for the reader to assess the implications of risk on the short position. Doyle *et al.* (2006) is an exception. They report returns for the long and short position and find that the return on the long position is significantly larger. These results could be interpreted as if at least part of the return is due to an omitted factor in the expected return model, giving rise to an illusion of abnormal return.

drift after positive news but no drift after negative news. But, there is also empirical evidence indicating that extreme bad earnings news also can be considered to encompass uncertainty. Specifically, it has been shown that firms sometimes use earnings management to take so-called "big baths", depressing already low earnings in order to save reserves for the future. Francis *et al.* (2007) also show a U-shaped relationship between earnings signals and information uncertainty, suggesting that both the extreme positions (good and bad news) have high information uncertainty. To conclude, empirical evidence seems to point towards both good and bad earnings news encompassing high information uncertainty. The risk exposure should thus not differ too much in this respect.

Second, it is not obvious that investors holding the long and short positions have the same risk-appetite. It could be argued that the clientele of investors that hold short positions in general are less risk averse than investors holding long positions. The short position might in itself be considered to be more risky since there is no limit to the downside (in how much the stock price can increase), whereas the upside is limited (the stock price can only go down to zero). In addition the short-seller can be forced to close the position early, due to a margin call, when the stock price is not to his/her advantage. This characteristic of the short position might attract a certain kind of investors. If these investors indeed are risk neutral or even risk loving, the returns prediction for the short position will change from that proposed in the theoretical framework. In fact we would then expect to see either no drift (assuming risk neutral investors) or a downward drift (assuming risk loving investors) on the short position. To my knowledge there is no research explicitly investigating this potential clientele effect and its implications for risk as an explanation for the PEAD.¹³⁸

2.8 Alternative interpretations

The PEAD literature is still struggling with the driving forces behind the drift. There is to date no consensus on what can explain this "underreaction" phenomenon. Since it is not without doubt that the PEAD is driven by the forces outlined in the theoretical framework, this study suffers from a problem of joint hypotheses. Acknowledging that the interpretation of the empirical results relies on debatable assumptions, it is important to consider alternative explanations for the empirical results. Below, I consider market frictions (Section 2.8.1), structural uncertainty and rational learning (Section 2.8.2) and mispricing due to behavioral biases (Section 2.8.3). These explanations all predict a downward drift on the short position.

¹³⁸ There are however some empirical papers that look at how institutional and local investors trade differently after earnings announcements. Booth *et al.* (2006) show that foreign institutional investors, that are assumed to be more sophisticated, trade on the drift pattern, whereas local investors are contrarian in their strategies, buying (selling) stocks with bad (good) news.

2.8.1 Market frictions

It is proposed in the literature that the initial underreaction and subsequent drift is generated by market frictions, for example that transaction costs related to performing a PEAD trading strategy are high enough to render it unprofitable.¹³⁹ Several empirical studies have tried to take into consideration these costs, but they have seldom been able to dismiss all of the PEAD return to these types of costs (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1989 and 1990; Bhushan, 1994). Some recent empirical studies have however tried to use a more comprehensive estimate of transaction costs, also taking into consideration more indirect costs such as price impact and opportunity costs (Chordia *et al.*, 2007; Ng *et al.*, 2008). Ng *et al.* (2008) find a more muted announcement reaction and a higher drift for firms with higher transaction costs. In addition they find that these costs are so high that they significantly drive down the profitability of the PEAD strategy. Consequently they propose that these costs provide an explanation for the existence of PEAD.

In addition to studies investigating market frictions as a possible explanation for the existence of the drift, a large literature also proposes market frictions as the reason for the *persistence* of the drift (for an overview see Barberis and Thaler, 2003). That is, given that the underreaction and drift occur for any reason (often argued to be behavioral), it is not traded away by rational investors due to these market frictions, also referred to as "limits to arbitrage". Arbitrageurs are here assumed to play an important role in capital markets, chasing "risk-free" returns by trading on observed returns patterns, such as the PEAD.¹⁴⁰ The "limits to arbitrage" literature argue however that trying to exploit these return patterns can be both risky and costly, rendering them unattractive for arbitrageurs. One example is that investors face the risk that prices in the short-run drift against his/her predictions. If the investor has a limited investment horizon, this might force him/her to liquidate the position at a loss. Shleifer and Vishny (1997) show that this risk is higher in an agency setting where the principal (who owns the invested funds) evaluates the agent (the portfolio manager) on returns. Seeing that returns in the short-run are negative, the principal might force an early liquidation. This risk might thus refrain rational agents from pursuing these investment strategies.¹⁴¹ There might also be short-selling constraints hindering the investor to sell short. In many countries legal restrictions prevent pension funds and

¹³⁹ A problem with explaining the drift with transaction costs is that several studies have documented that the drift is concentrated around following announcement dates, and it is not clear why costs should be higher at these times.

¹⁴⁰ The PEAD strategy is not really an arbitrage (risk-free) opportunity, which is exactly the point in the "limits to arbitrage" literature. According to Barberis and Thaler (2003) rational investors, trying to exploit mispricing, are referred to as "arbitrageurs".

¹⁴¹ Premature liquidation might also be triggered by creditors.

mutual funds to engage in short selling.¹⁴² If hindered to sell short, the investor will be more exposed to the fundamental risk on the long position, rendering it less attractive.

More specifically related to PEAD it has been shown empirically that stocks in the extreme portfolios of the PEAD strategy have very high idiosyncratic risk (measured as the volatility of the residuals from a three factor model). It has been proposed that this is the reason for why arbitrageurs avoid such positions and thus do not exploit the PEAD return pattern to the extent that it disappears (e.g., Mendenhall, 2004).

In relation to the results of this study, it is not obvious how market frictions could explain the difference between the announcement reaction and drift to the GAAP and core earning signals. In addition, it is really an empirical question whether Swedish investors face these restrictions in trying to exploit PEAD. To my knowledge there are no empirical studies investigating this and neither does this study.

2.8.2 Structural uncertainty and rational learning

Recent research relates *structural uncertainty* and *rational learning* to the return pattern of underreaction and drift. Brav and Heaton (2002) show in their "rational structural uncertainty model" that a returns pattern such as PEAD can arise even if investors are fully Bayesian-rational, assuming that they do not have full information. If investors face uncertainty about structural shifts in the value relevant parameter (for example earnings), they will appear to underweight a new signal that is announced just after a structural shift. This underweighting is due to investors mistakenly, but rationally, placing too much weight on old information because they are uncertain whether there has been a shift or not. As time passes and investors learn that there has been a structural shift, investors place more weight on the original signal, leading to a drift in security prices. Note, however, that this return prediction rely on the assumption that investors think the value relevant parameter is stable, when in fact there is a structural shift.¹⁴³

This model is thus not consistent with the characteristics of an efficient market, where it is assumed that investors *both* have full information and are rational in how they process this information. However, as Brav and Heaton (2002) point out, it differs from the behavioral models where it is assumed that investors have full information but that this information is not processed in a rational manner. The

¹⁴² There might also be other restrictions hindering institutional investors to exploit these returns. In the US, institutional investors are not allowed to hold more than 5% of the shares outstanding for a specific firm (Ng *et al.*, 2008).

¹⁴³ Brav and Heaton (2002) also illustrate the opposite case where investors mistakenly incorporate a probability of a shift in their estimates, even though the parameter is stable (there is no shift). In that case, investors will mistakenly place too much weight on recent information and appear to overreact.

behavioral and the rational structural uncertainty models give rise to similar returns predictions, making them hard to distinguish empirically.

Francis *et al.* (2007) also propose that information uncertainty and learning by rational investors is related to the drift in security prices.¹⁴⁴ They show that stocks in the extreme unexpected earnings portfolios also exhibit higher information uncertainty. Information uncertainty is here defined as the extent to which the reported earnings map into cash flows, and is operationalized using the model specified in Dechow and Dichev (2002). Consistent with their predictions Francis *et al.* (2007) find that the stocks with the highest information uncertainty are followed by a muted announcement reaction and a drift in stock prices.¹⁴⁵

There are two potential problems with this PEAD explanation. First, the framework proposed by Brav and Heaton (2002) is contingent on there being a shift in the underlying value relevant parameter, and it could be argued that this is not always descriptive of real-world earnings announcements. Second, the prediction in Francis *et al.* (2007) that rational learning drives the drift builds on the assumption that the initial uncertainty resolves over time. It is thus implicitly assumed that information in the post-announcement period *on average confirms* (and not contradicts) the original earnings signals. There is no theoretical motivation for this assumption.

2.8.3 Mispricing due to behavioral biases

The mispricing explanation has been proposed by several (e.g., Bernard and Thomas, 1990; Ball and Bartov, 1996). It is in this literature common to consider PEAD to be attributable to investors underestimating the persistence in unexpected earnings. Lately the field of behavioral finance also proposes some explanations based on human psychological limitations. First, Barberis *et al.* (1998) propose that investors suffer both from a *conservative bias* and a *representativeness bias*, where the first causes investors to underreact and the second, which comes into play after a while, leads investors to overreact in the longer term.¹⁴⁶ Second, Daniel *et al.* (1998) present a model where the initial underreaction and price drift is due to investors suffering from biases such as *overconfidence* and *self-attribution* which lead them to weight private information too high and public information too low. A third behavioral explanation is proposed in Hong

¹⁴⁴ Francis *et al.* (2007) are silent upon how the PEAD is related to the opposite returns prediction in Brav and Heaton (2002).

¹⁴⁵ Since the return following the announcement of high uncertainty signals in this sense is predictable, there has to be market limitations that can explain why rational investors with this information do not trade away the drift. An alternative interpretation is that mispricing arises for some reason (for example behavioral biases) at the release of new information and that rational learning describes the mechanism through which prices adjust towards a new equilibrium (see Francis *et al.*, 2007, p. 409).

¹⁴⁶ Conservatism refers to the underweighting of recent information and *representativeness* refers to the overweighting of recent information.

and Stein (1999). According to their model, which distinguishes between informed traders and momentum traders, the initial underreaction is due to a slow diffusion of firm-specific information. As momentum traders can gain profits on this slow price adaption, more and more of these traders will enter the market, eventually leading to a long-term overreaction. It is important to note that all the behavioral explanations rely on two important building blocks; that investors on average are irrational (suffering from biases) and that there exist limitations in the stock market that refrain rational investors from trading away the observed returns (Barberis and Thaler, 2003).

A criticism raised against the behavioral models is that they potentially can explain both underreaction and overreaction. In addition, it is often argued that these behavioral predictions are "fitted" to explain a certain empirical pattern and might thus be sample specific (Fama, 1998). In line with this criticism, Forner and Sanabria (2010), in an out-of-sample test using data from the Spanish stock market, find no support for these behavioral explanations in relation to PEAD.

It cannot be ruled out that the results of the current study are driven by investors' cognitive biases which affect their processing of earning signals. Nevertheless, it is hard to see why investors would be more affected by for example the conservatism bias when processing the GAAP signal than when processing the I/B/E/S signal. Liang (2003), however, argues that when information uncertainty is higher there is more room for cognitive biases.
2.9 Concluding remarks

The theoretical framework proposed in this study links information uncertainty and risk to the empirical phenomenon labeled PEAD (post-earnings announcement drift). The purpose of this framework is to highlight under what assumptions information uncertainty as a priced risk factor is consistent with the return pattern of PEAD, i.e. an initial underreaction and subsequent drift in security prices. It was shown that for good news earnings signals, a signal perceived to be uncertain will be followed by a muted announcement reaction and a drift in prices as the risk resolves (assuming that investors are risk averse). The more uncertain the signal is perceived to be, the lower the initial reaction and the higher the drift. For bad news signals, it was shown that the return prediction, both at the earnings announcement and in the post-announcement period, is more ambiguous.

The return predictions from the theoretical framework were used to interpret the results of the empirical investigation. The question in focus was whether GAAP earnings and so-called core earnings introduce different levels of uncertainty to investors, in terms of how these accounting earnings measures depict the underlying value creation of the period, i.e. the economic earnings. It was found that the GAAP earnings signal had a more muted reaction and a higher post-announcement drift compared to the core earnings signal. These empirical results were interpreted as if the GAAP earnings signal introduces higher uncertainty to investors. It was argued that this higher uncertainty can be due to this earnings measure encompassing items, such as special items, that prior research has shown to be more likely to be manipulated and/or to encompass more estimation error.

Further empirical tests revealed that it is indeed the earnings level and not the expectations model that drives the returns difference between the GAAP and the core earning signals. There are also some indications that the income-increasing items, included in GAAP earnings but not in core earnings, might be the source of the perceived uncertainty. In addition, the drift in prices was in the main generated by the long position, i.e. after good earnings news, whereas the drift on the short position was close to zero. The drift on the short position was thus not in line with the theoretical framework, where an uncertain bad news signal should be followed by a positive drift in security prices. However, it was also pointed out that this return prediction can be considered to be quite uncertain, as discussed in depth in Section 2.7.

The results reported in this paper should be interpreted with caution, given that the theoretical framework rests upon a debatable assumption, namely that PEAD is related to information risk. To date, there is no consensus in the literature about the driving forces behind the drift. It can therefore not be ruled out that alternative explanations are driving the results reported in the paper.

References

- Aboody, D., Hughes, J., and Liu, J., 'Earnings quality, insider trading, and cost of capital', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 43, 2005, pp 651–673.
- Ball, R. and Bartov, E., 'How naive is the stock market's use of earnings information?, *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 21, 1996, pp 319-337.
- Ball, R. and Brown, P., 'An empirical evaluation of accounting income numbers', *Journal of Accounting* Research, Vol. 6, 1968, pp 159-178.
- Barber, B. M. and Lyon, J. D., 'Detecting long-run abnormal stock returns: the empirical power and specification of test statistics', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 43, 1997, pp 341-372.
- Barberis, N., Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R., 'A model of investor sentiment', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, 1998, pp 307-343.
- Barberis, N. and Thaler, R., 'A survey of behavioral finance', in Constantinides, G., Harris, M. and Stultz, R. (eds.), *Handbook of the Economics of Finance*, Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2003, pp 1052-1121.
- Bartov, E., Givoly, D. and Hayn, C., 'The rewards to meeting or beating earnings expectations', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 33, 2002, pp 173-204.
- Bernard, V. L. and Thomas, J. K., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift: delayed price response or risk premium?', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 27, 1989, pp 1-36.
- Bernard, V. L. and Thomas, J. K., 'Evidence that stock prices do not fully reflect the implications of current earnings for future earnings', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 13, 1990, pp 305-340.
- Bernard, V. L., Thomas, J. K. and Wahlen, J., 'Accounting-based stock prices anomalies: separating market inefficiencies from risk', *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 14, 1997, pp 89-136.
- Bhattacharya, N., Black, E. L., Christensen, T. E. and Larson, C. R., 'Assessing the relative informativeness and permanence of pro forma earnings and GAAP operating earnings', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 36, 2003, pp 285–319.
- Bhushan, R., 'An informational efficiency perspective on the post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 18, 1994, pp 45-65.

- Booth, G., Kallunki, J-P., Martikainen, T., 'Delayed price response to the announcement of earnings and its components in Finland', *The European Accounting Review*, Vol. 6, 1997, pp 377-392.
- Booth, G., Kallunki, J.-P., Sahlström, P. and Tynnelä, J., 'Foreign vs. domestic investors and the post-earnings announcement drift: evidence from share ownership records', Working Paper, European Accounting Association Annual Congress, 2006.
- Bradshaw, M. T. and Sloan, R. G., 'GAAP versus The Street: an empirical assessment of two alternative definitions of earnings', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 40, 2002, pp 41-66.
- Brav, A. and Heaton, J. B., 'Competing theories of financial anomalies', *The Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 15, 2002, pp 575-606.
- Brown, K. C., Harlow, W. V., Tinic, S. M., 'Risk aversion, information uncertainty and market efficiency', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 22, 1988, pp 355-385.
- Brown, L., Hagerman, R. L., Griffin, P. A. and Zmijewski, M. E., 'Security analyst superiority relative to univariate time-series models in forecasting quarterly earnings', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 9, 1987, pp 61-87.
- Brown, L. and Rozeff, M. "The superiority of analyst forecasts as measures of expectations: evidence from earnings', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 33, 1978, pp 1-16.
- Brown, L. and Rozeff, M. 'Univariate time series models of quarterly accounting earnings per share: A proposed model', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 17, 1979, pp 179-189.
- Brown, L. and Sivakumar, K., 'Comparing the value relevance of two operating income measures', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 8, 2003, pp 561–572.
- Brown, P., Foster, G. and Noreen, E., 'Security analyst multi-year earnings forecasts and the capital market', American Accounting Association, 1985.
- Burgstahler, D. and Dichev, I., 'Earnings management to avoid earnings decreases and losses', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 24, 1997, pp 99-126.
- Chan, L. K., Jegadeesh, N. and Lakonishok, J., 'Momentum strategies', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 51, 1996, pp 1681-1713.
- Chordia, T., Goyal, A., Sadka, R., Sadka, G. and Shivakumar, L., 'Liquidity and the post-earnings announcement drift', Working paper, 2007, Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=972758.

- Collins, D. and Kothari, S., 'An analysis of intertemporal and cross-sectional determinants of earnings response coefficients', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 11, 1989, pp 143-181.
- Collins, D., Maydew, E. and Weiss, I., 'Changes in the value-relevance of earnings and book values over the past forty years', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 11, 1997, pp 39-67.
- Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, D. and Subrahmanyam, A., 'Investor psychology and security market under- and overreactions', *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, 1998, pp 1839-1885.
- Dechow, P. M., 'Accounting earnings and cash flows as measures of firm performance. The role of accruals.', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 18, 1994, pp 3-42.
- Dechow, P. M. and Dichev, I., "The quality of accruals and earnings: the role of accruals estimation errors', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 77, 2002, pp 35-59.
- Dische, A., 'Dispersion in analyst forecasts and the profitability of earnings momentum strategies', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 8, 2002, pp 211-228.
- Dontoh, A., Ronen, J. and Sarath, B. 'On the rationality of the post-announcement drift', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 8, 2003, pp 69-104.
- Doyle, J. T., Lundholm, R. J., and Soliman, M. T., 'The predictive value of expenses excluded from pro forma earnings', Review of Accounting Studies, 2003, pp 145-174.
- Doyle, J. T., Lundholm, R. J. and Soliman, M. T., 'The extreme future stock returns following I/B/E/S earnings surprises', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 44, 2006, pp 849-887.
- Doyle, J. T. and Soliman, M. T., 'Do managers define "Street" earnings to meet or beat analyst forecasts?', Working paper, University of Utah and Stanford University, 2005.
- Easley, D. and O'Hara, M., 'Information and the cost of capital', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 59, 2004, pp 1553-1583.
- Easton, P. D., Harris, T. and Ohlson, J. A., 'Aggregate accounting earnings can explain most of security returns: the case of long return intervals', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 15, 1992, pp 119-142.

- Easton, P. D. and Zmijewski, M. E., 'Cross-sectional variation in the stock market response to accounting earnings announcements', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 11, 1989, pp 117-141.
- Elliott, J. A. and Hanna, J. D., 'Repeated accounting write-offs and the information content of earnings', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 34, 1996, pp 135-155.
- Elton, E. J., 'Expected return, realized return and asset pricing tests', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, 1999, pp 1199-1220.
- Fama, E., 'Market efficiency, long-term returns, and behavioral finance', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, 1998, pp 283-306.
- Fama, E. and French, K., 'Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 33, 1993, pp 3-56.
- Forner, C. and Sanabria, S., 'Spanish post-earnings announcement drift and behavioral finance models', *European Accounting Review*, Vol. 19, 2010, pp 775-815.
- Forner, C., Sanabria, S. and Marhuenda, J., 'Post-earnings announcement drift: Spanish evidence', *Spanish Economic Review*, Vol. 11, 2009, pp 207-241.
- Foster, G., 'Quarterly accounting data: time-series properties and predictive-ability results', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 52, 1977, pp 1-21.
- Foster, G., Olsen, C. and Shevlin, T., 'Earnings releases, anomalies and the behavior of security returns', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 59, 1984, pp 574-603.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., 'Costs of equity and earnings attributes', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 79, 2004, pp 967-1010.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., 'The market pricing of accruals quality', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 39, 2005, pp 295-327.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., 'Information uncertainty and post-earnings-announcement-drift', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 34, 2007, pp 403-433.
- Francis, J. and Philbrick, D., 'Analysts' decisions as products of a multi-task environment', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 31, 1993, pp 216-230.
- Francis, J. and Schipper, K., 'Have financial statements lost their relevance?', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 37, 1999, pp 319-352.

- Garfinkel, J. A. and Sokobin, J., 'Volume, opinion divergence and returns: a study of post-earnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 44, 2006, pp 85-112.
- Givoly, D. and Lakonishok, J., 'The quality of analysts' forecasts of earnings', *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 40, 1984, pp 40-47.
- Hicks, J. R., 'The foundations of welfare economics', *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 49, 1939, pp 696-712.
- Hong, H. and Stein, C., 'A unified theory of underreaction, momentum trading, and overreaction in asset markets', *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, 1999, pp 2143-2184.
- Ikenberry, D., Lakonishok, J. and Vermaelen, T., 'Market underreaction to open market share repurchases', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 39, 1995, pp 181-208.
- Imhoff, E. A. Jr. and Lobo, G. J., "The effect of ex ante earnings uncertainty on earnings response coefficients", *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 67, 1992, pp 427-439.
- Jegadeesh, N. and Titman, S., 'Returns to buying winners and selling losers: implications for stock market efficiency', *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 48, 1993, pp 65-91.
- Jones, C. and Litzenberger, R., 'Quarterly earnings reports and intermediate stock trends', *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 25, 1970, pp 143-148.
- Jones, J., 'Earnings management during import relief investigations', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 29, 1991, pp 193-288.
- Kallunki, J-P., 'Stock returns and earnings announcements in Finland', *The European Accounting Review*, Vol. 5, 1996, pp 199-216.
- Kolev, K., Marquardt, C. A. and McVay, S. E., 'SEC scrutiny and the evolution of non-GAAP reporting', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 83, 2008, pp 157-184.
- Kothari, S. P., 'Capital markets research in accounting', Journal of Accounting and Economics, Vol. 31, 2001, pp 105-231.
- Lambert, R. A., Leuz, C. and Verrecchia, R. E., 'Information asymmetry, information precision and the cost of capital', *Review of Finance*, 2011 (Forthcoming). Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1822848.
- Lev, B. 'On the usefulness on earnings and earnings research: lessons and directions from two decades of empirical research', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 27, 1989, pp 153-192.

- Liang, L. 'Post-earnings announcement drift and market participants information processing biases', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 8, 2003, pp 324-345.
- Liljeblom, E., 'Stock price reactions to financial decisions: Some results on data for the Stockholm stock exchange', Publication of the Swedish School of Economics and Business and Administration, Vol. 43, 1989.
- Lintner, J., 'Security prices, risk, and maximal gains from diversification', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 20, 1965, pp 587-615.
- Liu, W., Strong, N. and Xu, X., 'Post-earnings-announcement drift in the UK', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 9, 2003, pp 89-116.
- Livnat, J. and Mendenhall, R., 'Comparing the post-earnings announcement drift for surprises calculated from analyst and time series forecasts', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 44, 2006, pp 177-205.
- Lougee, B. A. and Marquardt, C. A. 'Earnings informativeness and strategic disclosure: an empirical examination of "Pro Forma" earnings', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 79, 2004, pp 769–795.
- McVay, S. E., 'Earnings management using classification shifting: An examination of core earnings and special items', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 81, 2006, pp 501-531.
- Mendenhall, R. R., 'Arbitrage risk and post-earnings-announcement drift', *Journal of Business*, Vol. 77, 2004, pp 875-894.
- Mitchell, M. L. and Stafford, E., 'Managerial decisions and long-term stock price performance', *The Journal of Business*, Vol. 73, 2000, pp 287-329.
- Ng, J., Rusticus, T. O. and Verdi, J. S., 'Implications of transactions costs of the postearnings announcement drift', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 46, 2008, pp 661-696.
- Ohlson, J. A., 'On transitory earnings', Review of Accounting Studies, Vol. 4, 1999, pp 145-162.
- Ohlson, J. A., 'Accounting data and value: the basic results', *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 26, 2009, pp 231-259.
- Penman, S., 'Financial statement analysis and security valuation', New York: McGraw-Hill / Irwin, 4th edition, 2009.
- Philbrick, D. R. and Ricks, W. E., 'Using Value Line and IBES analyst forecasts in accounting research', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 29, 1991, pp 397-417.

- Ramnath, S., Rock, S. and Shane, P, 'Value Line and I/B/E/S earnings forecasts', *International Journal of Forecasting*, Vol. 21, 2005, pp 185-198.
- Richardson, S., Tuna, I. and Wysocki, P., 'Accounting anomalies and fundamental analysis: a review of recent research advances', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 50, 2010, pp 410-454.
- Runsten, M., 'The association between accounting information and stock prices', PhD dissertation, Stockholm School of Economics, 1998.
- Schipper, K. and Vincent, L., 'Earnings quality', *Accounting Horizons*, Vol. 17, 2003, pp 97-110.
- Sharpe, W. F., 'Capital asset prices: a theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 19, 1964, pp 425-442.
- Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. W., 'The limits of arbitrage', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, 1997, pp 35-55.
- Skogsvik, K. 'Prognos av finansiell kris med redovisningsmått', PhD dissertation, Stockholm School of Economics, 1988.
- Skogsvik, K. and Skogsvik, S., 'Accounting-based probabilistic prediction of ROE, the residual income valuation model, and the assessment of mispricing in the Swedish stock market', *ABACUS*, Vol. 46, 2010, pp 387-418.
- Strong, N. and Walker, M., 'The explanatory power of earnings for stock returns', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 68, 1993, pp 385-399.
- Teoh, S. H. and Wong, T. J., 'Perceived auditor quality and the earnings response coefficient', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 68, 1993, pp 346-366.
- Vuong, Q. H., 'Likelihood ratio tests for model selection and non-nested hypotheses', *Econometrica*, Vol. 57, 1989, pp 307-333.

3 Earnings quality and the implied cost of equity capital – the Swedish case

Abstract

This paper reports results on the association between earnings quality and the implied cost of equity capital for a non-US sample of firms. In light of the ongoing debate in the empirical literature of whether earnings quality really is a priced risk factor, there is a need for out-of-sample evidence. I use a sample of firms listed in Sweden over the years 1994-2008, and argue that the association between earnings quality and implied cost of capital might be stronger in this market. I also propose a new approach to estimate the implied cost of capital. This approach differs from existing approaches since it is not restricted to firms with analyst following, positive earnings, positive earnings growth, and/or long time-series of accounting data. The benefits of an unrestricted sample are twofold; it enables a larger number of observations in the earnings quality tests, and it allows for a study of the full cross-sectional variation of the variables. The proposed cost of capital approach is a Residual Income Valuation application, using historical mean ROE as the ROE forecasts. In addition, firm-specific steady state ROE is modeled as a function of accounting conservatism, growth and cost of capital (following Skogsvik, 1998). In the main tests, I find that poor earnings quality seems to be associated with a higher implied cost of equity capital. On average, moving from the group with the highest earnings quality to the group with the lowest earnings quality, the cost of capital increases with about 1.6 percentage points after controlling for conventional risk factors. The results of the paper thus support the idea that information risk is a priced risk factor.

3.1 Introduction

Theoretical research suggests that information risk is a priced risk factor (e.g., Easley and O'Hara, 2004; Lambert *et al.*, 2011), i.e. investors demand a higher cost of equity capital for firms with high information risk.¹⁴⁷ In the empirical literature some papers report evidence supporting this view (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Gray *et al.*, 2009; Kim and Qi, 2010), whereas others are unable to find an association between cost of capital and information risk (e.g., Core *et al.*, 2008; McInnis, 2010). The empirical evidence is typically limited to samples of US firms, and there is hence a need for out-of-sample studies.

The objective of this paper is to examine the association between the cost of equity capital and information risk in a Swedish setting. If it can be confirmed that poor *earnings quality*, as a proxy for information risk, is associated with higher cost of capital also in this sample of firms, it supports the notion that information risk is a priced risk factor. In my view, this association is especially interesting to study in a Swedish capital market context. The Swedish stock market is well-developed, but analyst following has until recently been relatively limited (Doukas and McKnight, 2005).¹⁴⁸ Analysts act as information intermediaries in financial markets, and without these intermediaries one might assume that investors will demand a higher compensation for information risk. Hence, if there is an association between earnings quality and cost of capital, this association can potentially be stronger in Sweden.

Prior empirical studies use two alternative methods to determine whether earnings quality is a priced risk factor: either factor mimicking portfolio tests (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Nichols, 2006) or earnings quality regressions with implied cost of capital estimates as the dependent variable (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004; Gray *et al.*, 2009).¹⁴⁹ An advantage of factor mimicking portfolio tests is that there are few restrictions on data availability. However, the use of this method is also debated (e.g., Aboody *et al.*, 2005; Core *et al.*, 2008). The essence of the critique is that a significant loading on a factor proxying for information risk does not mean that it is priced by the market. Core *et al.* (2008) use a Fama and MacBeth (1974) approach and show that even though the loading on a factor that proxies for information risk is positive, the factor cannot explain the cross-sectional variation in returns.

Alternatively, the association between earnings quality and cost of capital is evaluated using *implied cost of capital* estimates. These estimates coincide with the

¹⁴⁷ Cost of equity capital and cost of capital are used interchangeably in this report. Cost of debt is not considered.

¹⁴⁸ The Swedish stock market during the sample period is described in the introductory chapter of the dissertation.

¹⁴⁹ Gray *et al.* (2009) use a crude implied cost of capital proxy: the industry adjusted EP ratio. This proxy can only be considered to be valid under special conditions such as full payout ratio and no growth. In fact, in tests of robustness I do not find a significant relation between the EP ratio and earnings quality in my sample of firms. This might be an indication of the EP approach generating cost of capital estimates that are too noisy.

internal rate of return that equates a firm's current stock price with the discounted future expected (net) dividends. This research method avoids the critique raised against the factor mimicking portfolio tests. However, there are other disadvantages using this method. Existing approaches to estimate the implied cost of capital are constrained, as they can only be applied to firms with positive earnings, positive earnings growth, analyst following and/or long time-series of accounting data.¹⁵⁰ In many cases the loss of observations is substantial and it can be questioned whether inferences to the population of firms really can be drawn from observing these potentially non-representative samples.¹⁵¹

I choose to use implied cost of capital estimates to study whether earnings quality is a priced risk factor in a Swedish sample of firms. In order to mitigate the potential sample selection bias associated with such a methodology, I develop an implied cost of capital approach that does not restrict the sample in the dimensions previously mentioned.¹⁵² It thus enables a study of the full cross-sectional variation in the variables of interest. For example, non-profitable firms and firms without analyst following might be viewed as overall more risky and potentially as having higher information risk. Including these types of firms in my sample is yet another reason for why a stronger association between earnings quality and cost of capital might be expected in this study.

The proposed implied cost of capital approach is an application of the residual income valuation model (RIV) and I choose to label it "the fundamental RIV approach". It uses firm-specific historical ROE (three-year mean) as forecasts of ROE for the first three years after the valuation point in time (e.g., Penman and Sougiannis, 1998).¹⁵³ The use of three year historical ROE has in previous research been found to be useful in forecasting (e.g., Skogsvik, 2008). From year 4 and onwards, both the ROE and the equity growth rate are assumed to fade linearly over a ten year period towards a steady state level. In the approach, firm-specific steady state ROE is modeled, assuming it is a function of the accounting conservatism in the industry, an

¹⁵⁰ Hou *et al.* (2010) propose a new approach to the implied cost of capital that is neither dependent on analyst forecasts, nor positive earnings, nor positive earnings growth. However, this approach hinges on a very elaborate earnings forecasting model that requires long time-series of accounting data. As such, the approach can also be used only on a limited sample of firms.

¹⁵¹ For example, in Easton and Monahan (2005) the majority of the Compustat firms is lost when implementing their implied cost of capital approach. Another example is Karamanou and Nishiotis (2009) in which they lose about 40% of their sample when testing the association between the announcement of IAS adoption and the change in implied cost of capital.

¹⁵² Not restricting the sample also enables a larger number of observations of the cost of capital. This is often crucial when doing statistical tests in samples, such as the Swedish one, where both the cross-section and time-series are limited.

¹⁵³ ROE stands for "return on owners' equity" and is measured as earnings before extraordinary items divided by the book value of owners' equity in the beginning of the financial year.

assumed growth rate in the steady state and the firm's cost of capital (Runsten, 1998; Skogsvik, 1998; Skogsvik and Skogsvik, 2010).¹⁵⁴ The model is implemented quarterly in order to further enhance the number of observations.¹⁵⁵

The fundamental RIV approach is evaluated by benchmarking it to more established models in the literature (e.g., Botosan *et al.*, 2010). I find that the mean cost of capital estimate derived from the fundamental RIV approach, is similar to the mean estimates derived from the established models. The standard deviation around the mean is however higher for the fundamental RIV approach.¹⁵⁶ The implied cost of capital estimates from different approaches are also evaluated in regressions on conventional risk factors (*beta, market cap* and *book-to-market*). In these regressions, the estimates derived from the fundamental RIV approach seem to be more associated with the risk factors than the other estimates. The adjusted R² is 23.3% when the implied cost of capital estimates are derived from the fundamental RIV approach, whereas it is only 1.9 - 15.3% when the implied cost of capital estimates are derived for the fundamental RIV approach. I conclude that my approach seems to generate cost of capital estimates that are (at least) at par with estimates from the more established approaches.

The estimates derived from the fundamental RIV approach are then used to answer the main question of the paper; whether *earnings quality* (EQ) is associated with the cost of capital for firms listed in Sweden. Over the time period 1994-2008, firms with the necessary data generate 940 firm-quarter observations of the implied cost of capital. Following prior research, I regress the cost of capital estimates on conventional risk factors and an EQ rank based variable, ranging from 1 to 5 (EQ is measured either as *value relevance* or *timeliness* and a high rank of EQ means that the firm has high earnings quality).¹⁵⁷ For both measures of EQ, the coefficients are positive and statistically significant, indicating that firms with a low EQ are associated with a higher cost of capital.¹⁵⁸ The magnitude of the coefficients on the EQ rank variables are in line with previous research (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004). On average, moving from the group with the highest earnings quality (measured as *value relevance*) to the group

¹⁵⁴ As a proxy for accounting conservatism I use the industry based measure developed in Runsten (1998). The opportunity to use an existing empirical measure of accounting conservatism, in the estimation of cost of capital, is an additional benefit of using a Swedish sample of firms (see also Skogsvik and Skogsvik, 2010).

¹⁵⁵ Another example of implementation on shorter time-intervals is Daske (2006), who implements a cost of capital model using monthly observations on stock price.

¹⁵⁶ This higher standard deviation could be attributed to the firm-specific steady state ROE, which allows for more firm-specific variations in the determinants of cost of capital.

¹⁵⁷ With a sample of Czech firms, Hellström (2006) validates the value relevance methodology as indicative of accounting quality.

¹⁵⁸ In robustness tests I include year-dummies in the regressions and report statistical significance based on White's heteroskedasticity consistent t-values (White, 1980). The results remain, though slightly muted.

with the lowest earnings quality, the cost of capital increases with about 1.6 percentage points.¹⁵⁹

There is scarce evidence on the association between *earnings quality* and the *implied cost of capital* for non-US samples of firms. Using a Swedish sample of firms, this study provides out-of-sample evidence of poor earnings quality being associated with a higher cost of capital. The paper thus corroborates prior research showing that information risk is a priced risk factor.

Another contribution of this paper is the development of the fundamental RIV approach to estimate the cost of capital. The approach seems to be, at least, at par with the more established implied cost of capital approaches in terms of its ability to explain variations in conventional risk factors. More importantly, the approach does not suffer from the same sample restrictions as more established approaches. In a robustness test it is indeed found that, when the sample is restricted to firms with positive earnings quality and cost of capital is no longer significant. This might be an indication of small, non-profitable firms (typically excluded from the sample) having a more pronounced association between earnings quality and cost of capital than other firms.

3.2 Previous research

In this section, I discuss previous research on the association between information uncertainty and cost of capital (3.2.1), the measurement of information uncertainty based on operationalizations of earnings quality (3.2.2), and the measurement of the cost of equity capital (3.2.3). This discussion serves as a foundation for the choices of empirical estimates of both cost of capital and information uncertainty that are done in the study. In subsequent tests, the estimates of the cost of capital are regressed on the measures of earnings quality.

3.2.1 Information uncertainty and the cost of equity capital

In a classic CAPM setting, information risk is typically ignored (e.g., Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965). Beta captures *all* the risk, and expectations on beta are assumed to be exogenously given. As such, the quality of accounting information is not an issue. When relaxing these assumptions, however, information risk might become a concern. The theoretical literature proposes several factors why information risk indeed should be priced by investors. For example, when relaxing the assumption of homogenous

¹⁵⁹ The effect is somewhat smaller when EQ is measured as *timeliness* (1.3 percentage points). This difference in magnitude, between *timeliness* and *value relevance*, has also been found in previous research (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004) and it is thus often argued that *value relevance* thus might be a better proxy for EQ.

beliefs among investors, Merton (1987) shows that a firm's cost of equity capital decreases when the uninformed investors receive more information about the firm. Diamond and Verrecchia (1991) also demonstrate how higher information risk can increase the cost of capital through liquidity risk. Easley and O'Hara (2004) argue that the cost of capital effect is mainly due to the asymmetry in the distribution of information among investors. Lambert *et al.* (2011), on the other hand, argue that it is not information asymmetry that gives rise to the effect on cost of capital, but rather the average level of information precision. The theoretical studies thus seem to agree on investors perceiving information uncertainty as a risk factor.

Prior empirical evidence is less clear-cut, however. Most of these studies use earnings quality (EQ) as a proxy for information uncertainty, where low earnings quality is a measure of high information uncertainty, and vice versa.¹⁶⁰ Francis *et al.* (2004) find that several earnings quality proxies are statistically associated with implied cost of capital estimates, indicating that earnings quality is perceived as a risk factor by investors. Similar conclusions are drawn by Bhattacharya *et al.* (2003), who look at a composite earnings quality measure. McInnis (2010) however finds that *earnings smoothness* as a measure of earnings quality is not associated with implied cost of capital estimates.

Using factor mimicking portfolio tests, several papers find a positive loading on the return of a portfolio based on earnings quality (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004; Nichols, 2006; Gray *et al.*, 2009).¹⁶¹ These results indicate that firms with poor earnings quality have higher returns. Since the loading on this EQ factor is significant after controlling for other conventional risk factors, it is concluded that earnings quality indeed is a priced risk factor. However, this conclusion is disputed (e.g., Aboody *et al.*, 2005; Core *et al.*, 2008). Core *et al.* (2008) argue that, to be able to conclude that this factor is priced, one has to be able to show that the loading on the EQ factor can explain cross-sectional returns. Employing a methodology following Fama and MacBeth (1974), they show that the EQ factor has no explanatory power on the distribution of stock returns. Accordingly, they dismiss the idea that earnings quality is a priced risk factor.

Recent papers employ the same technique as Core *et al.* (2008), but report conflicting results (e.g., Ogneva, 2010; Kim and Qi, 2010). Ogneva (2010) points out that poor earnings quality is positively correlated with negative cash flow shocks, which in turn leads to negative returns. She proposes that the negative returns might

¹⁶⁰ I restrict the following discussion to results regarding the association between earnings quality and cost of capital and do not cover research that uses other proxies for information uncertainty.

¹⁶¹ The portfolios are constructed so that a long position is taken in stocks with low earnings quality and a short position in stocks with high earnings quality. The return of the combined portfolio (long minus short) is added as a fourth factor, in addition to the excess market return, the return to the SMB portfolio and the return to the HML portfolio. The dependent variable is firm-specific return in excess of the risk free rate.

offset the higher expected returns required for firms with poor earnings quality. Failing to control for the negative cash flow shocks, it is hard to empirically find an association between earnings quality and realized returns. Ogneva (2010) finds that, after controlling for the negative cash flow shocks, the EQ factor is indeed associated with cross-sectional returns.

To summarize, the theoretical research seems to suggest that information uncertainty should be perceived by investors as a risk factor. The empirical research however provides mixed evidence. The return tests (using factor mimicking portfolios) are debated and, as mentioned in the introduction, the implied cost of capital approach has only been used in fairly restricted samples. Overall, this suggests a need for more empirical evidence.

3.2.2 Measuring information uncertainty

It is common in the literature to use *earnings quality* as a summary indicator of accounting information uncertainty.¹⁶² Investors care about the future pay-offs of investments and poor earnings quality potentially obstructs the assessment of these pay-offs. The concept of earnings quality is however difficult to operationalize and measure empirically. Nevertheless, there is a vast literature suggesting different proxies for earnings quality (for an overview, see for example Dechow and Schrand, 2004; Francis *et al.*, 2006; Dechow *et al.*, 2010).

Francis *et al.* (2004) compare a number of earnings quality metrics with the aim of determining which dimensions of earnings quality that investors care most about. Four metrics are characterized as "accounting-based" and three are characterized as "market-based". The accounting-based metrics (*accruals quality, persistence, smoothness* and *predictability*) are measured using accounting data and look at the difference between cash flows and earnings (i.e. the accruals). The market-based metrics (*value relevance, timeliness* and *conservatism*) also use accounting data, but relate this data to market prices or returns. Francis *et al.* (2004) find that *accruals quality, persistence* and *value relevance* have the highest association with their cost of capital estimates, and conclude that these dimensions of earnings quality matter most to investors. *Accruals quality* has in subsequent studies been the predominant proxy for earnings quality (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Gray *et al.*, 2009; Kim and Qi, 2010).

The logic behind the earnings quality metrics is not always evident. One example is *smoothness*, where it is not obvious that smooth earnings really should be an indicator of low information uncertainty. If a firm has very smooth earnings, surely investors

¹⁶² Some studies try to separate earnings quality into innate earnings quality and discretionary earnings quality, where the first arises from innate sources such as the firm's business model and the second arises from the financial reporting process (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005). However, this paper focuses on total earnings quality.

would suspect some kind of earnings management and consider the reported information to be uncertain.

In addition, some of the earnings quality metrics can be considered to be contradictory. In for example *total accruals*, earnings are considered to be of high quality if they are highly associated with cash flows. A different perspective, underlying for example the *value relevance* metric, is that earnings are of high quality if they are highly associated with stock market returns. It is not obvious that these two quality dimensions coincide.

I use *value relevance* and *timeliness* as proxies for earnings quality. A benefit of these measures is that the estimations do not require a long time-series of accounting data.¹⁶³ In addition, the measures are possible to implement with quarterly data, increasing the number of data points in the regressions with cost of capital.¹⁶⁴

3.2.3 Measuring the cost of equity capital

Realized returns have been used as a proxy for the *expected* returns in prior research. This is problematic however, as pointed out by Elton (1999). Realized returns can be decomposed into *expected* returns and *unexpected* (or abnormal) returns. When using realized returns as a proxy for expected returns, it is presumed that unexpected returns has a zero mean, at least in sufficiently large samples. However, unexpected returns are large in magnitude and correlated across firms and time. Consequently, average realized returns are often a biased proxy of expected returns, even in large samples. In addition, Vuolteenaho (2002) finds empirically that the part of realized returns that corresponds to unexpected returns. In fact it seems like the unexpected return component is the dominant factor driving firm-specific realized returns. These findings suggest that realized returns are problematic to use as a proxy for expected returns.

New approaches to find better estimates of the expected return have been a concern in the finance and accounting literature over the latest decade. Many of these use valuation models and calculate the implied discount rate that equates the modeling value of the share to the share price. Using the PVED model (Present Value of Expected Dividends) as an illustration, the implied cost of capital approach means solving for r in the following equation:

¹⁶³ Other proxies of earnings quality, for example *accruals quality*, can be implemented in the cross-section. However, a large cross-section is then needed for each industry.

¹⁶⁴ Yet another motivation is that both these metrics use returns as their reference construct. It is assumed that earnings of good quality reflect economic earnings (which are represented in market returns). This concept of earnings quality (or information uncertainty) is also the theme of the second paper of the dissertation.

$$P_0 = \sum_{t=1}^{T} (1+r)^{-t} E_0(dps_t) + (1+r)^{-T} E_0(P_T)$$

(3.1)

where:

 $P_0 =$ price of share at time t = 0,r =required (expected) cost of equity capital, $dps_t =$ dividend per share at time t, $E_0(...) =$ expected value of (...) assessed at time t = 0, $P_T =$ price of share at time t = T.

In PVED the value of a stock equals the discounted present value of future expected dividends up to the terminal date T and the discounted expected price of the stock at this terminal date. When applying the model to empirical data, one has to decide on the choice of T and how to assess the terminal price, P_T . A common way to calculate P_T is to apply Gordon's growth formula, where the expected value of the dividend in the first period after T is expected to grow at a constant rate (g_{ab}) .

$$P_0 = \sum_{t=1}^{T} (1+r)^{-t} E_0(dps_t) + (1+r)^{-T} (r-g_{ss})^{-1} E_0(dps_{T+1})$$
(3.2)

where:

$$g_{ss}$$
 = growth rate in the steady state, $t = T + 1, T + 2, ...$

The growth rate in the steady state is either exogenously given or can be solved for simultaneously (e.g., Nekrasov and Ogneva, 2011).

Even though the underlying logic basically is the same for all implied cost of capital approaches, the implementations proposed in the literature differ regarding the timing of the steady state, growth up to the steady state, and growth in the steady state. The implementations also differ with respect to the forecasts which constitute input variables in the models. Depending on which valuation model that is used, data is needed on the market's beliefs about expected future dividends, earnings, book values of equity, and the growth rate in the steady state. Since the beliefs of the market are non-observable, analysts' forecasts of these variables have often been used in prior research.

Table 3.1 summarizes some commonly used implied cost of capital approaches,¹⁶⁵ which will serve as benchmarks to the fundamental RIV approach suggested in this paper.

Implied cost of capital	Formula
r₀ _{jn}	$r_{ojn} = A + \sqrt{A^2 + \frac{eps_1}{P_0} \times \left(\frac{eps_2 - eps_1}{eps_1}\right) - (\gamma - 1)}$
	$A = \left((\gamma - 1) + \frac{dps_1}{P_0} \right) \frac{1}{2}$
<i>r</i> _{mpeg}	$r_{mpeg} = A + \sqrt{A^2 + \left(\frac{eps_2 - eps_1}{P_0}\right)}$
	$A = dps_1/(2P_0)$
r [*] peg	$r_{peg} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{eps_2 - eps_1}{P_0}\right)}$
₿gls	$P_{0} = bps_{0} + \sum_{t=1}^{12} (1 + r_{gls})^{-t} [(ROE_{t} - r_{gls})bps_{t-1}] + (1 + r_{gls})^{-12} (r_{gls})^{-1} [(ROE_{ss} - r_{gls})bps_{12}]$

Table 3.1. Implied cost of capital formulas

(i) P_0 is the price of the share at the first trading day of the calendar year. ρ_{P_0} is the forecast of earnings per share, measured with the median of analysts' forecasts as of December 31 year t-1. $d\rho_{P_1}$ is the forecasted dividend per share for year 1, measured as $d\rho_{P_1}$ which is the actual dividend per share for the year preceding the valuation date, year -1. (p-1) is the growth in abnormal earnings beyond the forecast horizon and is set to the risk-free rate minus 3%. $b\rho_{P_0}$ is the book value per share at the end of year -1, i.e. at the valuation point in time. ROE_i for years 1-3 is in the r_{p_0} approach measured as $e\rho_{P_1}$, $d\rho_{P_2}$ and $e\rho_{P_3}$ divided by beginning of period book value per share. From year 4 to year 7, ROE_i fades linearly towards the steady state ROE, ROE_w . ROE_w is in the r_{q_0} approach set equal to the historical median ROE for the industry in which the firm operates.

Gebhardt *et al.* (2001) use a RIV model to solve for the cost of capital. Estimates generated by this approach are referred to as $r_{\rm gls.}^{166}$ Analyst forecasts of earnings are

¹⁶⁵ A more extensive overview can be found in Botosan *et al.* (2010), Table 2 and 3.

used for the first three years, and then it is assumed that the forecasted ROE_t of year 3 linearly fades towards the ROE in the steady state. Gebhardt *et al.* (2001) further assume that ROE in the steady state, ROE_{ss} , is equal to the historical median ROE of the industry in which the firm operates. The residual return in the steady state is thus the spread between the industry median ROE and the cost of capital.¹⁶⁷

Ohlson (2005) points out that the RIV model might be sensitive to the assumption of the clean surplus relation (CSR). By rewriting PVED, Ohlson and Juettner-Nauroth (2005) derive the abnormal earnings growth (AEG) model, which does not rely on CSR. The AEG model anchors on capitalized forward earnings and has an "adjustment factor" for future growth in abnormal earnings, where abnormal earnings growth essentially is cum-dividend earnings minus earnings for the previous year. Gode and Monhanram (2003) use the AEG model to generate implied cost of capital estimates, here referred to as $r_{\rm oin}$.¹⁶⁸

Easton (2004) uses the PEG model (Price to Earnings Growth) to derive an estimate of the cost of capital. The PEG model is the price to earnings ratio (PE) divided by the forecasted growth in earnings. Easton (2004) also shows that when there is no abnormal growth in earnings beyond the second forecast period, the AEG model coincides with the modified PEG ratio and the cost of capital estimate r_{mpeg} . If one additionally assumes that the forecasted dividend for year 1 is zero, r_{mpeg} coincides with r_{peg} .

The above cost of capital estimates have frequently been used in previous empirical research and will serve as benchmarks for the fundamental RIV approach developed in this study. Note that all of the approaches require data on analysts' forecasts of earnings. The r_{ojn} , r_{mpeg} and r_{peg} approaches can moreover only be implemented for firms with positive earnings and positive earnings growth.¹⁶⁹

In addition to being sensitive to assumptions and forecasting methods, the estimates are inherently hard to validate. Nevertheless, several validation procedures have been proposed in the literature. A first validation procedure is to correlate the estimated cost of capital to realized returns. If the correlation is positive, the cost of

¹⁶⁶ In Table 3.1 the formula for r_{gls} does not define the cost of capital explicitly, since such an expression is cumbersome. The r_{gls} approach is in the literature commonly presented with a valuation model instead, where r_{gls} is solved for.

¹⁶⁷ Claus and Thomas (2001) also use the RIV model to infer the cost of capital. The difference compared to the application by Gebhardt *et al.* (2001) is that Claus and Thomas (2001) assume a forecasting period of five years and use analysts' forecasts of earnings and book values during this period. In the steady state they assume a growth rate equal to the inflation rate, which they set to be equal to the nominal interest rate minus 3%. This growth rate is thus similar to all firms and industries. I do not report the specification by Claus and Thomas (2001) in Table 3.1, since it will not be considered in this paper.

¹⁶⁸ OJN stands for Ohlson Juettner-Nauroth. In the estimation of r_{ojn} , I follow the implementation of Gode and Mohanram (2003) which is described more thoroughly in Section 3.5.1.1.

¹⁶⁹ Positive values of earnings growth is required in order to restrict the solution to one value of the cost of capital.

capital estimates can be considered to be valid proxies of expected returns (e.g., Gode and Monhanram, 2003; Guay *et al.*, 2005). The procedure hinges upon realized returns being a good proxy for expected returns, which, as mentioned above, can be somewhat problematic. Some argue however, that for large portfolios the problem is less severe (e.g., Gode and Monhanram, 2003). The correlation between realized returns and cost of capital estimates are therefore usually done on a portfolio level.

Another validation procedure tries to control for cash flow news and expected return news when regressing realized returns on the implied cost of capital estimates (Campbell, 1991). Easton and Monahan (2005) set up a regression with firm-specific realized return as the dependent variable and the estimated implied cost of capital, a proxy variable for cash flow news and a proxy variable for expected return news, as independent variables (following Vuolteenaho, 2002). They recognize that there can be measurement errors in the control variables, which would affect the coefficient estimates. Hence, they try to control for this and isolate the measurement error that is attributable to the cost of capital estimate. Botosan *et al.* (2010) also use the regression proposed by Vuolteenaho (2002), but argue that Easton and Monahan's (2005) results are sensitive to the definition of the control variables and even subject to induced circularity.¹⁷⁰

A third validation procedure is to investigate how the implied cost of capital estimates are correlated to factors that have been shown to be related to risk (e.g., Gebhardt *et al.*, 2001; Botosan and Plumlee, 2005; Botosan *et al.*, 2010). This procedure requires that the choice of risk factors is exhaustive and correct, which is unlikely. It is really only the market *beta* that is theoretically related to investment risk (e.g., Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965), even though other factors such as *book-to-market* and *size* (market capitalization) have been proposed to be able to explain cross-sectional variations of risk (e.g., Fama and French, 1992 and 1993).¹⁷¹ However, empirical investigations have typically focused on the association between these "risk factors" and expected return. Despite the shortcomings, regressions on risk factors are commonly used as a means of validation. The implied costs of capital estimates are then expected to have a

¹⁷⁰ This circularity comes from Easton and Monahan's proxy for expected return news, where they use the change in implied cost of capital over the year. Since this variable is a function of the change in price (which is part of the dependent variable) and the change in cash flows (which is part of the other control variable), there is by construction correlation among the independent variables.

¹⁷¹ Dividend yield has also been proposed as a risk factor (e.g., Rozeff, 1984). However, it is seldom used in validation tests of implied cost of capital estimates.

positive association with *beta* and *book-to-market*, and a negative association with *market cap*.¹⁷²

A fourth validation procedure is proposed in Daske *et al.* (2010). They evaluate different estimates of the implied cost of capital by comparing the estimates to a "true" cost of capital derived from a simulated economy. The result of this type of validation procedure is dependent on the assumptions made in the simulation, regarding for example sales growth and EBITDA margins.

Results from the validation procedures are mixed. Guay *et al.* (2005) and Easton and Monahan (2005) find that all the established implied cost of capital approaches generate estimates that have very low validity. However, after refining the control variables in Easton and Monahan (2005), Botosan *et al.* (2010) find a significant association with realized returns for almost all cost of capital estimates. In particular, it is found that r_{peg} appears to be robustly associated with realized returns after controlling for cash flow and cost of capital news.

Botosan *et al.* (2010) also show that many implied cost of capital estimates have a robust relationship to risk factors. For example estimates of r_{peg} are in yearly regressions typically positively associated with *unlevered beta, leverage, book-to-market* and *growth*, and negatively associated with *market cap.*¹⁷³

Using the simulated cost of capital as a benchmark, Daske *et al.* (2010) find that most of the established estimates appear to exaggerate the cost of capital. There seems to be a distortion effect so that the models tend to overestimate the cost of capital when the "true" cost of capital is high, and to underestimate it when it is low. Further analyses show that this distortion can be traced to the modeling of future pay-offs in the implied cost of capital approaches. Typically it is here assumed that most pay-offs accrue relatively early, whereas they accrue on average later in the simulated economy. Nevertheless, Daske *et al.* (2010) find that the implied cost of capital estimates capture up to 90% of the variation of the "true" cost of capital, and that RIV applications and approaches with long forecasting horizons do better than other models.

¹⁷² Regarding the expectations on *book-to-market* and *market cap*, Botosan and Plumlee (2005) refer to Berk (1995). He argues that if the model of expected returns is not complete, the market capitalization variable will by construction have a negative loading since higher risk will give a lower price and thus a lower market capitalization. Consequently, *book-to-market* (which has price in the denominator) will have a positive coefficient. This is also consistent with the empirical findings in Fama and French (1992), but not consistent with the findings of Dechow *et al.* (2004) who propose that *book-to-market* is a crude proxy for "equity duration" and thus should have a negative relationship with risk. Due to the ambiguity of the relationship between these variables and risk, Botosan and Plumlee (2005) include the variables step-wise in their regression on cost of capital estimates. When including both variables, the coefficient on *market cap* is not significant (Table 4 in Botosan and Plumlee, 2005).

¹⁷³ Referring to previous research, Botosan *et al.* (2010) unlever the *market beta* in order to be able to more easily interpret the coefficient on this variable. When using the levered market beta, it captures both leverage risk and the risk associated with co-movements with the market (e.g., Modigliani and Miller, 1958).

It is clear from the discussion above that estimating the cost of capital is quite complex.¹⁷⁴ In addition to being hard to validate, the established implied cost of capital approaches are constrained by the fact that they require positive earnings, positive earnings growth, analyst following and/or long time-series of accounting data.

3.3 The fundamental RIV approach

I propose a new implied cost of capital approach – "the fundamental RIV approach". Cost of capital estimates from this approach are labeled r_{riv} .

The fundamental RIV approach uses an explicit forecast period of three years and thereafter ten years of a fading pattern towards a steady state. The estimation approach differs from existing approaches in a number of ways. First, firm-specific historical means of ROE are used as forecasts for ROE_t for years 1 to 3. Previous research indicates that historical mean values of ROE are useful in forecasting (e.g., Penman and Sougiannis, 1998; Skogsvik, 2008). Second, dividend policy is defined as the ratio of dividends to owners' equity (dp_f). I argue that this relation is more stable than relating dividends to earnings, and thus more suitable for forecasting. Third, both ROE_t and the growth in owners' equity are assumed to change linearly over time from year 4 to time T+1 (=13). The linear fading process for ROE_t is calculated as:

$$ROE_t = ROE_3 + \left(\frac{ROE_{ss} - ROE_3}{10}\right)(t - 3)$$
(3.3)

for $4 \le t \le 12$.

where:

 ROE_t = return on owners' equity for period *t*, ROE_{ss} = return on owners' equity in the steady state.

Fourth, ROE in the steady state (ROE_{ss}) is modeled to be a function of *accounting* conservatism, the steady state growth rate and the cost of capital (cf. Skogsvik, 1998). ROE_{ss} can be written as a function of the other variables by rewriting the expression of the

¹⁷⁴ Additionally, the reported implied cost of capital approaches do not consider probabilities of bankruptcy failure (cf. Skogsvik, 2006). Consequently, the cost of capital estimates have more the character of a promised yield than of a required expected return. Skogsvik (2006) shows how probabilistic business failure predictions can be incorporated in bond and equity valuation models, and hence implicitly how an unbiased value of the expected cost of capital can be obtained.

terminal value in the RIV model. Conditional on the clean surplus relation, the terminal residual value is:

$$V_{T} - BV(E)_{T} = \frac{BV(E)_{T}(ROE_{ss} - r)}{r - g_{ss}}$$
(3.4)

where:

$V_T =$	value of owners' equity at time $t = T$,
$BV(E)_T =$	book value of owners' equity at time $t = T$,
$ROE_{ss} =$	return on owners' equity in the steady state,
r =	cost of equity capital,
$g_{ss} =$	growth rate in the steady state.

Rewriting (3.4) yields the following expression for ROE_{s} :

$$ROE_{ss} = r + (V_T / BV(E)_T - 1)(r - g_{ss})$$
(3.5)

Assuming that all business goodwill has evaporated at time *T*, a positive difference between V_T and $BV(E)_T$ is attributable to a conservative measurement of book values. Runsten (1998) refers to $(V_T/BV(E)_T - 1)$ as the permanent measurement bias (PMB).¹⁷⁵

The accounting conservatism is presumed to be similar for firms within the same industry. For industries with conservatively measured assets the *PMB* will be positive, increasing the difference between ROE_s and the cost of capital. This is in the main an effect of the book values of operating assets being conservatively assessed. The modeling of the conservative measurement bias allows for firm-specific estimates of the steady state ROE.

To summarize, in the fundamental RIV approach, the cost of capital is solved for in the following valuation formula:

¹⁷⁵ I describe the empirical measures of PMB in Section 3.5.1.1.

$$P_{0} = bps_{0} + \sum_{t=1}^{12} (1 + r_{riv})^{-t} \left[(ROE_{t} - r_{riv})bps_{t-1} \right] + (1 + r_{riv})^{-12} \left[\left(\frac{V_{T}}{BV(E)_{T}} - 1 \right) bps_{12} \right]$$
(3.6)

where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} P_0 = & \text{stock price at time } t = 0, \\ bps_t = & \text{book value of equity per share at time } t, \\ ROE_t = & \text{return on owners' equity for period } t, \\ \left(\frac{V_T}{BV(E)_T} - 1\right) = & \text{permanent measurement bias of owners' equity at time } T, \\ r_{riv} = & \text{cost of equity capital in the fundamental RIV approach.} \end{array}$

Note that some forecasts are exogenously given, whereas ROE_{ss} has to be solved for simultaneously with r_{riv} in an iteration process.¹⁷⁶ This is described in Section 3.5.1.1.

The approach is further implemented on both yearly data (in order to benchmark it to other models) and quarterly data (to gain data points for the earnings quality tests). The application for quarterly data is described further in Section 3.5.2.1.

 $^{^{176}}$ ROE_{ss} is not an explicit variable in expression (3.6), but is needed to determine the forecasts of ROE_t from year 4 to year T in line with the fading process in expression (3.3).

3.4 Sample and data

The sample consists of firms listed on the Nasdaq OMX Stockholm Exchange (previously Stockholmsbörsen) during the period January 1994 to September 2008. In the beginning of the period only firms that were listed on the major list (the A-list) have been included in the sample. Subsequent to the list changes on October 2, 2006, firms listed on Large Cap have also been included in the sample.¹⁷⁷ As a consequence, 16 companies have been added to the sample as of October 2, 2006.

The sample firms make up a large portion of the total Swedish equity market. In 2005, 52 out of 269 listed firms were listed on the A-list and their total market value was approximately 80% of the total market capitalization this year. Financial companies have been excluded from the sample in order to increase the comparability with previous studies. Firms with a reporting year other than the calendar year have also been excluded, as a matter of convenience in the test design.

Three main data sources have been used in the study; I/B/E/S (Institutional Brokers' Estimate System), SIX (Scandinavian Information Exchange) and Datastream.¹⁷⁸ The analysts' forecasts have been collected from the I/B/E/S database provided by Thomson Reuters. I use the median of analysts' forecasts as of December 31 every year. Forecasts on earnings per share for the coming fiscal year (*eps*₁), two years ahead (*eps*₂) and three years ahead (*eps*₃) are used in the cost of capital estimates.

The accounting data has been provided by SIX, a Swedish company that sells financial information to market participants. SIX does not provide an established database for research purposes, but was at the start of this project the only source that could provide interim accounting reports for the sample firms over the period 1994-2008. The acquired data was in the form of 3-, 6-, 9- and 12-month reports and have been converted into quarterly accounting numbers.¹⁷⁹ Financial statements reported in foreign currencies have been converted to SEK with the exchange rate as of the last date of the reporting period.¹⁸⁰

Stock market data – such as stock prices and returns, risk-free rates and return on the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) – have been collected from Datastream. Information about the number of shares outstanding for each firm has been collected from the periodical Börsguiden.¹⁸¹

¹⁷⁷ These changes implied that the "A-list" and "O-list" were merged and divided into "Large Cap", "Medium Cap" and "Small Cap".

¹⁷⁸ For more information on data sources, see <u>www.thomsonreuters.com</u> and <u>www.six-telekurs.com</u>.

¹⁷⁹ For example, to get the income statement numbers for Q2, the numbers in the 3-month reports where deducted from the 6-month reports.

¹⁸⁰ Exchange rates have been obtained from the database EcoWIN.

¹⁸¹ The number of shares is used to calculate market capitalization (*market cap*).

Sample firms with all the necessary data yields 940 firm-quarter observations in the main tests (61 firms have all the necessary data). Table 3.2 describes the distribution of observations over the sample period.¹⁸²

Year – quarter	# obs	Cum. Freq.
1996-Q4	4	4
1997-Q1	6	10
1997-Q2	9	19
1997-Q3	9	28
1997-Q4	20	48
1998-Q1	21	69
1998-Q3	24	93
1998-Q4	24	117
1999-Q1	27	144
1999-Q2	28	172
1999-Q3	26	198
1999-Q4	30	228
2001-Q1	28	256
2001-Q3	22	278
2001-Q4	21	299
2002-Q1	27	326
2002-Q2	27	353
2002-Q3	23	376
2002-Q4	24	400
2003-Q1	27	427
2003-Q3	28	455
2003-Q4	24	479
2004-Q1	28	507
2004-Q2	27	534
2004-Q3	25	559
2004-Q4	26	585
2005-Q1	28	613
2005-Q2	28	641
2005-Q3	29	670
2005-Q4	30	700
2006-Q1	27	727
2006-Q3	27	754
2006-Q4	28	782
2007-Q1	29	811
2007-Q3	29	840
2007-Q4	28	868
2008-Q1	24	892
2008-Q2	24	916
2008-Q3	24	940

Table 3.2. Number of observations over sample period

¹⁸² Since at least two yearly observations of ROE are needed to calculate historical mean ROE, the first observations of r_{riv} are for Q4 1996.

3.5 Estimation of variables and test design

The empirical tests are divided into two steps. Step 1 is concerned with the validation of implied cost of capital estimates from the fundamental RIV approach. Estimates from this approach are compared to four more established approaches (Section 3.2.3) in terms of regressions on established risk factors. These tests are based on yearly estimates of the implied cost of capital.

Step 2 is concerned with earnings quality and the cost of capital. I first implement the fundamental RIV approach with quarterly financial statements data, in order to increase the number of observations. Second, I run regressions with the cost of capital estimate as the dependent variable against an earnings quality rank variable, controlling for conventional risk factors. I test two alternative measures of earnings quality – *value relevance* and *timeliness*.

3.5.1 Validating the implied cost of capital estimates

3.5.1.1 Estimation of variables

In addition to the fundamental RIV approach, I implement four more established implied cost of capital approaches: r_{peg} , r_{ojn} and r_{gls} (as specified in Table 3.1). In doing this, I try to follow the procedures of the original papers as much as possible. Below, the measurement of variables is described for each approach.

The valuation point in time is in all implementations the first trading day of period 1 (year 1 or quarter 1, depending on whether the model is implemented yearly or quarterly). At this point in time, the stock price (P_0) is set equal to the discounted forecasted accounting variables. The forecasts are made for periods 1, 2, 3 etc. and I refer to the periods preceding the valuation point in time as periods -1, -2, -3 etc. This is illustrated in Figure 3.1.

Figure 3.1. Illustration of valuation point in time



The r_{peg} approach:

• Forecasts of earnings per share $(eps_1 \text{ and } eps_2)$ are measured as of December 31 year -1, with the median of analysts' forecasts of eps_t for years 1 and 2, respectively.

The $r_{\rm mpeg}$ approach:

- Forecasts of earnings per share $(eps_1 \text{ and } eps_2)$ are measured as of December 31 year -1, with the median of analysts' forecasts of eps_t for years 1 and 2, respectively.
- dps_1 is the forecasted dividend per share for year 1. Analysts' forecasts of dividends are limited for Swedish firms, and as a proxy for dps_1 I use dps_1 (the dividend for the year -1).¹⁸³

The r_{oin} approach:

- Forecasts of earnings per share $(\phi s_1 \text{ and } \phi s_2)$ are measured as of December 31 year -1, with the median of analysts' forecasts of ϕs_t for years 1 and 2, respectively.
- As a proxy for dps_1 , I use the dividend per share for the year preceding the valuation date, dps_1 .
- (y-1) is the growth in abnormal earnings beyond the forecast horizon. It is set equal to the risk-free rate minus 3% (following Gode and Mohanram, 2003). I use the return on a Swedish 1-year T-bill as the proxy for the risk-free rate.¹⁸⁴

Note that the above approaches require data on analysts' forecasts of eps_t . In addition, the difference between eps_2 and eps_1 is used as an earnings growth measure when solving for r_{ojn} , r_{mpeg} and r_{peg} .¹⁸⁵ In order to restrict the solution to one value of the cost of capital, growth can only take on positive values, i.e. eps_2 is required to be larger than eps_1 . Consequently, the three approaches can only be implemented for firms that are followed by financial analysts, have positive earnings and a positive trend in earnings.

¹⁸³ By using dps_t of year -1 l introduce a possible look-ahead bias. Typically information on the dps_t of year -1 is not publicly known at the first day of year 1.

¹⁸⁴ Gode and Mohanram (2003) use the return on a 10-year T-bill as a proxy for the risk-free interest rate. During the sample period, the Swedish 10-year interest rate was on average 1% higher than the 1-year rate. As a consequence, using the 1-year rate implies a lower assumed growth in abnormal earnings.

¹⁸⁵ When estimating r_{mpeg} and r_{peg} it is common to assume that the short-term growth between eps_1 and eps_2 is not appropriate to explain price (e.g., Botosan *et al.*, 2010). Instead a more long-term growth in earnings, as expressed by the difference between eps_5 and eps_4 , is used. Unfortunately, such long-term forecasts are not available for my sample of firms.

The r_{gls} approach:

- bps_0 is the book value per share (ex-dividend) at the end of year -1, i.e. at the valuation point in time.¹⁸⁶
- ROE_t for years 1-3 are measured as eps_1 , eps_2 and eps_3 divided by the beginning of period book value per share. eps_1 , eps_2 and eps_3 are measured as of December 31 year -1, with the median of analysts' forecasts of eps for the financial years 1, 2 and 3 respectively. From year 4 to year T = 12, ROE_t is assumed to fade linearly towards the steady state ROE (cf. Gebhardt *et al.*, 2001).
- ROE_{ss} is the steady state ROE and it is set to the historical median ROE for the industry in which the firm operates. Median industry ROE is calculated using rolling three-year windows, requiring at least three observations to calculate the median. When implementing the r_{gls} approach, Botosan and Plumlee (2005) include firms with negative earnings in the estimation of industry median ROE. I follow this procedure.
- The payout ratio *pr* is estimated as *dps*₋₁ divided by *eps*₋₁, i.e. the dividend per share for the year preceding the valuation date divided by the earnings per share for the year preceding the valuation date. The payout ratio is used to forecast future book values of equity and is assumed to be constant up to the steady state. Negative values of *pr* are set equal to zero and values of *pr* above one are set equal to one (following Gebhardt *et al.*, 2001).
- bps_i from year 1 to year *T* is forecasted presuming that the clean surplus relation holds, i.e. $bps_i = bps_{i,1} + eps_i \times (1-pr)$.

The fundamental RIV approach (r_{riv}) :

- bps_0 is the book value per share (ex-dividend) at the end of year -1, i.e. at the valuation point in time.¹⁸⁷
- For years 1 to 3, ROE_t is set to the firm-specific historical mean ROE. This historical mean is calculated using rolling three-year windows (years -3 to -1), requiring at least two firm-year ROE observations. From year 4 to year T = 12, ROE_t is assumed to fade linearly towards the steady state ROE.¹⁸⁸

¹⁸⁶ The look-ahead bias previously described also concerns the use of bps₀.

¹⁸⁷ Hence, the approach also suffers from the look-ahead bias previously described.

¹⁸⁸ There are many studies on the time-series behavior of ROE (e.g., Freeman *et al.*, 1982; Nissim and Penman, 2001; Skogsvik, 2008), all indicating that there is a mean reversion process in ROE. These results motivate the use of a linear fading pattern towards the steady state level of ROE (cf. Skogsvik, 1999).

- *dpf*, the dividend payout fraction, is measured as *dps*₋₁ divided by *bps*₋₂, i.e. the dividend per share for year -1 divided by the equity book value per share at the end of year -2. The value of *dpf* is assumed to be constant for years 1-3.
- bps_t for years 1 to 3 is calculated using the following expression: $bps_t = bps_{t-1} + bps_{t-1} \times (ROE_t dpf)$. From year 4 to year *T*, bps_t is forecasted assuming that the growth rate in owners' equity in year 3 fades linearly towards the steady state value, g_{ss} .
- g_{ss} is assumed to be 2%.
- $(V_T/BV(E)_T 1)$ is measured using industry estimates of permanent measurement bias (*PMB*) from Runsten (1998).¹⁸⁹ *PMB* values are collected from Runsten's 15 industries (cf. Table 5.2, p 151 in Runsten, 1998) and matched to the Datastream industry classification used in this study. If the industry classification includes more than one of Runsten's industries, the average of those *PMB* values are used. Each firm is attributed the *PMB* of the industry in which it operates.
- ROE_{ss} is assumed to be a function of the cost of equity capital, the steady state growth and the accounting measurement bias for the firm as described in expression (3.5).

The fundamental RIV approach and the $r_{\rm gls}$ approach both use the RIV model to solve for the cost of capital. However, the two estimation approaches differ in a few aspects. First, my approach does not require analyst forecasts and can thus be implemented on a larger number of firms. Second, the dividend policy is in my approach defined as dividends divided by the book value of owners' equity, whereas Gebhardt *et al.* (2001) relate dividends to earnings. I argue that dividends in relation to the book value of owners' equity is more stable and thus more suitable for forecasting. Third, in the $r_{\rm gls}$ approach, the payout ratio is a constant up to the steady state, whereas my approach allows for the growth in owner's equity to fade towards the growth rate in steady state. The fundamental RIV approach hence avoids a large jump in dividends prior to entering the steady state. The final difference is that the fundamental RIV approach models steady state ROE differently, assuming that it is a function of the permanent measurement bias, the cost of capital and the growth rate in steady state. As such, the approach models firm-specific estimates of steady state ROE, whereas the $r_{\rm gls}$ approach models industry-specific steady state ROE.

¹⁸⁹ With a sample of 252 firms listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange for the period 1966-1993, Runsten (1998) estimated PMB values for 15 industries. He calculated a marginal PMB for machinery, equipment, ships, buildings, trading property, land, investments in shares, R&D assets, human capital assets, marketing and advertising values, and deferred taxes. The median PMB for each asset class was then weighted by its relative importance in the industry. Finally, a time-series median of the total PMB for each industry was calculated.

In the $r_{\rm gls}$ approach and the fundamental RIV approach, iterations are needed in order to solve for the cost of capital. For each firm, I set the cost of capital to a starting value of 7%. In the fundamental RIV approach, this starting value is then used to first calculate $ROE_{\rm ss}$ (expression (3.5)). Subsequently, ROE_t for years 4 to T can be calculated (expression (3.3)) and forecasts of book values of equity can be calculated given the clean surplus relation of accounting. The solution of the cost of capital can be either higher or lower than the starting value of 7% and in a second step this new value is used as a starting point. This iteration process is done for each firm-year or firm-quarter until the solution to the cost of capital equals the starting value. The iteration procedure is restricted to only accept solutions that belong to the range [0.000001%, 30%].

3.5.1.2 Validity tests

I follow previous research and regress each cost of capital estimate on risk factors (e.g., Botosan and Plumlee, 2005; Francis *et al.*, 2004). The aim is to see if the cost of capital generated by the fundamental RIV approach are in line with estimates generated by more conventional models, before using these estimates to test for the association with earnings quality.

In the validity tests of the estimated cost of capital the following statistical model is used:

$$\hat{r}_{i,t} = \gamma_{0,i} + \gamma_{1,i} bet a_{i,t} + \gamma_{2,i} M C_{i,t} + \gamma_{3,i} B M_{i,t} + \vartheta_{i,t}$$
(3.7)

where:

$\hat{r}_{i,t} =$	implied cost of capital for firm <i>i</i> at the first trading day of year <i>t</i> , estimated from
	one of the approaches $r_{\rm gls}$, $r_{\rm ojn}$, $r_{\rm mpeg}$, $r_{\rm peg}$ or $r_{\rm riv}$,
$beta_{i,t} =$	firm-specific CAPM beta, estimated with monthly data for 36 months preceding
	year t (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns),
$MC_{i,t} =$	natural log of firm i's market capitalization year t, measured at the last trading day
	of year <i>t</i> -1,
$BM_{i,t} =$	natural log of firm <i>i</i> 's book-to-market year <i>t</i> , measured as book value of owners'
- / -	equity divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of year t-1.

As discussed in Section 3.2.3, *beta*_{i,t} and $BM_{i,t}$ are expected to have positive coefficients, whereas $MC_{i,t}$ is expected to have a negative coefficient in regression (3.7). I choose to

assess the validity of the cost of capital estimates both in terms of the sign of the estimated coefficients and in terms of the explained variation, $R^{2.190, 191}$

As a validation procedure, regression (3.7) has limitations. One problem is obviously which risk factors that should be included. Despite this limitation, a regression including the conventional risk factors seems to be the most common validation test in the literature.

3.5.2 Earnings quality and cost of capital regressions

The second step of the empirical tests concerns the question of whether investors perceive earnings quality to be a priced risk factor. In order to increase the number of observations, these tests are performed using firm-quarter observations. It is below described how the fundamental RIV approach is implemented using quarterly data, and how the two alternative proxies for earnings quality are estimated.

3.5.2.1 Quarterly estimates of rriv

The main assumptions of the fundamental RIV approach were specified in Section 3.5.1.1 above. When applied to quarterly data, the discounted value of the forecasts is set to be equal to the stock price on the first trading day of each quarter. Another difference in relation to the yearly application is that some seasonality is built into the ROE_t forecasts. The forecasted ROE_t for Q1 in years 1-3 is set to the firm-specific historical mean ROE_t in Q1 during the three previous years (-3 to -1), the forecasted ROE_t for Q2 in years 1-3 is set equal to the ROE_t mean in Q2 during the three previous years, and so on. From year 4 and onwards, each quarter's ROE_t fades towards the steady state ROE. ROE in the steady state is still a function of the estimated cost of capital, industry-specific values of *PMB*, and a yearly growth rate of 2%, and all other assumptions are the same as in the yearly application.¹⁹² The solutions for quarterly cost of capital are transformed to annual cost of capital values.¹⁹³

¹⁹⁰ Botosan *et al.* (2010) argue that to be able to judge which of the cost of capital estimates that is most related to risk factors, it is preferable to test the regression yearly. However, with the small number of observations in my sample, this is not possible.

¹⁹¹ The alternative of using the returns decomposition approach (e.g., Easton and Monahan, 2005), i.e. regressing realized returns on the cost of capital estimate and control for cash flow news and expected returns news, is not feasible due to data limitations.

 $^{^{192}}$ Note that the starting value of quarterly cost of capital is set to 0.017059% [(1+0.07)^{0.25} -1] and the quarterly growth rate is set to 0.004963% [(1+0.02)^{0.25} -1].

¹⁹³ Annual cost of capital is equal to (1+quarterly cost of capital)⁴ - 1.

3.5.2.2 Quarterly earnings quality

I use *value relevance* and *timeliness* as proxies for earnings quality. The measure of *value relevance* tries to capture the ability of accounting earnings to explain variations in stock returns (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004). Following previous research, *value relevance* is measured as follows:

$$RET_{i,q} = \delta_{0,i} + \delta_{1,i} \frac{EAR_{i,q}}{MarketCap_{i,q-1}} + \delta_{2,i} \frac{\Delta EAR_{i,q}}{MarketCap_{i,q-1}} + \varepsilon_{i,q}$$

$$(3.8)$$

where:

$RET_{i,q} =$	firm i's stock return during quarter q,
$EAR_{i,q} =$	firm i's net earnings before extraordinary items in quarter q,
$\Delta EAR_{i,q} =$	change in firm <i>i</i> 's net earnings before extraordinary items between quarter <i>q</i>
	and quarter <i>q</i> -4,
$MarketCap_{ia-1} =$	firm <i>i</i> 's market capitalization at the end of quarter q -1.

Regression (3.8) is estimated for each firm and quarter using data from rolling threeyear windows (twelve quarters).^{194, 195} To maintain comparability with previous research, I take the negative value of the adjusted R² from regression (3.8) as the measure of *value relevance*, meaning that higher values of the measure imply lower earnings quality.¹⁹⁶

As an alternative measure of earnings quality, I use a measure of *timeliness* which captures the ability of earnings to reflect good/bad news that are impounded in returns (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004). Following previous research, *timeliness* is measured in the following regression:

 $\frac{EAR_{i,q}}{MarketCap_{i,q-1}} = \alpha_{0,i} + \alpha_{1,i}NEG_{i,q} + \alpha_{2,i}RET_{i,q} + \alpha_{3,i}NEG_{i,q} \times RET_{i,q} + \omega_{i,q}$

(3.9)

¹⁹⁴ The variables *RET*, *EAR* and Δ *EAR* are winsorized, setting the observations in the 1st and 99th percentiles to the cut-off values of these percentiles.

¹⁹⁵ I require data from at least six quarters in the estimation.

¹⁹⁶ Taking the negative value of R² simplifies the interpretation of the coefficients in the cost of capital regression, so that a positive coefficient is to be expected on the earnings quality variable.

where:

 $NEG_{i,q} = 1$ if $RET_{i,q} < 0$ and 0 otherwise.

Similar to the relevance measure, the measure of timeliness is here the negative value of the adjusted R^2 from regression (3.9). The regression is estimated using three-year (twelve quarters) rolling windows (at least six quarters are required).

Firms are ranked each quarter based on $-R^2$ for either regression (3.8) or regression (3.9) and divided into five groups, where firms with the highest (least negative) estimates on *value relevance* and *timeliness* are allocated to Group 5 (lowest EQ) and firms with the lowest (most negative) values are allocated to Group 1 (highest EQ). The firms' EQ rank is then used as an independent variable in the quarterly regression described in the following subsection.

3.5.2.3 Quarterly regressions

If earnings quality is perceived by investors as a priced risk factor and this can be captured with the chosen variables, I expect a positive coefficient on the variable EQrank in regression (3.10) below. Following previous research I include conventional proxies for risk as control variables in these regressions (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Gray *et al.*, 2009).

$$\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_{1,i}beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i}MC_{i,q} + \varphi_{3,i}BM_{i,q} + \varphi_{4,i}EQrank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$$
(3.10)

where:

$\hat{r}_{i,q} =$	implied cost of capital estimate for firm <i>i</i> according to the r_{riv} approach, at the first
	trading day of quarter q,
$beta_{i,q} =$	firm-specific CAPM beta (estimated with monthly data for the 36 months
-	preceding quarter q and a minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns),
$MC_{i,q} =$	natural log of firm <i>i</i> 's market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter <i>q</i> -1,
$BM_{i,q} =$	natural log of firm i's book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equity
	divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1,
$EQrank_{i,q} =$	firm i's rank on EQ, where EQ is either value relevance or timeliness. Firms are ranked
	and allocated to five groups. The group of firms with rank 1 has the highest EQ
	and the group of firms with rank 5 has the lowest EQ.

Regression (3.10) is estimated using all firm-quarter observations with data on all regression variables.

3.6 Descriptive statistics

Table 3.3 reports descriptive statistics of the key variables. The fundamental RIV approach (r_{riv}) generates median estimates of 9.4% and 10.3% for the yearly and quarterly applications, respectively.¹⁹⁷

Variable	Mean	Median	Std Dev	Ν
quarterly r _{riv}	0.113	0.103	0.062	940
yearly r _{riv}	0.105	0.094	0.073	267
PMB	0.490	0.418	0.113	940
3-year historical mean ROE	0.154	0.149	0.109	456
beta	1.040	1.079	0.435	940
monthly stock return	0.010	0.008	0.101	7190
monthly market return	0.004	0.007	0.074	146
monthly risk free rate	0.003	0.003	0.001	146
book-to-market	0.536	0.506	0.287	940
market cap	44165	16681	117455	940

Table 3.3. Descriptive statistics of key variables. Sample period 1994 - 2008.

(i) rm, is the firm's cost of capital from the implied cost of capital approach described in Section 3.3 and Section 3.5. PMB is the permanent measurement bias per industry. ROE is the return on owners' equity, measured as carnings before extraordinary items (and after taxes) for year / divided by the beginning of the year book value of equity. The 3-year bistorical mean ROE is calculated using data from the three years preceding year t, beta is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns), monthly stock return is firm i's stock return during month m, monthly market raturn is the return in month m for stocks quoted on the "A-list", monthly risk free rate is the monthly return in month m on a Swedish 1-year T-bill, book-to-market is firm i's book-to-market, measured at book value of owners' equity divided by market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q.

The *PMB* has a mean value of 0.49 which implies that the average sample firm has "hidden" net asset values equal to about half the equity book value.¹⁹⁸ The three-year historical mean *ROE* has a mean of 15.4%, indicating that the average sample firm is quite profitable during the period 1994-2008.

The average estimated *beta* is 1.04 and its median value is 1.08. These estimations are based on monthly firm-specific returns, market returns and risk free rates. The mean monthly return is 1%, but a standard deviation of 10% indicates a very high variation in this return measure. The mean market return is 0.4%, with a standard deviation of 7.4%. Market return is here measured as the equally-weighted return for all stocks quoted at the main list (the A-list) during the sample-period.¹⁹⁹ The mean monthly risk free rate is 0.3%, implying an average market premium (difference between market return and risk free rate) of only 0.1%.

¹⁹⁷ Differences are due to the sample not being exactly the same in the quarterly and yearly applications, i.e. for a certain year it might not be possible to estimate r_{riv} all four quarters.

¹⁹⁸ Details about the variation of *PMB* over industries are reported in Table 3.4.

¹⁹⁹ In Table 3.9 I report results where the beta estimations are based on the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) as a measure of market return. This measure of market return gives an average *beta* of 0.77. Table 3.9 shows that the *EQrank* variable is significant also in the regressions using the alternative measure of *beta*.
The mean *book-to-market* is 0.536, or equivalently the average sample firm has a marketto-book of about 2. The mean *market cap* is 44 165 MSEK, but the median is only 16 681 MSEK, indicating a skewed sample distribution including some very large firms. Due to this skewed distribution, I use the natural log of *market cap* in the regressions.²⁰⁰

Table 3.4 reports the *PMB*, *market-to-book*, and historical median *ROE* for all industries in the sample (yearly observations only).²⁰¹ Health Care is the industry with the highest *PMB* of 1.740. This is to be expected since pharmaceutical firms typically have large hidden assets in terms of non-capitalized R&D activities. Industrial firms have the lowest *PMB* of 0.418.

Industry	PMB	M/B	ROE	ROEss	N
Oil and Gas	-	1.252	0.112	-	5
Basic Materials	0.555	1.589	0.127	0.159	71
Industrials	0.418	2.116	0.135	0.112	186
Consumer Goods	0.595	1.950	0.143	0.178	48
Health Care	1.740	2.720	0.228	0.266	18
Consumer Services	0.620	2.211	0.126	0.155	31
Telecommunications	0.760	2.119	0.116	0.077	5
Utilities	0.760	1.827	0.104	0.107	5
Real Estate	0.555	1.378	0.099	0.251	23
Technolgy	0.590	3.889	0.184	0.092	34

Table 3.4. Conservatism, market-to-book, historical industry ROE and ROE_{ss}

(i) *PMB* is the Permanent Measurement Bias collected from Runsten (1998). It expresses the difference between value of equity and book value of equity in relation to the book value of equity. The value of equity is estimated using accounting principles that are not conservative (cf. Table 5.2, p 151 in Runsten, 1998). M/B is the market-to-book defined as market capitalization divided by the book value of equity. *ROE* is the time-series mean of the historical median ROE for the industry, calculated using three year rolling windows and demanding at least three observations to calculate an industry mean. ROE_w is the steady state ROE that is solved for simultaneously with r_{tw} in the fundamental RIV approach. It is a function of PMB, cost of equity capital and steady state growth as specified in expression (3.5). N is the number of observations.

It is interesting to compare the *PMB* values to the *market-to-book*, which is the market capitalization divided by the book value of equity. If the industry is in a competitive equilibrium, the *market-to-book* would on average be equal to (1+PMB). Table 3.4 shows that for many industries the *market-to-book* substantially exceeds (1+PMB). Examples of such industries are Industrials, Consumer Services, Telecommunications and Technology. However, for some industries, for example Basic Materials and Utilities, there is only a slight difference.

In the RIV application by Gebhardt *et al.* (2001), it is assumed that the firmspecific ROE in the steady state is equal to the three-year historical industry median ROE, which is reported in the third column of Table 3.4. In this sample the

 $^{^{200}}$ This variable is referred to as *MC* in the tables.

²⁰¹ *PMB* is missing for the Oil&Gas industry, which is due to this industry not being included in Runsten (1998).

technology industry has a fairly high historical median ROE of 18.4% (the time-series mean of the estimated medians). Judging from the moderate value of the *PMB* for this industry, the high *ROE* is more due to high excess profitability than to the impact of accounting conservatism. For the health care industry however, the high *ROE* seems rather to be due to accounting conservatism.

Since the historical ROE encompasses effects of both accounting conservatism and excess profitability, it is potentially a biased proxy for the steady state ROE. Table 3.4 reports the steady state ROE (ROE_{ss}) that is solved for simultaneously with r_{riv} in the fundamental RIV approach. This ROE_{ss} is a function of the PMB, an assumed steady state annual growth rate of 2% and the implied cost of capital, as described in expression (3.5). Note that in cases where the *market-to-book* is considerably larger than 1+PMB (indicating excess profitability), the historical ROE is also higher than the calculated ROE_{ss} . This indicates that the ROE_{ss} used in the r_{riv} approach might be a better proxy, possibly not encompassing this excess profitability. Also lending support to the ROE_{ss} proxy in the fundamental RIV approach, is the fact that in the utilities industry, where the market-to-book indicates no excess profitability, the calculated ROE_{ss} is very similar to the historical ROE. In the real estate industry, the market-tobook compared to (1+PMB) indicates "under-profitability". In a technical sense, it is therefore reasonable that the calculated ROE_{ss} is higher than the historical ROE. The reverse can be noted for the technology industry. Here the market-to-book indicates excess profitability and the historical ROE is higher than the ROE_{ss}.

The robustness of the fundamental RIV approach can be questioned if one uses the numbers in Table 3.4 to calculate an industry average cost of capital using expression (3.5). Especially two industries have average costs of capital that are not in line with expectations. The telecom industry has an average cost of capital of 6%, which seems to be low for this industry. This indicates that the stock market had higher expectations on excess profitability (which is reflected in the stock price) than the forecasts built into the fundamental RIV approach. The higher expectations might concern the level and extension of *ROE* compared to the cost of capital (believing in a larger and/or more prolonged difference), the timing of the residual profitability (not believing in the linear fading pattern) and/or the beliefs about the accounting measurement bias in the industry (believing that *PMB* is higher). Real Estate has an average cost of capital of almost 24%, which on the contrary seems too high. Following the same logic as above, this would indicate that the stock market had less prosperous expectations for this industry than those built into the fundamental RIV approach.

Overall, the fundamental RIV approach might not be working equally well for all industries in the sample. I have nevertheless decided to include all industries.

3.7 Empirical results

3.7.1 Implied cost of capital estimates

Table 3.5 and 3.6 report the results from Step 1 of the empirical tests, evaluating the proposed implied cost of capital approach. In Panel A, Table 3.5, descriptive statistics are reported for the four established cost of capital approaches, as well as for the fundamental RIV approach.

 $r_{\rm gls}$ has the highest mean value of about 12.9% and $r_{\rm riv}$ the lowest mean of about 10.5%.²⁰² All approaches thus seem to generate fairly similar estimates of the cost of capital, at least in terms of mean values. Note however that the standard deviation of the $r_{\rm riv}$ estimate is substantially larger than for the other approaches, presumably due to the fact that this approach models firm-specific steady state ROE. This approach might hence allow for more firm-specific variations in the determinants of the firm's cost of capital. It is also worth noting that the number of observations is the largest for the $r_{\rm riv}$ approach, in line with this approach requiring a less restricted sample.

In Panel B, Spearman and Pearson correlations are reported. Consistent with previous research, I find that the r_{ojn} , r_{peg} and r_{mpeg} are all strongly correlated, with an average Pearson correlation of more than 0.90. r_{gls} stands out with a modest Pearson correlation of about 0.10 with r_{ojn} , r_{peg} and r_{mpeg} . The estimates from the r_{riv} approach appear to be more correlated with the latter cost of capital estimates, with Pearson correlations of about 0.35-0.40. The r_{riv} approach thus seems to generate estimates that, at least at a first glance, appear to be reasonable.

²⁰² Botosan *et al.* (2010) report mean estimates for r_{ojn} , r_{peg} , r_{mpeg} and r_{gls} of 11.69%, 11.70%, 12.50% and 7.47% respectively. The high mean value of r_{gls} (12.9%) in the present study is thus not in line with the results of Botosan *et al.* (2010).

Panel A: Descriptive statistics of implied cost of capital proxies							
	Mean (%)	Median (%)	Std Dev (%)	Ν			
$r_{ m gls}$	12.91	12.31	4.28	256			
r _{ojn}	10.89	10.37	3.93	177			
<i>r</i> _{mpeg}	12.32	11.48	4.80	240			
r _{peg}	10.88	10.28	4.43	240			
$r_{ m riv}$	10.52	9.40	7.34	267			

 Table 3.5. Descriptive statistics and correlations for estimated implied cost of capital proxies (annual observations). Sample period 1994 - 2008.

Panel B: Correlations

	rgls	r _{ojn}	r _{mpeg}	rpeg	$r_{ m riv}$
r _{gls}		0.134*	0.081	0.099	0.214***
r _{ojn}	0.254***		0.936***	0.907***	0.362***
r _{mpeg}	0.133**	0.928***		0.980***	0.413***
r _{peg}	0.156**	0.898***	0.980***		0.3499***
$r_{\rm riv}$	0.278***	0.345***	0.359***	0.311***	

(i) r_{gb} is the implied cost of capital estimated from a residual income model following Gebhardt et al. (2001). r_{gb} is the implied cost of capital estimated from an abnormal earnings growth model (Ohlson-Juettner-Nauroth) following the application in Gode and Mohanram (2003). r_{gbg} and r_{gmpg} are the implied cost of capital estimates from the PEG model and the modified PEG model respectively, following Easton (2004). r_{gbg} and r_{gmpg} are the cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar year. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly ten years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (*PMB*), cost of capital and growth in steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of *PMB* are collected from Runsten (1998).

(ii) In panel B, Pearson (Spearman) correlations are reported above (below) the diagonal. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

In Table 3.6, Panel A, the results from regressing the cost of capital estimates on risk factors are reported. For all cost of capital estimates, the intercept is large and significant.²⁰³ The adjusted R² values are in the range of 1.9% - 23.3%, with the highest explained variation for the r_{riv} approach. This is an indication of the approach being

²⁰³ This might be partly due to the risk-free rate not being included. An alternative could have been to use excess return (cost of capital estimate minus the risk free rate) as the dependent variable. In order to maintain comparability with previous research, this has not been done.

more associated with the variation in the conventional risk factors than the other approaches.

		<i>t</i> [*] gls	r _{ojn}	r _{mpeg}	$r_{\rm peg}$	$r_{ m riv}$
Panel A	: Cost of capit	al estimates regressed	l on <i>beta</i> , <i>MC</i> and	BM		
intercept	t-Stat	10.524*** <i>(5.44)</i>	14.237*** <i>(6.10)</i>	19.705*** <i>(7.62)</i>	17.075*** <i>(</i> 7.11)	15.157*** <i>(6.58)</i>
beta	t-Stat	-1.043* (-2.19)	0.386 <i>(</i> 0.77 <i>)</i>	0.859 <i>(1.41)</i>	1.265** <i>(2.23)</i>	-0.437 (-0.46)
МС	t-Stat	0.340 (1.61)	-0.237 (-0.97)	-0.616** <i>(-2.21)</i>	-0.59** (-2.30)	0.017 (0.06)
BM	t-Stat	0.717 <i>(1.43)</i>	1.796*** <i>(3.42)</i>	2.550*** <i>(</i> 4.03 <i>)</i>	1.936*** <i>(3.30)</i>	6.118*** <i>(7.66)</i>
Ν		181	146	165	165	241
Adj. R2		0.019	0.088	0.153	0.137	0.233
Panel B	B: Cost of capit	al estimates regressed	l on <i>beta</i> and <i>MC</i>			
intercept	t-Stat	10.971*** <i>(5.73)</i>	14.947*** <i>(6.21)</i>	20.845*** <i>(7.75)</i>	17.941*** <i>(7.30)</i>	18.732*** <i>(7.45)</i>
beta	t-Stat	-0.915 <i>(-1.95)</i>	0.680 <i>(1.33)</i>	1.367** <i>(2.18)</i>	1.651*** <i>(2.89)</i>	1.128 <i>(1.09)</i>
МС	t-Stat	0.225 (1.15)	-0.486** (-2.00)	-0.98*** (-3.59)	-0.87*** (-3.49)	-1.001*** (-3.71)
Ν		181	146	165	165	241
Adj. R2		0.013	0.020	0.074	0.084	0.047

Table 3.6. Implied cost of capital proxies against risk factors. Sample period 1994 - 2008.

(i) Regression in Panel A:(ii) Regression in Panel B:

 $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \gamma_{0,i} + \gamma_{1,i} beta_{i,q} + \gamma_{2,i} M C_{i,q} + \gamma_{3,i} B M_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$ $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \gamma_{0,i} + \gamma_{1,i} beta_{i,q} + \gamma_{2,i} M C_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$

(iii) r_{gb} is the implied cost of capital estimated from a residual income following Gebhardt et al. (2001). r_{ojn} is the implied cost of capital estimated from an abnormal earnings growth model (Ohlson-Juettner-Nauroth) following the application in Gode and Mohanram (2003). r_{peg} and r_{nepg} are the implied cost of capital estimates from the PEG model and the modified PEG model respectively, following Easton (2004). r_{in} , is the firm's implied cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar year. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly ten years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (*PMB*), cost of capital and growth in steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of *PMB* are collected from Runsten (1998).

(iv) Beta is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns), MC is the natural log of firm i's market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q-1, BM is the natural log of firm i's book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equity divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1.

(v) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

However, it is only r_{peg} that has a positive coefficient on *beta* and *BM*, and a negative coefficient on *MC*. The r_{riv} estimate generates a negative coefficient on *beta* and a positive coefficient on *MC*, though none is significant. However, these coefficients might be affected by multicollinearity. Following Botosan and Plumlee (2005), I therefore exclude *BM* from the regressions and report the results in Panel B of Table

3.6. Except for the r_{gls} approach, the coefficient on *beta* is now positive and the coefficient on *MC* is negative for all the cost of capital estimates. However, the adjusted R² is now lower, in particular for the regressions for r_{oin} and r_{riv} .

In the main, the results are in line with previous research, showing that r_{peg} appear to be consistently related to conventional risk proxies. The rather bad performance of r_{gls} has also been documented previously (Botosan *et al.*, 2010).²⁰⁴ Regarding the performance of the fundamental RIV approach, it seems to be at par with the conventional models.

3.7.2 Earnings quality and cost of capital regressions

Tables 3.7 and 3.8 report the main results of the study, concerning the relationship between the implied cost of capital estimates and earnings quality.

	11/11/01/11/035	. oumpie penoe	1777 2000:		
	Group 1 (high EQ)	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Group 5 (low EQ)
Panel A: Mean values of	over groups sorted on	value relevance			
$r_{ m riv}$	10.79	10.71	10.99	12.04	11.70
beta	1.06	1.03	1.05	1.04	1.03
market cap	38005	41511	36167	50495	51950
book-to-market	0.57	0.53	0.55	0.54	0.50
Panel B: Mean values of	over groups sorted on	timeliness			
$r_{ m nv}$	10.69	11.25	11.79	10.78	11.75
beta	1.08	1.07	1.07	1.00	1.00
market cap	42246	41618	57415	49384	30332
book-to-market	0.59	0.56	0.55	0.51	0.49

Table 3.7. Mean values of r_{riv} and control variables over groups sorted on either *value relevance* or *timeliness*. Sample period 1994 - 2008.

(i) *t_m*, is the firm's implied cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar quarter. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly ten years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (*PMB*), cost of capital and growth in steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of *PMB* are collected from Runsten (1998).

(ii) beta is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns), market cap is firm i's market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q-1, book-to-market is firm i's book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equity divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1.

(iii) In Panel A firms are sorted in groups based on *value relevance*. *Value relevance* is the negative of the adjusted R² from rolling 12-quarter regressions, with quarterly returns as the dependent variable and quarterly earnings and earnings changes (both scaled with *market cap*) as independent variables.

(iv) In Panel B firms are sorted in groups based on *timeliness*. *Timeliness* is the negative of the adjusted R² from rolling 12-quarter regressions with quarterly earnings as the dependent variable and independent variables capturing positive and negative quarterly returns.

²⁰⁴ Botosan *et al*. (2010) also find a negative association between *r*_{gls} estimates and *beta*.

Table 3.7 reports the mean values of the implied cost of capital and some control variables for five groups of firms, where Group 1 is characterized by high earnings quality and Group 5 is characterized by low earnings quality. In panel A, the basis for the grouping is *value relevance* as a measure of earnings quality, and in panel B the basis for the grouping is *timeliness*.

In Panel A, r_{riv} is increasing when the earnings quality goes down, even if the increase is non-monotonic. The difference between Group 1 and Group 5 is about one percentage point. The difference between Group 1 and Group 5 is about the same when sorted on *timeliness* (Panel B). Both the *book-to-market* and *beta* are fairly stable over the groups (both in Panel A and Panel B). Hence, I cannot from these tables confirm previous findings that firms with poor earnings quality also have higher *betas* (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2004).

The *market cap* varies over the groups and the table provides mixed evidence on whether earnings quality is related to size. In Panel A, larger firms are present in Group 4 and 5 and are thus associated with lower earnings quality. In panel B, Group 5 has the lowest mean *market cap*. However, one should in this context bear in mind that there are overall large size differences in the sample and that the mean values can be affected by a few large observations.

I conclude from Table 3.7 that earnings quality appears to be related to the cost of capital. This is tested more rigorously in regression (3.10) in Table 3.8, where Panel A reports results based on *value relevance* and Panel B reports results based on *timeliness*.

			Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Panel A.	<i>EQrank</i> measu	red as value relevance			
intercept	t-Stat	Pred. Sign	10.357*** <i>(14.77)</i>	15.872*** <i>(13.05)</i>	15.048*** <i>(13.11)</i>
beta	t-Stat	+	-0.078 <i>(-0.17)</i>	0.261 <i>(0.54)</i>	-1.329*** (-2.76)
МС	t-Stat	-		-0.686*** (-5.61)	-0.078 (-0.61)
BM	t-Stat	+			3.848*** <i>(10.66)</i>
EQrank	t-Stat	+	0.322** (2.19)	0.479*** <i>(3.20)</i>	0.411*** <i>(2.92)</i>
Ν			940	884	884
Adj. R2			0.003	0.037	0.146
Panel B.	<i>EQrank</i> measu	red as timeliness			
intercept	t-Stat	Pred. Sign	10.864*** <i>(14.95)</i>	16.139*** <i>(12.51)</i>	14.663*** <i>(12.04)</i>
beta	t-Stat	+	-0.051 <i>(-0.11)</i>	0.273 (0.56)	-1.329*** (-2.76)
МС	t-Stat	-		-0.620*** (-5.12)	-0.002 (-0.001)
BM	t-Stat	+			3.978*** <i>(10.97)</i>
EQrank	t-Stat	+	0.150 <i>(1.02)</i>	0.191 <i>(1.29)</i>	0.336** (2.40)
Ν			940	884	884
Adj. R2			-0.001	0.028	0.144
() M. J. 11.			hota La Elmand		

Table 3.8.	Quarterly cost of capital regression	s with alternative	measures of earnings	quality.
	Sample period	1994 - 2008.		

(i) Model 1: $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_{1,i} beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i} EQrank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$

(ii) Model 2: $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_{1,i} beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i} M C_{i,q} + \varphi_{3,i} EQrank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$

(iii) Model 3: $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_{1,i} beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i} M C_{i,q} + \varphi_{3,i} B M_{i,q} + \varphi_{4,i} E Q rank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$

(iv) The dependent variable is estimates of riv, the firm's implied cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar quarter. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly ten years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (PMB), cost of capital and growth in steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of PMB are collected from Runsten (1998).

(v) beta is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns) measuring market return as the equal-weighted mean return of all stocks listed on the "A-list", MC is the natural log of firm i's market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q-1, BM is the natural log of firm i 's book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equity divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1.

(vi) EQrank is measured either with the rank of value relevance or timeliness. Value relevance is the negative of the adjusted R² from regressions using data from the 12 quarters preceding quarter q, with quarterly returns as the dependent variable and quarterly earnings and earnings changes (both scaled with market cap) as independent variables. Timeliness is the negative of the adjusted R² from rolling 12-quarter regressions with quarterly earnings as the dependent variable and independent variables capturing positive and negative quarterly returns. Firms are ranked and allocated to five groups, where the group of firms with rank 1 has the highest earnings quality and the group of firms with rank 5 has the lowest earnings quality.

(vii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

Models 1, 2 and 3 include *beta, market cap* and *book-to-market* in a stepwise manner.²⁰⁵ When the variable *EQrank* is based on *value relevance*, the variable has a positive and statistically significant (1%-level) coefficient in all three models. The size of the coefficient in Model 3 (0.411) indicates that going from the group with the highest earnings quality (Group 1) to the group with the lowest earnings quality (Group 5), the cost of capital on average increases by about 1.6 percentage points. The results when using *timeliness* as the measure of earnings quality is somewhat weaker (Panel B), with a positive and significant coefficient only when all three risk proxies are included in Model 3. The coefficient indicates an average increase in the cost of capital of 1.3 percentage points, going from firms with the highest earnings quality to the lowest earnings quality.

3.7.3 Additional tests

The results in Table 3.8 confirm previously reported results, showing that poor earnings quality appears to be associated with a higher cost of capital (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Gray *et al.*, 2009; Kim and Qi, 2010). In Tables 3.9, 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12, I report results from some additional tests.

First, I test whether the results are sensitive to how the market return is measured in the estimations of *beta*. In Table 3.9, the return to the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI) is used as a measure of market return, thus yielding a somewhat larger definition of "the market". The table reveals that the coefficient on *beta* is negative in all three models. However, the coefficients on *EQrank* are still positive and significant, though slightly smaller in magnitude.

²⁰⁵ Note also that, as in the validation tests (Table 3.6), the coefficient on beta turns negative when book-to-market is included.

			Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Panel A.	<i>EQrank</i> measu	red as value relevance	2		
intercept	t-Stat	Pred. Sign	11.460*** (18.48)	16.098*** <i>(13.73)</i>	13.963*** <i>(11.77)</i>
beta	t-Stat	+	-1.729*** <i>(-3.22)</i>	-1.115* <i>(-1.93)</i>	-1.653*** (-3.02)
МС	t-Stat	-		-0.594*** <i>(-4.66)</i>	0.029 <i>(0.22)</i>
BM	t-Stat	+			3.759*** <i>(10.85)</i>
EQrank	t-Stat	+	0.322** <i>(2.20)</i>	0.461*** <i>(3.09)</i>	0.331** <i>(2.36)</i>
Ν			940	884	884
Adj. R2			0.014	0.041	0.145
Panel B.	<i>EQrank</i> measu	red as <i>timeliness</i>			
intercept	t-Stat	Pred. Sign	12.050*** <i>(18.90)</i>	16.409*** <i>(13.24)</i>	13.963*** <i>(11.77)</i>
beta	t-Stat	+	-1.706*** <i>(-3.16)</i>	-1.172* <i>(-2.02)</i>	-1.653*** (-3.02)
МС	t-Stat	-		-0.526*** (-4.18)	0.029 (0.22)
BM	t-Stat	+			3.759*** <i>(10.85)</i>
EQrank	t-Stat	+	0.128 (0.87)	0.167 <i>(1.13)</i>	0.331** (2.36)
Ν			940	884	884
Adj. R2			0.010	0.032	0.144
(i) Model 1:		$\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_1$	$_{1,i}beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i}EQrank$	$x_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$	

Table 3.9. R	Robustness tes	st with altern	ative estima	tion of <i>beta</i> .	Sample	period 1994	4 - 2008.
--------------	----------------	----------------	--------------	-----------------------	--------	-------------	-----------

(iii) Model 3: $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_{1,i}beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i}MC_{i,q} + \varphi_{3,i}BM_{i,q} + \varphi_{4,i}EQrank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$ (iv) The dependent variable is estimates of r_{inv} , the firm's implied cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar quarter. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly 10 years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (PMB), cost of capital and growth in

steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of PMB are collected from Runsten (1998).

 $\hat{r}_{i,q} = \varphi_{0,i} + \varphi_{1,i} beta_{i,q} + \varphi_{2,i} M C_{i,q} + \varphi_{3,i} EQrank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$

(v) beta is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns) measuring market return as the return to the Morgan Stanley Sweden Index (MSCI), MC is the natural log of firm *i*'s market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q-1, BM is the natural log of firm *i*'s book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equity divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1.

(vi) EQrank is measured either with the rank of value relevance or timeliness. Value relevance is the negative of the adjusted R2 from regressions using data from the 12 quarters preceding quarter q, with quarterly returns as the dependent variable and quarterly earnings and earnings changes (both scaled with market cap) as independent variables. Timeliness is the negative of the adjusted R2 from rolling 12-quarter regressions with quarterly earnings as the dependent variable and independent variables capturing positive and negative quarterly returns. Firms are ranked and allocated to five groups, where the group of firms with rank 1 has the highest earnings quality and the group of firms with rank 5 has the lowest earnings quality.

(vii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

(ii) Model 2:

In Table 3.10 results are reported where year-dummies are included in the regressions. The t-statistics are also adjusted for heteroskedasticity (cf. White, 1980). In general, the results in Table 3.8 seem to be robust to these adjustments. The cost of capital effect from earnings quality is slightly subdued, but still significant, at the 5%- or 10%-level, depending on how *EQrank* is measured.

			EQrank = value relevance	EQrank = timeliness
		Pred. Sign		
intercept	t-Stat		19.298*** <i>(14.55)</i>	19.007*** <i>(13.79)</i>
beta	t-Stat	+	-3.318*** (-5.47)	-3.372*** (-5.57)
МС	t-Stat	-	0.048 <i>(</i> 0. <i>38)</i>	0.106 <i>(0.86)</i>
BM	t-Stat	+	3.898*** <i>(11.29)</i>	3.996*** <i>(11.53)</i>
EQrank	t-Stat	+	0.290** (2.14)	0.239* <i>(1.80)</i>
Year dummy	included		Yes	Yes
Ν			884	884
Adj. R2			0.233	0.232

Table 3.10. Robustness test including year dummies. Sample period 1994 - 2008.

(i) The dependent variable is estimates of *r_{inv}*, the firm's implied cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar quarter. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly ten years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (PMB), cost of capital and growth in steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of PMB are collected from Runsten (1998).

(ii) beta is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns) measuring market return as the return to the equal-weighted mean return of all stocks listed on the "A-list", MC is the natural log of firm i's market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q-1, BM is the natural log of firm i 's book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equity divided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1.

(iii) EQrank is measured either with the rank of value relevance or timeliness. Value relevance is the negative of the adjusted R² from regressions using data from the twelve quarters preceding quarter q, with quarterly returns as the dependent variable and quarterly earnings and earnings changes (both scaled with market cap) as independent variables. Timeliness is the negative of the adjusted R² from rolling 12-quarter regressions with quarterly earnings as the dependent variable and independent variables capturing positive and negative quarterly returns. Firms are ranked and allocated to five groups, where the group of firms with rank 1 has the highest earnings quality and the group of firms with rank 5 has the lowest earnings quality.

(iv) Two-sided heteroskedasticity consistent t-statistics (White, 1980) are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

As an additional test, the cost of capital is measured using the earnings-price (EP) ratio as an alternative approach. The earnings-price (EP) ratio has been used as a cost of capital estimate in previous research to study the association with EQ (e.g., Francis *et al.*, 2005; Gray *et al.*, 2009).²⁰⁶

The EP ratio, EP, for each firm-quarter is defined as:

$$EP_{i,q} = \frac{EPS_{i,q}}{P_{i,q}}$$

(3.11)

where:

 $EPS_{i,q} =$ firm *i*'s earnings per share for quarter *q*, $P_{i,q} =$ stock price of firm *i* at the last day of quarter *q*.

This EP ratio approach has, similar to the fundamental RIV approach, the benefit of not being dependent on analysts' forecasts.²⁰⁷ It does not require lagged data to estimate ROE forecasts, as in the fundamental RIV approach and the EP ratio approach is hence possible to implement for a large number of firms. There are however some disadvantages. First, the approach is restricted to firms with positive earnings, potentially introducing a sample selection bias. Second, it is based on a very simplified model of firm value, assuming that only one period of earnings can explain price and that all firms have a full payout ratio and no growth. It can therefore be argued that the EP ratio, as a proxy for cost of capital, is affected by more noise than proxies derived from valuation models, such as the r_{riv} . Below, I test if the EP ratio is positively associated with earnings quality, measured either as *value relevance* or *timeliness*. Following previous research (e.g., Gray *et al.*, 2009), control variables such as *growth*, *leverage, beta* and *size* are included.

$$EP_{i,q} = \gamma_{0,i} + \gamma_{1,i}growth_{i,q} + \gamma_{2,i}leverage_{i,q} + \gamma_{3,i}beta_{i,q} + \gamma_{4,i}size_{i,q} + \gamma_{5,i}EQrank_{i,q} + \vartheta_{i,q}$$

$$(3.12)$$

where:

 $EP_{i,q} = EP$ ratio for firm *i*, measured at the last day of quarter *q*,

²⁰⁶ These studies use an industry-adjusted EP ratio, where the median EP for the industry is deducted from the firm's EP ratio. This is done in order to control for industry effects and gives a cost of capital measure that is the cost of capital *deviation* from the industry median. In Gray *et al.* (2009) and Francis *et al.* (2005) it is tested whether a firm's abnormal accruals (in relation to the industry) can explain the firm's deviation from the industry cost of capital. Since my EQ measures are not related to the industry, I do not make the industry adjustment in the EP ratio.

²⁰⁷ It is thus not equal to a forward EP ratio, where typically analyst forecasts of forward earnings are used.

$growth_{i,q} =$	natural log of one plus the firm's growth in owners' equity, measured as the change
-	in owners' equity between the end of quarter <i>t</i> and the end of quarter <i>t</i> -4,
$leverage_{i,q} =$	firm <i>i</i> 's ratio of total debt to total assets measured at the end of quarter <i>q</i> ,
$beta_{i,q} =$	firm-specific CAPM beta (estimated using monthly data for the 36 months
	preceding the quarter q and a minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns),
$size_{i,q} =$	natural log of firm <i>i</i> 's total assets measured at the end of quarter <i>q</i> ,
$EQrank_{i,q} =$	firm i's rank on EQ, where EQ is either Value Relevance or Timeliness. Firms are
	ranked and allocated to five groups. The group of firms with rank 1 has the highest
	EQ and the group of firms with rank 5 has the lowest EQ.

			EQrank = value relevance	EQrank = timeliness
Panel A		Pred. Sign		
intercept			0.016***	0.018***
	t-Stat		(4.25)	(4.78)
growth	t-Stat	-	0.013*** <i>(4.49)</i>	0.013*** <i>(</i> 4.48 <i>)</i>
leverage	t-Stat	+	0.003 (0.92)	0.003 (0.79)
<i>beta</i>	t-Stat	+	0.001 (0.82)	0.001 (0.68)
size	t-Stat	-	0.000 (0.28)	0.000 <i>(</i> 0. <i>39)</i>
EQrank	t-Stat	+	0.001 <i>(1.32)</i>	-0.000 (-0.46)
N			1270	1270
Adj. R2			0.015	0.013

Table 3.11. Quarterly cost of capital regressions with EP as proxy for cost of capital.Sample period 1994 - 2008.

(i) The dependent variable, *EP*, is the firm's earnings-price ratio, *growth* is the log of one plus the firm's growth in book value of equity over the past four quarters, *leverage* is the ratio of total debt to total assets, *beta* is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter *q* (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns) measuring market return as the return to the equal-weighted mean return of all stocks listed on the "A-list", *izge* is the log of total assets.

(ii) EQrank is measured either with the rank of value relevance or timeliness. value relevance is the negative of the adjusted R² from regressions using data from the twelve quarters preceding quarter q, with quarterly returns as the dependent variable and quarterly earnings and earnings changes (both scaled with market cap) as independent variables. timeliness is the negative of the adjusted R² from rolling 12-quarter regressions with quarterly earnings as the dependent variable and independent variables capturing positive and negative quarterly returns. Firms are ranked and allocated to five groups, where the group of firms with rank 1 has the highest earnings quality.

(iii) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

Table 3.11 reveals that the estimated coefficients on the *EQrank* variable (either measured as *value relevance* or *timeliness*) are not significant. This might be attributed to the EP ratio being a less valid proxy for the cost of capital, as compared to the estimates derived from the fundamental RIV approach.²⁰⁸ It should also be noted that the EP ratio approach, even though restricted to firms with positive earnings, generate more observations than the fundamental RIV approach (cf. Table 3.8). This is probably due to the EP ratio approach not requiring any historical observations of ROE. Conclusively, I find that when benchmarked against the EP ratio, the fundamental RIV approach seems to generate better estimates of the cost of capital.²⁰⁹

It is in this paper argued that it is important to include the full cross-sectional variation of earnings quality and cost of capital, and that the fundamental RIV approach enables such a study. As a final test, I therefore replicate the results in Table 3.8 (Model 3), but restrict the sample to only include firms that have analyst following, positive earnings and positive earnings growth (n = 507). Table 3.12 reveals that the association between earnings quality and cost of capital is no longer significant in this more circumscribed sample. This indicates that the association between earnings quality and the cost of capital might be more pronounced among the excluded firms.

²⁰⁸ Previous studies, that use this proxy of cost of capital, use much larger samples of firms. This might explain why they are able to find a significant association with earnings quality.

²⁰⁹ The EP ratio is also used as a dependent variable in regression (3.10) in order to use exactly the same control variables as in the regressions with r_{riv} . Results from these tests (not tabulated) are very similar to those in Table 3.11.

	1 00		
		EQrank = value relevance	EQrank = timeliness
Panel A	Pred. Sign		
intercept		10.792***	11.401***
t-Stat		<i>(8.48)</i>	<i>(8.53)</i>
beta	+	-1.055	-1.120
t-Stat		<i>(-1.44)</i>	<i>(-1.53)</i>
MC	-	0.510***	0.524***
t-Stat		<i>(3.47)</i>	<i>(3.57)</i>
BM	+	3.495***	3.460***
t-Stat		<i>(7.24)</i>	<i>(7.12)</i>
EQrank	+	0.189	-0.038
t-Stat		<i>(1.00)</i>	(-0.20)
Ν		507	507
Adj. R2		0.095	0.093

Table 3.12. Robustness test restricting the sample to firms with analyst following, positive earningsand positive earnings growth. Sample period 1994 - 2008.

(i) The dependent variable is estimates of *r_m*, the firm's implied cost of capital from a residual income model that is set equal to price at the first day of every calendar quarter. The model assumes firm-specific historical mean ROE as the forecasts of the first three years, whereafter ROE fades linearly ten years towards a steady state level. ROE in steady state is a function of industry-specific accounting conservatism (PMB), cost of capital and growth in steady state. Growth is assumed to be 2 % and measures of PMB are collected from Runsten (1998).

(ii) *beta* is the firm-specific CAPM beta estimated using monthly data for the 36 months preceding the quarter q (minimum requirement of 18 monthly returns) measuring market return as the equal-weighted mean return of all stocks listed on the "A-list", *MC* is the natural log of firm *i*'s market capitalization, measured at the last trading day of quarter q-1, *BM* is the natural log of firm *i*'s book-to-market, measured as book value of owners' equividivided by market capitalization at the last trading day of quarter q-1.

(iii) EQrank is measured either with the rank of value relevance or timeliness. Value relevance is the negative of the adjusted R^2 from regressions using data from the twelve quarters preceding quarter q, with quarterly returns as the dependent variable and quarterly earnings and earnings changes (both scaled with market *ap*) as independent variables. *Timeliness* is the negative of the adjusted R^2 from rolling 12-quarter regressions with quarterly earnings as the dependent variable and independent variables capturing positive and negative quarterly returns. Firms are ranked and allocated to five groups, where the group of firms with rank 1 has the highest earnings quality and the group of firms with rank 5 has the lowest earnings quality.

(iv) Two-sided t-statistics are reported in parentheses. The symbols ***, **, and * show statistical significance at the 1%-, 5%- and 10%-level, respectively.

3.8 Concluding remarks

This paper reports results on the association between earnings quality and implied cost of capital estimates for a sample of firms listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange during the period 1994-2008. I find that poor earnings quality, measured either as low *value relevance* or low *timeliness*, is associated with a higher implied cost of capital. Going from the group with the highest earnings quality to the group with the lowest earnings quality, the implied cost of capital increases by 1.3 - 1.6 percentage points, after controlling for conventional risk factors. This is in line with theoretical research predicting a positive association between information uncertainty and risk. It is also in line with previous empirical studies showing that earnings quality is a priced risk factor. The results remain when using an alternative procedure for estimating beta, as well as when including year-dummies and controlling for heteroskedasticity.

A new approach to estimate the implied cost of capital is proposed in the paper: the fundamental RIV approach. It is based on the RIV model and uses firm-specific historical mean ROE as forecasts for the first three years. Firm-specific steady state ROE is modeled, assuming it is a function of accounting conservatism, steady state growth and cost of equity capital. The approach seems to generate cost of capital estimates that are reasonable, in the sense that calculated mean values are similar to those generated by more established models. Additionally, when regressing the cost of capital estimates on conventional risk factors, it seems like the estimates generated by the fundamental RIV approach are more associated with these risk factors. The adjusted R^2 from this regression is 23.3%, as compared to 1.9% - 15.3% when using estimates from the more established approaches. Also, further tests show that my RIV approach appears to generate estimates that are better proxies for the cost of capital, than estimates derived from the EP ratio approach.

The fundamental RIV approach is a methodological contribution to the implied cost of capital literature. The approach can be implemented in a sample that is not restricted to firms with positive earnings, positive earnings growth, analyst following and/or long time-series of accounting data. The benefits are twofold. First, it increases the number of observations. This can be crucial in empirical tests where both the cross-section and the time-series are limited. Second, it enables a study of the full cross-sectional variation in the variables of interest. For example, non-profitable firms and firms without analyst following (often smaller firms) are potentially more associated with higher information risk than other firms. Indeed, in a robustness test I find that, when the sample is restricted to firms with analyst following, positive earnings and positive earnings growth, the association between earnings quality and cost of capital is no longer significant.

A limitation of the proposed approach is its dependence on the empirical estimates of accounting conservatism from Runsten (1998). These values were estimated for Swedish industries using data from 1966-1993, but are in the paper

assumed to be valid also for later time periods.²¹⁰ There are some empirical indications that lend support to this assumption. For example, Bergman and Tegnér (2008) show that the PMB values are relatively stable over time, even after the introduction of IFRS in 2005. Given that the underlying factors driving the *PMB* - asset composition, depreciation time, economic life and interest rates - are relatively stable over time, this is an expected result. To my knowledge there are no existing studies on how specific the PMB: s are for Swedish industries. This is an important issue if one would like to use the fundamental RIV approach outside the Swedish setting.

 $^{^{210}}$ It is also assumed that the *PMB* values are representative for each industry when entering the steady state period.

References

- Aboody, D., Hughes, J., and Liu, J., 'Earnings quality, insider trading, and cost of capital', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 43, 2005, pp 651–673.
- Bergman, F. and Tegnér, M. 'Det permanenta mätfelet', Master thesis in Accounting, Stockholm School of Economics, 2008.
- Berk, J., 'A critique of size-related anomalies', *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 8, 1995, pp 275-286.
- Bhattacharya, U., Daouk, H. and Welker, M., 'The world price of earnings opacity', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 78, 2003, pp 641-678.
- Botosan, C. A. and Plumlee, M. A., 'Assessing alternative proxies for the expected risk premium', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 80, 2005, pp 21-53.
- Botosan, C. A., Plumlee, M. A. and Wen, H., 'The relation between expected returns, realized returns, and firm risk characteristics', Working paper, 2010. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1410110.
- Campbell, J. Y., 'A variance decomposition for stock returns', *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 101, 1991, pp 157-179.
- Claus, J. and Thomas, J., 'Equity premia as low as three percent? Evidence from analysts' earnings forecasts for domestic and international stock markets', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 56, 2001, pp 1629-1666.
- Core, J. E., Guay, W. R and Verdi, R., 'Is accruals quality a priced risk factor?', *Journal* of Accounting and Economics, Vol. 46, 2008, pp 2-22.
- Daske, H. 'Economic benefits of adopting IFRS or US-GAAP have the expected cost of equity capital really decreased?', *Journal of Business, Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 3, 2006, pp 329-373.
- Daske, H., von Halteren, J., and Maug, E., 'Evaluating methods to estimate the implied cost of equity capital: a simulation study', Working paper, 2010. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1465294.
- Dechow, P., Geb, W. and Schrand, C., 'Understanding earnings quality: a review of the proxies, their determinants and their consequences', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 50, 2010, pp 344-401.
- Dechow, P. and Schrand, C., 'Earnings quality', CFA Institute, Virginia, USA, 2004.

- Dechow, P., Sloan, R. and Soliman, M., 'Implied equity duration: a new measure of equity risk', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 9, 2004, pp 197-228.
- Diamond. D. W. and Verrecchia. R. E., 'Disclosure, liquidity, and the cost of capital', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 46, 1991, pp 1325-1359.
- Doukas, J. A. and McKnight, P. J., 'European momentum strategies, information diffusion, and investor conservatism', *European Financial Management*, Vol. 11, 2005, pp 313-338.
- Easley, D. and O'Hara, M., 'Information and the cost of capital', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 59, 2004, pp 1553-1583.
- Easton, P., 'PE ratios, PEG ratios, and estimating the implied expected rate of return on equity capital', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 79, 2004, pp 73-95.
- Easton, P. and Monahan, S., 'Evaluation of the reliability of accounting based measures of expected returns: A measurement error perspective', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 80, 2005, pp 501-538.
- Elton, E. J., 'Expected return, realized return and asset pricing tests', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, 1999, pp 1199-1220.
- Fama, E. F. and French, K. R., 'The cross-section of expected stock returns', The Journal of Finance, Vol. 47, 1992, pp 427–465.
- Fama, E. F. and French, K. R., 'Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 33, 1993, pp 3-56.
- Fama, E. F., and MacBeth, J. D., 'Tests of the multiperiod two-parameter model', *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 1, 1974, pp 43-66.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., 'Costs of equity and earnings attributes', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 79, 2004, pp 967-1010.
- Francis, J., LaFond, R., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., "The market pricing of accruals quality', *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 39, 2005, pp 295–327.
- Francis, J., Olsson, P. and Schipper, K., 'Earnings quality', Foundations and Trends in Accounting, Vol. 1, 2006, pp 259–340.
- Gebhardt, W. R., Lee, C. M. C. and Swaminathan, B., 'Toward an implied cost of capital', *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 39, 2001, pp 135-176.

- Gode, D. and Mohanram, P., 'Inferring the cost of capital using the Ohlson-Juettner model', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 8, 2003, pp 399-431.
- Gray, P., Koh, P-S. and Tong, Y. H., 'Accruals quality, information risk and cost of capital: evidence from Australia', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 36, 2009, pp 51-72.
- Guay, W., Kothari, S. P. and Shu, S., 'Properties of implied cost of capital using analysts' forecasts', Working paper, 2005. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=426560.
- Hellström, K., 'The value relevance of financial accounting information in a transition economy: the case of the Czech Republic', *European Accounting Review*, Vol. 15, 2006, pp 325-349.
- Hou, K., van Dijk, M. A. and Zhang, Y., 'The implied cost of capital: a new approach', Working paper, 2010. Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1561682.
- Karamanou, I. and Nishiotis, G. P., 'Disclosure and the cost of capital: evidence from the market's reaction to firm voluntary adoption of IAS', *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, Vol. 36, 2009, pp 793–821.
- Kim, D. and Qi, Y., 'Accruals quality, stock returns, and macroeconomic conditions', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 85, 2010, pp 937–978.
- Lambert, R. A., Leuz, C. and Verrecchia, R. E., 'Information asymmetry, information precision and the cost of capital', *Review of Finance*, 2011 (Forthcoming). Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1822848.
- Lintner, J., 'Security prices, risk, and maximal gains from diversification', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 20, 1965, pp 587-615.
- McInnis, J., 'Earnings smoothness, average returns, and implied cost of equity capital', *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 85, 2010, pp 315–341.
- Merton, R. C., 'A simple model of capital market equilibrium with incomplete information', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 42, 1987, pp 483-510.
- Modigliani, F. and Miller, M. H., 'The cost of capital, corporation finance and the theory of investment', *The American Economic Review*, Vol. 48, 1958, pp 261-297.
- Nekrasov, A. and Ogneva, M., 'Using earnings forecasts to simultaneously estimate firm-specific cost of equity and long-term growth', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 16, 2011, pp 414-457.

- Nichols, D. C., 'Fundamental risk or information risk? An analysis of the residual accrual volatility factor', Working paper, Cornell University, 2006.
- Nissim, D. and Penman, S., 'Ratio analysis and equity valuation: from research to practice', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 6, 2001, pp 109–54.
- Ogneva, M., 'Accrual quality and expected returns: the importance of controlling for cash flow shocks'. Working paper, 2010. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1306598.
- Ohlson, J. A., 'On accounting-based valuation formulae', Review of Accounting Studies, Vol. 10, 2005, pp 323-347.
- Ohlson, J. A. and Juettner-Nauroth, B. E., 'Expected EPS and EPS growth as determinants of value', *Review of Accounting Studies*, Vol. 10, 2005, pp 349-365.
- Penman, S. and Sougiannis, T. 'A comparison of dividend, cash flow, and earnings approaches to equity valuation'. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 15, 1998, pp 343–83.
- Rozeff, M. S., 'Dividend yields are equity risk premiums', *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 11, 1984, pp 68-75.
- Runsten, M., 'The association between accounting information and stock prices model development and empirical tests based on Swedish data', PhD Dissertation, Stockholm School of Economics, 1998.
- Sharpe, W. F., 'Capital asset prices: a theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk', *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 19, 1964, pp 425-442.
- Skogsvik, K., 'Conservative accounting principles, equity valuation and the importance of voluntary disclosures', *The British Accounting Review*, Vol. 30, 1998, pp 361-381.
- Skogsvik, K., 'A tutorial on the residual income valuation and value added valuation', Working paper, 1999. Available at: http://swoba.hhs.se/hastba/abs/hastba1999_010.htm.
- Skogsvik, K., 'Probabilistic business failure prediction in discounted cash flow bond and equity valuation', Working paper, 2006. Available at: http://swoba.hhs.se/hastba/abs/hastba2006_005.htm.
- Skogsvik, K. and Skogsvik, S., 'Accounting-based probabilistic prediction of ROE, the residual income valuation model, and the assessment of mispricing in the Swedish stock market', *ABACUS*, Vol. 46, 2010, pp 387-418.

- Skogsvik, S., 'Financial statement information, the prediction of book return on owners' equity and market efficiency: the Swedish case', *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 35, 2008, pp 795-817.
- Vuolteenaho, T., 'What drives firm-level stock returns?, *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57, 2002, pp 233-264.
- White, H., 'A heteroskedasticity-consistent covariance matrix estimator and a direct test for heteroskedasticity', *Econometrica*, Vol. 48, 1980, pp 817-838.

4 List of abbreviations

AEG	Abnormal Earnings Growth model
AR	Auto Regressive
BHAR	Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return
CAPM	Capital Asset Pricing Model
CAR	Cumulative Abnormal Return
CSR	Clean Surplus Relation
EBIT	Earnings Before Interest and Taxes
EBITDA	Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortization
EP	Earnings Price ratio
EPS	Earnings Per Share
ERC	Earnings Response Coefficient
EQ	Earnings Quality
GAAP	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
HML	High Minus Low portfolio
IAS	International Accounting Standards
I/B/E/S	Institutional Broker's Estimates System
IFRS	International Financial Reporting Standards
Market Cap	Market Capitalization
MSCI	Morgan Stanley Sweden Index
PE	Price Earnings ratio
PEAD	Post-Earnings Announcement Drift
PEG	Price Earnings Growth ratio
PMB	Permanent Measurement Bias
PVED	Present Value of Expected Dividends
R&D	Research and Development
RIV	Residual Income Valuation
RMRF	Excess market return
ROE	Return on Owners' Equity
SAX	Stockholm Automated Exchange
SIX	Scandinavian Information Exchange
SMB	Small Minus Big portfolio
SUE	Standardized Unexpected Earnings
UE	Unexpected Earnings

The Stockholm School of Economics

A complete publication list can be found at <u>www.hhs.se/research/publications</u>.

Books and dissertations are published in the language indicated by the title and can be ordered via e-mail: <u>*publications@bhs.se*</u>.

A selection of our recent publications

Books

Alexandersson, Gunnar. (2011). Den svenska buss- och tågtrafiken: 20 år av avregleringar. Forskning i fickformat.

Barinaga, Ester (2010). Powerful dichotomies.

- Einarsson, Torbjörm (2011). Medlemsorganisationen: Individen, organisationen och samhället.
- Engwall, Lars (2009). Mercury meets Minerva: business studies and higher education: the Swedish case.

Ericsson, Daniel (2010). Den odöda musiken.

- Ericsson, Daniel (2010). Scripting Creativity.
- Holmquist, Carin (2009). Entreprenörskap på riktigt: teoretiska och praktiska perspektiv.

Holmquist, Carin (2011). Kvinnors företagande – kan och bör det öka?

- Lundeberg, Mats (2011). Improving business performance: a first introduction.
- Melén, Sara (2010). Globala från start: småföretag med världen som marknad. Forskning i Fickformat.
- Modig, Niklas & Åhlström, Pär. (2011). Vad är lean?: en guide till kundfokus och flödeseffektivitet.
- Mårtensson, Pär & Mähring, Magnus (2010). Mönster som ger avtryck: perspektiv på verksamhetsutveckling.
- Ottosson, Mikael (2011). Skogsindustrin och energiomställningen. Forskning i fickformat.

Sjöström, Emma (2010). Ansiktslösa men ansvarsfulla. Forskning i fickformat.

Wijkström, Filip (2010). Civilsamhällets många ansikten.

Dissertations

Bjerhammar, Lena (2011). Produktutvecklingssamarbete mellan detaljhandelsföretag och deras varuleverantörer.

Bohman, Claes (2010). Attraction: a new driver of learning and innovation.

Bottero, Margherita (2011). Slave trades, credit records and strategic reasoning: four essays in microeconomics.

Bång, Joakim (2011). T Essays in empirical corporate finance.

- Carlsson-Wall, Martin (2011). Targeting target costing: cost management and inter-organizational product development of multi-technology products.
- Freier, Ronny (2011). Incumbency, divided government, partisan politics and council size: essays in local political economics.

- Fries, Liv (2011). Att organisera tjänstesektorns röst: en teori om hur organisationer formar aktörer.
- Glassér, Charlotte (2010). The fountainhead of innovation health: a conceptualization & investigation.
- Hemrit, Maetinee (2011). Beyond the Bamboo network: the internationalization process of Thai family business groups.
- Kaisajuntti, Linus (2011). Multidimensional Markov-functional and stochastic vola-tility interest rate modelling.
- Lundmark, Martin (2011). Transatlantic defence industry integration: discourse and action in the organizational field of the defence market.
- Lundvall, Henrik (2010). Poverty and the dynamics of equilibrium unemployment: [essays on the economics of job search, skills, and savings].
- Migueles Chazarreta, Damián (2011). The implications of trade and offshoring for growth and wages.
- Monsenego, Jérôme (2011). Taxation of foreign business income within the European internal market: an analysis of the conflict between the objective of achievement of the European internal market and the principles of territoriality and worldwide taxation.

Ranehill, Eva (2011). Essays on gender, competition and status.

Runsten, Philip (2011). Kollektiv förmåga: en avhandling om grupper och kunskapsintegration.

Stepanok, Ignat (2011). Essays on international trade and foreign direct investment.

Strid, Ingvar (2010). Computational methods for Bayesian inference in macroeconomic models.

Söderblom, Anna (2011). Private equity fund investing: investment strategies, entry order and performance.

Wallace, Björn (2011). Genes, history and economics.